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Definitions

TAFEREG I - BRI X P77 BT - AR T 9 e AA LT 26 -

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms and expressions have the meanings set forth below.

(R RE & ARFERZF RN S AT BCRE R g
“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2025

(A ) B [ AR AR A & ARFERASFRAN ORHERT)
“Articles” or the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

“Articles of Association”

Rt IN 6 BA LRI T 2
“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
[ & A g f  EEEHIZAR
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
[#He ) B EEE
“Board” the board of Directors
[ K PEARSME  EEEAEERE N RERESENE - BRCE S A
Oh > NEFERWE - WITRRITEUR I A
“China”, “PRC” or the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report and for
“People’s Republic of geographical reference only and except where the context otherwise requites, excluding
China” Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
(A3 ) T IE AR ) & ERMBEBRARAR > BT/ E+ AL HAEH SRS
WA REEATR > HB BT B (B 5% - 6958)
“Company” or Zhenro Services Group Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
“Zhenro Services” Islands with limited liability on 17 December 2018, whose shares are listed on the Stock

Exchange (stock code: 6958)

(Bt ] f BA LRI T 2

“connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[P HCR ) f BA LRI T 2

“Controlling Shareholders” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[ SRS & R SRC1 #E A SR R

“Corporate Governance Code” Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
[#5 I /N &

“Director(s)” director(s) of the Company

2 LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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[
“GFA”

[kt ]
“Global Offering”

[ AL
“Group”

[T ]
“HK$” or “HKD” or
“Hong Kong Dollars”

[ it |
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ P st e |
“IAS”

[ L]

“Listing”

[ b B

“Listing Date”

[k
“Listing Rules”

[

“Main Board”

[ HEHESy Al
“Model Code”

¥ ZAE]

“Nomination Committee”

jeie E

gross floor area

AR AT R ) A 0 B 3 R 4 4y
the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares pursuant to

the Prospectus

AT B 2 7] (BSOS > A0S R AR T — ] s 2 T FR I 2 /D)
the Company and its subsidiaries (or as the context refers, the Company and any one or

more of its subsidiaries)

AL E BT
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

FprE N BRI 7 i L 7
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

I % e R

International Accounting Standards

B AR T

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board

TERTHAELHATH > BRBERECHT B H
10 July 2020, the date when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange

W P 2 A (REARBRR BT ~ e s AR At U B 0
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

B BT R RS R 5 5 B (LR HARETIT G ) A SE i S B GEMOIE BELEL I A7
(8

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which
is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

LT R g C3 Bl (b8 T N G ATl 20 58 o B AR ST )
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

HRGRAZAY

nomination committee of the Board

£ Annual Report 2024
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[ AR PR

“Over-allotment Option”

[RIERE

“Prospectus”

[FrZ 5 g ]

“Remuneration Committee”

Eispiil
“Reporting Period”

[ AR
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ AR b )
“SFO”

[ ety )
“Share(s)”

s s
“Shareholder(s)”

RYES

sq.m.

[ 52 i |
“Stock Exchange”

[ B I 2 i |

“subsidiary(ies)”

BAHBE R T % 2 2

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Prospectus

ﬁ/\j[}]ﬁﬁﬁg#?#?ﬁi/\ﬂ T ILH MR A ﬁ*ﬂi
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2020

EHEHMERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

BE-ZWEF A= —H IR
for the year ended 31 December 2024

o E B LR
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BB AR 571 B IR KW B UR ] (RORRFIERT ~ Wi sl bl b7 X
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

A RS T (EL0.002 8 TERY A » H LAV TT A 5y Bt E R Tl
ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of US$0.002 each,
which is (are) traded in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the Main Board

LS ZEDN
holder(s) of the Shares

Ik

square meter(s)

B A A R
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

HA BB 2% < 2

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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[EAEF 18

“Zhenro Commercial

Management”
[ESSEE AR | I
“Zhenro Group Company”
[IE 42 | 1

“Zhenro Properties”

[ IE 5 3 i 4 A | 18

“Zhenro Properties Group”

[1E S PE I | 18

“Zhenro Properties Holdings”

[%] i
g

* fHEEAY

IEREREE A RAR > A= F—ELH — 48 HAER BB A REAEL
A RAEEMIgEREEZ A A A =T HRE AL R R EH
Ja& 22 )

Zhenro Commercial Management Co., Led.* (IE4E P £ E A BRA A, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability on 26 May 2014 which has been a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021 upon the acquisition by the
Group

IEASSEMA R R (MG AR @ IEREMARAR) - R—JULAEAA =+ —
FAE BB B A PR AL A 7] - o R 2 500 A B R 388 S5 A 0 Tl A 91.9% [t
8.1%

Zhenro Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Fujian Zhenro Group Co., Ltd.), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability on 31 August 1994, which is owned as to
91.9% by Mr. Ou Zongrong and 8.1% by Mr. Ou Guoqiang

IEAMAERMARATR R F—WEEA A+ — HAER 28 &L AL
WA REEATR > HB BT L (B AU5E - 6158)

Zhenro Properties Group Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 21 July 2014, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6158)

RS ] HL M 2~ 7]

Zhenro Properties and its subsidiaries

RS IR AT PR 7] (BRG 2 LE 6 eI IRy AT BR A /) > T —F — AL
A+ Z BB AL A REAE A R - R4 ) 2 G M8 4 7

Zhenro Properties Holdings Company Limited* (EZR M E P A R A H], formerly
known as 1E4&HEE 2 S 4 A FR /A Fl), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability on 22 July 2015 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties

Ant

percent

*  For identification only

£ Annual Report 2024 5
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Deng Li (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Wei

Non-executive Director
Mzr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Haiyue
(resigned on 31 December 2024)
Mzr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Mr. Zhang Wei
Ms. Wei Qin
(appointed on 31 December 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Haiyue
(resigned on 31 December 2024)
Mr. Liu Weiliang
Ms. Wei Qin
(appointed on 31 December 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)
Mzr. Deng Li
Mr. Zhang Wei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Haiyue
(resigned on 31 December 2024)
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Ms. Wei Qin
(appointed on 31 December 2024)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yi
Ms. Lin Sio Ngo

E2 R B A A w] Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

s 20 8
Fils W R 5 B R A IR D
i

BT

BJE RER183 5%
AR
17#1712-1716 %8 8

D 50 T 0y 3 1

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mzr. Deng Li
Mr. Wang Yi

Ms. Lin Sio Ngo (Alternate authorised representative)

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE AND TRANSFER AGENT IN THE
CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

48 Annual Reporc2024 7
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEADQUARTERS IN CHINA

1/F, Building 7, Honggqiao Zhenro Center
Lane 666 Shenhong Road

Minhang District

Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Construction Bank, Putian Licheng Branch

China Construction Bank, Nanchang Qingyunpu Branch
Bank of China, Jiangsu Province Branch

China Construction Bank, Shanghai Caoyang Road Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Hongqiao Business District Branch

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

hetp://www.zhenrowy.com

STOCK CODE
6958

E2 R B A A w] Zhenro Services Group Limited
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B 5 B B T B B E AL DB - R
SR - IR B B B f o

Dear Shareholders, Partners and all Colleagues:

I 'am pleased to present to you the annual results of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

RESULTS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB1,113.9 million, which was quite stable as compared with the revenue
of approximately RMB1,145.5 million for the same period of 2023; the loss
of the Group was approximately RMB235.4 million, as compared with the
loss of approximately RMB81.9 million for the same period of 2023; the loss
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB235.9 million, as
compared with the loss of approximately RMB81.2 million for the same period
of 2023.

REVIEW OF 2024: FOCUSING ON INNOVATION
WITH HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT

The year 2024 is a crucial year for China’s economy to “seek progress while
maintaining stability”. Faced with the intensifying adverse effects brought
about by changes in the external environment, the intensive emerging of deep-
rooted structural contradictions accumulated over a long period of time in China
as well as the severe situation where the competition in the property industry
has become fierce, Zhenro Services Group has always been adhering to the core
value of “attaining prosperity with integrity” (IF ELHSRZ28), taking “quality
service” as the anchor, optimizing incremental growth and revitalizing the
existing stock assets, enhancing quality and increasing total volume, as well as

achieving resilient growth in operations against the trend.
The hard-earned growth of Zhenro Services Group was attributable to its efforts

in anchoring core resources, focusing on competitive growth, and adhering to

quality and business innovation in line with the national strategic guidelines.

4R Annual Report 2024
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g IRE T

Focusing on prime regions, expanding outward for steady

development

We continued our focus on prime regions and stepped up efforts to expand into
core cities including Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou, Fuzhou and Nanchang, in a
bid to extend our management radius coverage. We continued to explore the
segments with great growth potential such as commercial and office buildings,
school, finance and rail transit. We unlocked urban renewal and ventured into
fields such as the digital economy, big health and pharmaceutical industrial

parks, and national cultural and tourism attractions.

Insisting on quality research and innovating diversified ecology

The property segment upgraded the four guarantees and one service under the
smart services. In 2024, we continued to carry out special quality improvement
projects such as the Green Action, the Bright Action and the Rejuvenation
Action, focusing on creating model projects of “one specialty for one district”,
renovating smart car parks and enabling convenient travel with technologies.
“Ronglehui (54%)” empowered the manager service to learn about the
property owners’ needs in a timely manner and provide targeted and satisfactory
services to them. Meanwhile, our staff actively assumed corporate social
responsibility and carried out convenience and public welfare activities, which
has led to a steady increase in customer satisfaction and continuous enhancement

of our services.

The commercial segment initiated the “Rongguang Action (%VE1TE))” to
renovate the interior and exterior of the shopping malls with new hardware
and software so that different scenes in each place and different pleasure in each
scene can be achieved. Our business model has achieved an innovative shift from

venue operation to “scene + traffic” operation.

For the community value-added services, we launched the program of “Healthier
Zhenro’s Communities (1F 4841 8 B #)”, which incorporated traditional
Chinese culture into daily life to create a circle of healthy life; integrated
interesting and convenient content into the community to enhance the
immersion into the environment; and combined our door-to-door service with
JD.com Service+ (JtHUIRF +) by which a user can call a butler to offer door-
to-door service with a single click. We have established a self-operated system
for the renovation centers, and innovated the service capability for the “Three

Savings”.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Optimizing the organizational structure and enhancing the quality

of talent

In terms of organization, we took property management and commercial
operation as our dual-wheel drive, and set up two major business segments,
namely property and commercial segments, to enhance the independent
operation of our core business. Meanwhile, we upgraded our headquarter
structure to ensure efficient decision-making based on the principle of
“optimizing our headquarter, refining our platforms and strengthening our
projects”; implemented a hierarchical authorization system for our regional/
subsidiary platforms, granting each business unit more autonomy to flexibly
address market demand; streamlined our project management to improve

execution efficiency and customer responsiveness.

In terms of talent, we optimized the talent structure, enhanced the depth of
talent, and built an echelon talent pool through the selection of high-quality
talents and the empowerment of high-performance operations, to promote
the high-performance organizational management with high-performance
talents, thereby cultivating a cultural atmosphere with high performance, and

promoting the sustainable and stable development of the Company.

Outlook for 2025: concentrating on new areas with enhanced

quality and efficiency

This year marks the end of the “14th Five-Year Plan”, and China's economy
is moving upward in terms of total volume and new momentum. China has
implemented a moderately loose monetary policy, strengthened its livelihood-
oriented policies, smoothened the economic cycle and led industrial upgrading
through consumption promotion, expanded the supply of diversified services
such as health, elderly care, disability assistance, childcare and housekeeping,
developed new types of consumption, and promoted the stabilization of the real
estate market as well as the transformation of old and dilapidated buildings
in urban villages. The property and commercial business is ushering in new

opportunities.

In 2025, Zhenro Services will adhere to the development model of “stabilizing
foundations through basic services, regenerating vitality through innovative
services, and empowering growth through asset management”, stick to high-
quality development, optimize services and enhance efficiency, with the goal of
creating premium communities and co-building scenarios for property owners

and merchants.

4R Annual Report 2024
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Building digital intelligence with quality services

For the basic services, we will practice the “24°C Quality Service Standard” to
drive the transformation of our core business philosophy towards “All-Round +
High-Efficiency Service”. In alignment with the national “Al+” Initiative, we
will deepen the application of “Rong Wisdom” (4% %) and “Rong Business
Connect” (4 M%) systems, promote the in-depth integration of digital
operations and business scenarios, aiming to achieve a 30% improvement in

service efficiency.

Expanding into new areas with a focus on core strengths

Focusing on the concept of matching demand and solving demand, our value-
added services are strategically anchored in property owner centric operations,
forging cross-industry benchmark partnerships, building self-operated brands,
accelerating public infrastructure value enhancement and building a Ronghe
ecological chain with “Healthier Zhenro's Communities”. At the same time,
with the help of artificial intelligence (AI), the self-circulating chain will be
deepened. For the innovative business, we will innovate in the property business
scenarios, the complementary business model, the property owner-centric
business needs and the market-oriented business portfolio, to create an open and
win-win platform mechanism. In terms of market expansion, we will continue
to consolidate our leading position in the core cities of the Yangtze River Delta
and expand the markets in the Pear]l River Delta, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei and
Chengdu-Chongqing regions. We will focus on the potential business types
such as large-scale commercial complexes, industrial parks and urban services.
Through mergers and acquisitions and restructuring, we reserve high-quality

resources and inject strong impetus to the sustainable growth of the Company.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Achieving organization coordination under the leadership of our

culture

Zhenro Services will take “attaining prosperity with integrity” as its core
culture, deepen the “Integrity » Action (1 efTH)) cultural practice, integrate
values into performance appraisal and community service scenarios, and cultivate
the organizational gene of “Accountability and Innovation”. In terms of talent
development, Zhenro Services will implement the “One Hundred Talents
Plan”, establish a competency model covering all employees, strengthen internal
promotion and cross-regional rotation mechanism, and enhance advantageous
employment with the dual engine of “science and technology + humanities”
through culture empowerment, strategic anchoring, talent strengthening and

organizational synergy, thus driving the city’s high-quality development.

Last but not least, I would like to express my high respect and sincere
appreciation to all shareholders, investors, partners and all employees of Zhenro
Services for their dedication and hard work! With strong winds driving our
journey forward, we set out again to take on great challenges. With the striving
spirit, Zhenro Services will stand at the forefront of the industry transformation

and create sustainable value for shareholders, employees and the society!

Zhenro Services Group Limited
Liu Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

4R Annual Report 2024




VIR i

Management Discussion and Analysis

£ o] g

ARSI S R

A W HEAG DU ZETS AR - RI G 26 IR
s i) FEZE ERE RS 5 (i) 4l 16 18 (E AR

W G SE RS S IR - ME R AR
HEME AR > WY L8 BEE

14

Yy 3 TR o A 45 [ 1) ) 26 B %
[N S RS AHE L7/ E Y i DRk 2 F
— RN G FIRE - AEENY
IR E AR KT
TN (DT BIRY 5 D&
BRSPS 5 GinEBIRE 5 Kv) L
FRAEIE IR -

TR EEMG - AL W FEE
(TS5 2E BB v ) $2 416 2 05 (7
19 4 ZE A B ZE S R e 58 o AR AR
14 I 2 = 1 (B RS 3 B3 G) W B R
M5 (U5 K2 W Bly 49 3E BH % 7 e o J M g
HZ - E B AR L % 2k
JFRGHHERE) 5 GDATWMERS
R T R T 4 7 B R 5 RS e
il R 5 R v B 5 (i B R AR B R
5 Gv) AR B B sl al sh IR
e (v) 34T HIT A B IR S o

I 3 (ARG o AR 42 1 1) 26 £ A P
AT 1 R RS o A e 1 R AR S =
AL () R E ARG RS 5 G ELE
B R A A RS 5 KGina
el (A > DR TR P R
B o fRMER P YN RER B o

A S LR o AR A L 1 AL B
FF RSO R > EHE
T (i) il it B B IR B L% (ad) AL
s o

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business model of the Group

The Group has four business lines, namely, (i) property management
services; (ii) value-added services to non-property owners; (iii) community
value-added services; and (iv) commercial operational management services,
forming an offering of integrated services to its customers that covers the
entire value chain of property management.

. Property management services. The Group provides a wide range
of property management services to property developers, property
owners, residents and commercial property tenants. The Group’s
property management services primarily include (i) cleaning
services; (ii) security services; (iii) landscaping services; and (iv)
repair and maintenance services for both residential and non-
residential properties and commercial properties.

. Value-added services to non-property owners. The Group offers a
comprehensive range of property-related business solutions to non-
property owners, which primarily include property developers. The
Group’s value-added services to non-property owners primarily
consist of (i) sales assistance services (involving assistance to
property developers in showcasing and marketing their properties,
cleaning and maintenance services, security and visitor management
services); (ii) additional tailored services customised to meet specific
needs of customers on an as-needed basis and sales of goods;
(iii) housing repair services; (iv) preliminary planning and design
consultancy services; and (v) pre-delivery inspection services.

. Community value-added services. The Group provides community
value-added services to property owners and residents. The
community value-added services primarily include (i) home-living
services; (ii) car park management, leasing assistance and other
services; and (iii) common area value-added services to improve
the living experience of customers and to maintain and enhance the
value of their properties.

. Commercial operational management services. The Group provides
commercial operational management services to the tenants and the
customers, which primarily include (i) brand and management output
services and (ii) sublease services.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited



T S o T

Management Discussion and Analysis

A SR R A W) S BRI SE S AR TS A SR
FEAE A ~ ROK SE B BUBE B n =€ &= S
J7 R i 38 (AR 5 % R A SRR o ASAE
{1 JF S5 = 99 o M5 A I A A 4 [ 5 7
W S B T A R B S B o e o S R
T EH B AR - FE T AR T A SR Y g T
B MERIERY G BRB AT A - AEM
T 9+ D (R B S5 MR A B A R A
S LA R BAR o SR TTE T N S
AL o AR TR A 7 A T I R S S 1
R 1 B T3 A SR AT SR T 5 I B RO
HACh B ERREE -

P 345 BIL IR 5

TR B Fe A L

A 2 B B AR B 4D 9 O A L T R 11 BOmE H
T A R 2 i e ) BB 4 R S 1 RR RN A
FHREEHENBLHMRE - RN UET
“HZt—H . AEENEGHBRERELY
1087 HE K MoFEZ=FT A
= HEEIE0.8% - A HIHE BUE S
44718 - A F WEFH=Z+—H >
ALY IR R R A
803 AT LA MEF-=ZFH A=
T— H WD 8 0.6% o B F PUAR
TZAZT—H AEEAEEHEEES
36811 o

The Group believes that its property management service business line
serves as the basis for the Group to generate revenue, expand its business
scale, and increase its customer base for its community value-added services
to property owners and residents. The Group’s provision of value-added
services to non-property owners enables it to gain early access to property
development projects and establish and cultivate business relationships with
the property developers, enhancing the Group’s competitive advantage in
securing engagements for property management services. The comprehensive
range of the Group’s community value-added services business line helps
to enhance its relationship with customers and improve their satisfaction
and loyalty. The Group believes that its four business lines will continue to
enable it to gain greater market shares and expand its business presence in
China.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Continual Optimization in Both Area and Scale

The Group adhered to the strategic target to steadily expand its management
coverage area, and has achieved steady growth in contracted GFA and GFA
under management through multiple efforts. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s contracted GFA amounted to approximately 108.7 million
sq.m., representing a slight decrease of 0.8% as compared with that as at
31 December 2023, and the number of contracted projects totalled 447. As
at 31 December 2024, GFA under management of the Group’s property
management services was approximately 80.3 million sq.m., representing
a slight decrease of approximately 0.6% as compared with that as at 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, the number of projects under
management by the Group totalled 368.
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The table below indicates the movement in the Group’s contracted GFA and
GFA under management for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively:

RE+-A=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

ZERTPUE —FE =
2024 2023
AR TR AREE TR
T T I (1]
Contracted GFA under Contracted GFA under
GFA management GFA management
(FIrTk) (FIrTx) (F7TXK) (F7TH)
(000 sq.m.) ('000 sq.m.) (000 sq.m.) ('000 sq.m.)
JA ) As of the beginning of the period 109,643 80,763 109,093 80,128
g g p
HET &0 New engagements”) 159 105 992 974
ko Terminations® (1,086) (561) (442) (339)
Ny s of the end of the perio , s R 7
AR As of the end of the period 108,716 80,307 109,643 80,763
W5t Notes:
(1) HRAEMEEMETHE > Wi HE Tl (1) With respect to residential communities the Group managed, new engagements primarily
9y S B 5 T R 5 0 S P IO A B ) AR included preliminary management contracts for new properties developed by property
R A 2 A B AR (I O A A R A developers and property management service contracts for residential communities replacing
B A o their previous property management service providers.
(2) RO AR A I A T E AR A Y (2)  These terminations included the Group’s voluntary non-renewal of certain property

RS A IR > P el AR A B R A 4 B 1
IR BB ER A ET 4 > DML A SE I 2%

EHAS -
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management service contracts as it reallocated its resources to more profitable engagements

in an effort to optimise its property management portfolio.
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A 1 243 A Geographic presence of the Group

WEERZWNEF A= —H o AREEN As at 31 December 2024, the Group had geographic presence in 50 cities in
b B 534 9 R % R s 0 e bR T China.

RIS B AR E MG ML The table below sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s total GFA under

WA IR E T AR R = management as at the dates indicated and total revenue generated from
T = Bk AR R e 20 [ k) ) property management services by geographic location for the years ended 31
CN=R7/ESERiY e T VI ONUEF December 2024 and 2023 respectively:

BtZAZt—HEBEF A= H IR

As at 31 December or for the year ended 31 December

ZRAE e S
2024 2023

b ER2 T N TE B
B TR KA fhBRAZ R WA (EBIRAZ
Regional Regional
revenue as a revenue as a
percentage percentage
GFA under oftotal  GFA under of total
management Revenue revenue  management Revenue revenue
(FIrTx) AR¥TL % (FHFK) AREFE %
(000 sq.m.)  RMB'000 %  (000sqgm)  RMB000 %
R=AWHIEY  Yangtze River Delta Region™” 26,323 358,848 41.6 27,073 373,703 46.8
R R Bohai Rim Region® 2,734 48,394 5.7 3,435 51,768 65
HIPGHAS TS Midwest Economic Region® 25,629 196,579 25.5 24,287 165,963 20.8
VEITE LR Western Straits Region® 25,572 226,444 272 25,968 206,912 25.9
Gt Total 80,258 830,265 100.0 80,763 798,346 100.0

B &k Notes:

(1) A B ER VT = 8 DN S T ) 3 JE E Y 3 (1) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Yangtze River Delta

TS B B B B BN Region include Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou, Hefei, Jiaxing, Taizhou, Chuzhou, Lu'an,
TR~ /%2~ AW~ MRS - WM - B S Wuhu, Huainan, Huzhou, Xuancheng, Chaohu, Fuyang, Taizhou, Xuzhou, Suqian and
B B IR g R Wuxi.

(2) 7 18 B 0 30 A 0 S SR L R T (2) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Bohai Rim Region
FERHE ~ PR~ W SN o include Tianjin, Jinan, Luoyang and Zhengzhou.
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3) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Midwest Economic
Region include Nanchang, Yichun, Changsha, Wuhan, Xi'an, Ganzhou, Suizhou, Yueyang,
Chongqing, Chengdu, Ji'an, Huanggang, Sanmenxia, Shiyan, Xiangfan, Guangyuan,
Kunming and Xianyang.

(4) Cities in which the Group has property management projects in the Western Straits Region
include Fuzhou, Putian, Nanping, Quanzhou, Sanming, Zhangzhou, Yunfu, Zhongshan,

Xiamen and Foshan.

VALUE-ADDED SERVICES TO NON-PROPERTY
OWNERS

The Group provides value-added services to non-property owners, which
mainly comprise (i) sales assistance services (involving providing assistance
to property developers in showcasing and marketing their properties,
cleaning and maintenance services, and security and visitor management
services); (ii) additional tailored services customised to meet specific needs
of its customers on an as-needed basis, and sales of goods; (iii) housing
repair services; (iv) preliminary planning and design consultancy services;
and (v) pre-delivery inspection services. Most of these non-property owners
are property developers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from value-added services
provided to non-property owners decreased by 38.9% to approximately
RMBS58.5 million compared to approximately RMB95.7 million in the same
period of 2023, mainly due to the decreased demand for services such as
sales assistance services and additional tailored services in the real estate pre-
sale projects developed by the Group and the partner property developers.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from value-added
services to non-property owners accounted for 5.2% of the total revenue of
the Group.
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TREIIEE —F ZIFE R T =41 The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown of value-added
S“HET RIS RIEE M EMB E L services provided to non-property owners for the years ended 31 December

HICA BIA 2024 and 2023:
BETA=T—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E YA —EF =
2024 2023
ARHT7T % ARWTL %
RMB’000 % RMB000 %
b 81 e 5 Sales assistance services 32,563 55.8 50,238 52.5
RN E il RS Additional tailored services 15,872 27.1 25,789 26.9
[ R AEE R B Housing repair services 8,621 14.7 15,886 16.6
GIESETE IS & Preliminary planning and design
Getuliiers consultancy services 74 0.1 1,109 1.2
A ARt A R B Pre-delivery inspection services 1,340 2.3 2,702 2.8
At Total 58,470 100.0 95,724 100.0
38 00 5 COMMUNITY VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

AALE A EYEMET RAF 44 The Group provides community value-added services to property owners
[ 18 AR 5 2 B A 468 () B AR TR RS 5 (i) and residents of properties under management, which mainly comprise (i)
B - FHE B IEARTES 5 & Gii)  home-living services; (ii) car park management, leasing assistance and other

> i Sl 8 RS o services; and (iii) common area value-added services.
HEF NWE++H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from community value-

A 1 1 (B B A B R = AR R A added services increased by 3.1% to approximately RMB148.4 million
ANR¥ 1439 B R3.1% £# AR compared to approximately RMB143.9 million in the same period of 2023,
148.4 1 #oC > L2 h R RB H F BRI mainly due to the increase in the number of service users and the increase
R UK ZERAL K E AR E A ST in provision of diversified home-living products. For the year ended 31
oo @E F WES T H=+—HIL4F December 2024, revenue from community value-added services accounted
BT A H AL I RS A ATEARZE ] for 13.3% of the total revenue of the Group.

ARG L 13,39 o
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The following table sets forth the revenue breakdown of community value-
added services for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

BET A=+ —HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023
AR % ARWTT %
RMB000 % RMB000 %
RIE G g Home-living services®” 111,277 75.0 111,883 77.8
N - HE W) Car park management, leasing assistance
HH AR B and other services” 18,944 12.8 15,299 10.6
o33 el (iR g Common area value-added services® 18,193 12.2 16,710 11.6
it Total 148,414 100.0 143,892 100.0
i & Notes:
(1)  HETEIEHER - - SHLEE - ZFREE (1) It mainly includes services such as cleaning, group purchase, turnkey furnishing, home
TR - 7 SR P e (B RO B St g SR RS maintenance, value-added services related to tenants of commercial properties and utility fee
collection services.
2) R TR A W B B AL LS - R (2) It mainly includes management and assistance of parking lot leasing, provision of real estate
L) 3 T A5 HL A K B AR A RO R At AR brokerage services related to properties and parking spaces to owners and other services.
%o
(3) L AR A T [ 07 DA B I [ e L i (3) It mainly includes common area advertising space and service income from common area

BUA -

RS R:5:8.0)'% 1

] AR 42 [ s R A 0 A v A
AR R A AL B R
G IR B EAE ) f R B
HIRES 5 K (i) HAR AR o

REDPEF A Z—H o AREEM
P A T H B2 B
MAEREAEN0.OHF B K - EM
W BB S EA R EMN - BT -
HWH o~ B~ RBL - BRI RS o Wil
WA > S IR S A B AR
76.8 AT °
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leasing.

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Since the Group’s acquisition of Zhenro Commercial Management Co.,
Ltd. in 2021, it has engaged in the provision of commercial operational
management services to tenants and customers, which primarily include (i)
brand and management output services; and (ii) sublease services.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of commercial operation projects under
management of the Group was 12, and the total GFA under management
was approximately 0.9 million sq.m.. During the Reporting Period, the
commercial operation projects under management were located in, among
other cities, Fuzhou, Changsha, Putian, Shanghai, Taixing, Zhuzhou and
Xi’an. During the Reporting Period, the revenue of commercial operational
management services was approximately RMB76.8 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from four major businesses: (i)
property management services; (ii) value-added services to non-property
owners; (iii) community value-added services; and (iv) commercial
operational management services. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
revenue amounted to approximately RMB1,113.9 million, which was quite
stable as compared with RMB1,145.5 million in the same period of 2023.

The following table sets out the revenue contribution of each business
segment during the periods indicated:

BRETZAZT—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

R4 N7 A S N4 R R
Percentage Percentage Growth
2024 of revenue 2023 of revenue rate
ANRWT % AR¥TI % %
RMB'000 % RMB000 % %
YIS IR Property management services 830,266 74.5 798,346 69.6 4.0
T B IR Value-added services to non- 58,470 5.2 95,724 8.4 -38.9
property owners
A I (B RS Community value-added 148,414 13.3 143,892 12,6 3.1
services
GEScE-g-gilie s Commercial operational 76,783 6.9 107,541 9.4 -28.6
management services
At Total 1,113,933 100.0 1,145,503 100.0 2.8

LES -8V & TP N R N PN
TR o b WA > W IR WA 3
N H830.3 1 E T » A5 A4 H Ak A
HI74.5% o A B AR5 35 00 HR e AL
WEEEMIRA LA > IR R R
FITEE > [ R 8 R B IE
H o FEIERBENE A > HEERB
Ton £15 M H5 S AR A S T RS 25 MRS 1) 7 R 1
KT R FTE o A 1 A T 188 (B IR 5 e A 119
R i R IR P R S R DL R it
) AL R A T i S B I i 8k - P e
A MBS WA DD EE R AR
Ko B ) FHL P 42 T FHL 4 4 BT 3K -

Property management services has remained the largest source of income for
the Group. During the Reporting Period, revenue from property management
services reached approximately RMB830.3 million, accounting for 74.5% of
the total revenue of the Group. Such revenue growth was mainly attributable
to the ongoing optimization of the property management services portfolio,
with a focus on expanding higher-margin projects while systematically
divesting from under-performing projects. The decrease in value-added
services to non-property owners was mainly due to the substantial decrease
in the demand for services such as sales assistance services and additional
tailored services. The increase in revenue from community value-added
services was mainly due to the increase in the number of service users and
the increase in provision of diversified home-living products. The decrease
in revenue from commercial operation management services was mainly due
to lower occupancy rates and rental concessions granted to tenants.
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Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly includes staff costs, subcontracting
costs, greening and landscaping costs, utilities expenses, tax and surcharges,
depreciation and amortisation, office expenses and community activity costs.

During the Reporting Period, the cost of sales of the Group was
approximately RMB881.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately
2.2% as compared with approximately RMB900.8 million in the same period
of 2023. The decrease in the cost of sales was primarily due to the reduction
in the revenue of the Group.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s gross profit decreased by
approximately 4.8% from approximately RMB244.7 million for the same
period in 2023 to approximately RMB232.9 million.

During the Reporting Period, the gross profit margin of the Group slightly
decreased by 0.5 percentage points to 20.9% from 21.4% for the same period
in 2023.

The gross profit margin of the Group by business line is as follows:

BETA=T—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

g R SF SRR
Changes in
gross profit
2024 2023 margin
EFIF EFIF F 235
Gross profit Gross profit Percentage
margin margin points

% %
ES=gie Property management services 19.1 20.0 -0.9
I 2 T 1B MR Value-added services to non-property owners 14.2 2.8 11.4
A 1 (B AR Community value-added services 253 25.7 -0.4
PSS PR Commercial operational management services 36.6 42.0 5.4
At Total 209 214 0.5

22

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited



T S o T

Management Discussion and Analysis

AN Je Wit

G AN > AL 0 bl A B U g K £
ANR¥E23. 20 80 BT ZAERIAM
HARM 1S sHEAETHRA46.2% » i
% 3 B bR A P SR B TE H — MR R
PR 5 i s T B

FTB B %

WA N > AR BT S A 2y N R
138.0 H #70 » BT ZARFMIMA AR
We14s5.8 T BT D 495.3% > WAEMA
T SAE U A LB By 12.49% > #8 %
AR 12,7 9% BB D 0.3 1 H 4
B> B A AN R A
PRAEAE > P AN FIRRE A% 48 il AR
oo

T B A

WA REEMREERES AR
W214.8 ML (ZF =4« AREZE
JG) o B SZN 0 T 4 TR R I
755 (0 4 S0 e B F 4 O A B PR
A (O % T AR Bl AR S [ i) SRR Y
WA B8R 3R B A SR AL T R4
5L T R 1 R G (R

Fii b it
WS N > AREEMM IS BE X A AR
¥30.6 H T > BF ZARRIMAM A A
W25 3 A BT RA20.7% - ZHEREE
R A R B A 2 1 it S O AR B R
T -

Other income and gains

During the Reporting Period, the other income and gains of the Group
increased by approximately 46.2% from approximately RMB15.8 million for
the same period in 2023 to approximately RMB23.2 million. The increase
was mainly due to the one-off recognition of gain on right-of-use assets for
commercial sublease projects.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the administrative expenses of the Group
decreased by approximately 5.3% from approximately RMB145.8 million
for the same period in 2023 to approximately RMB138.0 million. During
the Reporting Period, administrative expenses accounted for 12.4% of the
revenue, representing a slight decrease of 0.3 percentage points as compared
with 12.7% in the same period in 2023, mainly due to the Company’s efforts
to enhance operational efficiency, optimize management structure, improve
per capita effectiveness and strictly control cost expenditure.

Impairment of goodwill

During the Reporting Period, the goodwill impairment of the Group was
approximately RMB214.8 million (2023: RMB nil). Due to the fierce
market competition and the cyclical fluctuations of the real estate market in
the PRC, the future revenue growth rate and gross profit margin of Zhenro
Commercial Management Co., Ltd., which was acquired by the Group in
2021, was lower than forecasted, resulting in the corresponding goodwill
impairment of the Group.

Income tax

During the Reporting Period, the income tax expense of the Group increased
by approximately 20.7% from approximately RMB25.3 million for the same
period in 2023 to approximately RMB30.6 million. The increase was mainly
due to effective cost containment measures, which led to the rise in taxable
profits.
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Loss attributable to owners of the parent

During the Reporting Period, the loss attributable to owners of the parent
for the period was approximately RMB235.9 million, as compared to
approximately RMB&1.2 million in the same period in 2023.

Property and equipment

The property and equipment of the Group mainly included buildings, office
equipment, electronic equipment and other assets. As at 31 December 2024,
the property and equipment of the Group was approximately RMB12.6
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB6.9 million or
121.2% as compared to approximately RMB5.7 million as at 31 December
2023. The increase was mainly due to the Company’s capitalisation of the
improvement expenditure as property and equipment.

Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables mainly derived from its revenue from property
management services and value-added services provided to non-property
owners. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables amounted to
approximately RMB342.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB32.6 million or approximately 10.5% as compared to approximately
RMB309.7 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to
the revenue growth of property management services and the non-residential
portfolio repositioning.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables primarily consisted
of payments made on behalf of our property owners such as payments for
the utility bills and public facility maintenance fund, as well as security
deposits with local authorities and deposits in relation to the public biddings.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables amounted to approximately RMB97.7 million, representing a
decrease of 9.57% as compared with approximately RMB108.1 million as at
31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
prepaid rent and the accelerated collection of current accounts.
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Trade payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade payables amounted to
approximately RMB134.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
18.4% from approximately RMB165.4 million as at 31 December 2023.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the business size of the
Group’s value-added services to non-property owners and the decrease in the
purchase of goods from independent third-party providers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet the funding requirements of the Group in the
foreseeable future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s cash was mainly used for working
capital and acquisition of subsidiaries, which was mainly funded from cash
flow generated from operations and proceeds raised from the Company’s
initial public offering.

The Group’s interest-bearing and other borrowings were all denominated
in RMB and bore interest at fixed rates. As at 31 December 2024, the
borrowings of the Group amounted to RMBS59.7 million, compared to
RMB73.1 million as at 31 December 2023. From the respective drawdown
dates, the Group’s interest-bearing and other borrowings repayable within
one year were RMBS56.7 million and repayable over one year were RMB3.0
million as at 31 December 2024, while the Group’s borrowings repayable
within one year were RMB64.0 million and repayable over one year were
RMB9.1 million as at 31 December 2023. Except as disclosed herein and
apart from intra-group liabilities, the Group did not have any outstanding
loan capital, bank overdrafts and liabilities, or other similar indebtedness,
debentures, mortgages, charges or loans as at 31 December 2024.
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N R H G AL F A PR B S AR The following table sets forth the Group’s total borrowings as at the dates
indicated:
R+ZA=+—H
As at 31 December
ZETJULE —E =
2024 2023
AR¥TF7 ARWET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R Current
TR — A Bank loans — secured 43,850 45,000
SRAT R — AL Bank loans — unsecured 6,760 13,000
B B AR 4y Current portion of long-term loans
TR — A Bank loans — secured 6,040 6,040
A5t — B Total — current 56,650 64,040
FE B Non-current
SRATE — A Bank loans — secured 3,020 9,060
Mt Total 59,670 73,100

TR A G E R R B 15 KSR 2 The following table sets forth the maturity profiles of the Group's total

W& borrowings as at the dates indicated:
Rt+ZA=+—H
As at 31 December
R CUE e
2024 2023
ANRIETIT ARHT T
RMB000 RMB000
kv Analyzed into:
—IE R fE R Repayable within one year 56,650 64,040
CERENER Repayable within two to five years 3,020 9,060
At Toral 59,670 73,100
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings, in the amount of
RMB9,060,000 (31 December 2023: RMB15,100,000) were pledged by
70% equity interests of Jiangsu Sutie Property Management Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of RMB43,850,000
(31 December 2023: RMB21,000,000) were pledged by the Group’s car park
spaces.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in interest rates is primarily related
to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group was
not exposed to material risk directly relating to changes in market interest
rates. The Group did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
interest rate risk. The Group’s all bank borrowings were obtained with fixed
interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group primarily operates its business in the PRC. The currency in
which the Group denominates and settles its transactions is mainly RMB.
Any depreciation of RMB would adversely affect the value of any dividends
the Group pays to shareholders outside of the PRC. The Group has no cash
at banks denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently does
not engage in hedging activities designed or intended to manage foreign
exchange rate risk.
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Debt To Asset Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s debt to asset ratio was 0.07 times,
which was the same as at 31 December 2023. Debt to asset ratio equals
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by total equity.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant investments held by
the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, save as its planned investments in the information
management system and “Rong Wisdom (4% 2%)” service software funded
by the net proceeds as described under “USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING” in this report, the Group had no future plans

for material investments or capital assets.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 3,270 employees
(31 December 2023: approximately 3,485 employees). During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs were approximately RMB411.8 million (31
December 2023: approximately RMB431.2 million).

In terms of talent training, the Group will further enhance its employee
training program with internal and external resources. The employee training
program primarily covers key areas in the Group’s business operations,
which provides continuous training to its existing employees at different
levels to specialise and strengthen their skill sets.

The Group adopts remuneration policies similar to its peers in the industry.
The remuneration payable to its staff is fixed by reference to the duties
and the prevailing market rates in the region. Discretionary performance
bonus is paid to employees after assessments to reward their contributions.
The Group also participates in social insurance contribution plans or other
pension schemes prescribed by the local governments and is required to
pay on behalf of its employees a monthly social insurance funds covering
pension fund, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, maternity
insurance and unemployment insurance, and the housing provident fund, or
to contribute regularly to mandatory provident fund schemes on behalf of its
employees.

In determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors
and senior management, the Group will take into account salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group.
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RN R g K €Yk USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

AR S AR BT E A The net proceeds raised in connection with the initial public offering of
P B (B A5 A7 Gl A G A ) T 58 4 10 the Company in July 2020 (including the exercise of the over-allotment
P S SR BRI 1 1,267.7 A BT (M option) amounted to approximately HK$1,267.7 million (equivalent to
AN, 141.7 8 #50) (TP i soR approximately RMB1,141.7 million) (the “Net Proceeds”).

) e

P AR ST AL R i (R =% = — 4 The proposed use of the Net Proceeds (as reallocated and announced on 19

BA A IUHER R A R EF May 2021) and the actual usage of the Net Proceeds up to 31 December
THEF T H=Z+—HW S RIEFEE 2024 are set out below:

[ 35ikzs
i a2
—“A—H%E
REZZME ZFONE REFTNE
Al AZRERR AR
FisHFHHME  Proposed use of Net FifesE  WABN R CHH MRS
il Proceeds FRENAR FEFH DRSHEE SRR R R -
Utilized
Unutilized Net Proceeds Unutilized
Net Proceeds  from [ January ~ Net Proceeds
as at 2024 to asat
Net Proceeds 1 January 31 December 31 December  Expected time of
Re-allocated 2024 2024 2024 full utilization*
ANRFFHEL  ARWAHET  ARFEET  ARWAHT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
P AL E Development of the 2283 102.8 35.2 6.6 R-F_IE
FEEHAS Group's information FZA=+—Hii
management system Before
31 December 2025
HE— BB AR Further development 1712 76.6 2.7 509 REFZIHE
[ | s of the Group’s FZRAE AT
“Rong Wisdom Before
(FREY service 31 December 2025
software
—fEKEE R General business operations 114.2 - - N
BEEE and working capital Not applicable
R ERREER Acquisition of Zhenro 628.0 - - - A
Commercial Management Not applicable
Mt Total L1417 1794 60.9 1185
* RE B R F [ 4780 5 i1 PR B Y5 A T T * As the development progress of the information system and “Rong Wisdom (45 &)
EFHE R e AR R HE T A= software is lagging behind expectations, the expected time of full utilization will be
+—HHj - postponed to before 31 December 2025.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Deng Li (BRJfE) , aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer on 1 July 2023. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Board. Mr. Deng has over 21 years of experience in corporate
operation management, general management and other related matters. Mr.
Deng joined Zhenro Properties, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6158), in June 2020 and had held various senior management positions
within its subsidiaries. From June 2020 to February 2023, Mr. Deng served as a
standing deputy manager and a general manager of Suzhou and Shanghai region
for Zhenro Properties. From March 2023 to June 2023, he served as an assistant

to President for Zhenro Properties, in charge of service quality.

Prior to joining Zhenro Properties, Mr. Deng held senior management related
positions in various corporations. From July 2002 to February 2014, he had
worked for Hopson Development Holdings* (A4 £l R4 ) and successively
served as the project manager in municipal company, project director in
Northern China, and general manager in Regal Park in Northern China
Company* (HEJLIRIH /A RIVE LA 5%) . From February 2014 to April 2020,
he had worked for China Fortune Peacock City Residential Group* (& SE45
FLEW A ELEM) and successively served as the district general manager, and

general manager of branch company.
In July 2002, Mr. Deng graduated from Hohai University with a bachelor’s

degree, and in March 2020, he graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University

with a master’s degree in management.
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Mr. Wang Wei (EJ& ), aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director on
1 July 2023. He joined Zhenro Commercial Management in March 2016 and
has served as a general manager since. Since 30 June 2021, Zhenro Commercial
Management has been a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. In the
meantime, Mr. Wang was promoted to be the Assistant to President of the
Group. Prior to joining Zhenro Commercial Management, Mr. Wang held
senior management related positions in various corporations. From August
2007 to July 2010, he served as a manager of investment promotion department
for Beijing Seasons Place Shopping Centre Co., Led.* (b 5 4 fl B4 0
HFAT]) . From August 2010 to June 2014, he served as a manager of the
investment promotion operation department for COFCO Properties (Tianjin)
Co., Led.* (et (Ki) AFRAH]) . From July 2014 to February 2016,
he served as the head of commercial property research department for Dalian
Wanda Commercial Properties Co., Led.* (K &2 i 3 b 2 B A BR A
).

In July 2003, Mr. Wang graduated from Heilongjiang Institute of Science and
Technology with a bachelor’s degree.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Weiliang (BIBTE) (“Mr. Liu”), aged 40, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 11 November 2022 and chairman of the Board on 20
January 2023. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee. He is also an executive director and chairman
of the board of Zhenro Properties, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6158).

Mr. Liu has over 16 years of experience in the real estate industry. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in engineering management from Changsha University
of Science & Technology in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Zhenro Properties in June
2016 and has held various key positions successively, including: (i) the deputy
general manager of Zhenro (Changsha) Real Estate Co., Led. (E%(%@)E%
A PR/AF]) and the project manager for Yichun project of Zhenro Properties
Holdings Company Limited* (IF2&H1 7 % A FR A 7]) (“Zhenro Properties
Holdings”) from June 2016 to August 2017; (ii) the general manager of
the merger department of the strategic investment centre and subsequently
the general manager of the strategic investment centre of Zhenro Properties
Holdings from August 2017 to May 2019; (iii) the vice president of Zhenro
Properties Holdings from May 2019 to January 2021; and (iv) a director of
Zhenro Properties Holdings since November 2019. Mr. Liu has held several
positions in Zhenro Group Company since November 2018. He served
successively as the deputy general manager of the strategic operation centre,
the general manager of the human resources department, the assistant to the

president and the executive vice president.

Before joining Zhenro Properties Group, Mr. Liu worked in several real estate
companies in the PRC, including (i) the development manager of Evergrande
Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Led. (IEKHIERIPE /N A]) and the
deputy general manager of Chenzhou Real Estate Co., Led. (HlJH EZE/AF])
successively from July 2008 to May 2012; and (ii) the deputy general manager
of Heneng Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Ltd. (5 AEHIAE R VD B 3EA F])
from May 2012 to June 2016.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Wei Qin BE), aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 December 2024. She is also a member of the Audit Committee

and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Wei is currently a partner at BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certificated Public
Accountants LLP (j%@%ﬁﬁ%%%(%%%ﬁﬁ%)), an expert in the
expert pool for state-owned capital investment consulting in Hangzhou (F1H T
A EARBE A E R HEF), and an instructor for postgraduate students
in practice of Hangzhou Dianzi University (B 5 FFHE K ) and Zhejiang
Gongshang University (WL LK), Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wei
has over 20 years of professional experience. From July 2002 to December 2003,
she worked at Zhejiang Dongfang Certified Public Accountants (Wi VL3 J5 &
FHETEEHS 7). From January 2004 to the present, she has held various positions
at BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certificated Public Accountants, including audit
manager from January 2004 to October 2006, senior audit manager from
November 2006 to May 2015, and audit partner since June 2015. Ms. Wei

possesses extensive experience in the fields of auditing, IPOs, and restructuring.

Ms. Wei graduated from Hangzhou Electronic Industry College (WL &
?I%% [53%) in June 2002 with a Bachelor’s degree in Management, and
Zhejiang University (HTTL %) in September 2018 with a Master’s degree in

Engineering. Ms. Wei is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public

Accountants ( Fp ] A @% Enﬁﬁv@)
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Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung CCEEN) aged 57, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2020. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations

Chief financial
officer (Mainland
operations) at Sun
Hung Kai Real
Estate Agency Ltd.
ORI 2 72 X
WARAT), a
subsidiary of Sun
Hung Kai Properties
Limited
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B o BGSEEEEA Y E R B EfT LT and management of the Group. Mr. Au Yeung has extensive work experience
ﬁz REEI o PG WAL LAR 5 P S RIS in the real estate industry. He held various senior management positions in the
A @Hﬁkﬂ% : following companies in the real estate industry:
i BB A%
NGB FEEE Place of listing 74 i A
Name of company Principal business and stock code Position Period of service
B PR PR ) [ES ik i e ERMHE e T
Powerlong Real Estate & ER (A% © 1238)  Chief financial officer HEZF——
Holdings Limited T i B g Main Board of the 4 H
(%ﬁéﬂ%ﬁcﬂiﬁ FRAT])  Commercial real estate Stock Exchange November 2007 to
development and (stock code: 1238) October 2011
investment, property
management and
hotel development
FEEER S ARAR  PIEYSERUIEE B AR FEEmEAMAR  —F A
Sun Hung Kai Properties YEid (et 16) N (TR EShe S
Limited (i AEHb 2 Development of Main Board of the B A PR ) £ +=H
PR A PR A properties for sale Stock Exchange J& ) B B October 2011 to
and investment (stock code: 16) BE (NHBER) December 2013




3N AR P

Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

s R R AR
VNGB FEEH Place of listing L 20A gz ]
Name of company Principal business and stock code Position Period of service
18 R E P IR AT PR W B HERE W32 T 4 RIABHERMEE  —F—UE A
(15 2 B A R A F BLE (AR L5E © 656)  Vice president and Z R4
— R E AT Global real estate Main Board of the chief financial officer J\H
Fosun Property Holdings investment and Stock Exchange February 2014 to
Limited ({8 5L b 2 management (stock code: 656) August 2014
HIRAF) G subsidiary of
Fosun International Limited
(R B R D))
SRR M) AIRAT WEBEELE WA B AR g = R YN
Sansheng Holdings (Group) Property development (et : 2183) i 7 4 [ R A 2R )\E
Co., Ltd. (SR (S ) and investment Main Board of the Chief financial officer —H
AR H) Stock Exchange and vice president of  August 2017 to
(stock code: 2183) Sansheng Real Estate January 2018
Group
i (SR EEE AT il A “E-NETNA
AR 7] Property development ~ N/A Vice president BT AE
Shanghai Huadong Properties —H
(Group) Limited (FigEEE February 2019 to
e (BB A R A A January 2021
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Mr. Au Yeung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990
with a bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November 2000, a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2003, and a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in July
2015. Mr. Au Yeung was also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of
the CFA Institute in September 2006.
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During the period between 1998 and 2001, Mr. Au Yeung was a director of
Uniford Asia Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and dissolved by
striking off pursuant to section 291 of the then Companies Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (as in force before 3 March 2014) on 18 May
2001. Mr. Au Yeung has confirmed that such company was not in operation and
was solvent at the time of dissolution. Mr. Au Yeung has further confirmed that
there was no fraudulent act or misfeasance on his part leading to the striking off
of such company and he is not aware of any actual or potential claim that had

been or will be made against him as a result of the striking off of such company.

Mr. Au Yeung holds or had held directorships in the following listed companies:

s R
TR FEEK Place of listing and L {0A TR
Name of company Principal business stock code Position Period of service
(GUEBIPRERCAIRA A (SRR ol BURRKRIARBEEE  BOOrEl (B ACsE 30 BubdfTES “E-NERAES
P B R AT Toys, resources and Main Board of the Stock Exchange ~ Independent non- F—NENLH
Kiu Hung International Holdings leisure-related business (stock code: 381) executive director May 2016 to
Limited ({8 B S PER A IR A 7)) September 2016
(currently known as AOM
International Group Company
Limited (HEnkBI PRSI (A
)
PEARREARAR (BT BEE LR A% B EmR (BBLSE - 931)  BeobdfTES “ENELAZED
BBRE 2RI ERAMRAR)  Asset management and Main Board of the Stock Exchange ~ Independent non- F-NENA
China LNG Group Limited new energy development (stock code: 931) executive director July 2016 to
(FERAREMARAH) September 2019
(currently known as China HK
Power Smart Energy Group Limited
(HEEREE SRR R AR
)
RESLERRAR (RMRSUEE  WERRRER Bch Tt (R h s - 108) B FRAES “F-bELHED
HIRAT) Property development Main Board of the Stock Exchange  Independent non- F_FEZA
GR Properties Limited and management (stock code: 108) executive director July 2017 to
(BB e AR ) February 2020

(currently known as GR Life Style
Company Limited (B8t 1% AR

)
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Ak

Name of company

PERMERR AR AT

Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.

(K SRR A R A )

LB AR AT
Redsun Properties Group Limited

(L ERAARAH)

ETRAERARAT
eBroker Group Limited
(BT RAHEIARAH)

R A R

Zhongliang Holdings Group
Company Limited
(FREBERARAHA)

AR () A RAR
Sinic Holdings (Group)
Company Limited
G PR R R A )

b ERRAR AT

Sunkwan Properties Group Limited

i RITETEAENA A= H AR TR T

FEEH

Principal business

waf T S
SRR P UN

Design, marketing and sales of
formal and casual business

menswear

TR

Real estate development

SRR 7 R BRER
Financial technology solution

provider

YR - YR
ESIYE T
Property development, property
management, property leasing

and management consulting

ESE I LIE ik
Property development and

property leasing

R glEclizayE S
HIAT
A holding company that develops

and sells residential property

Note:

38 LM EE AR /A T Zhenro Services Group Limited

LR

Place of listing and

stock code

Boe B L (R RR - 1749)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1749)

BB AR (BB CHE - 1996)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1996)

WA B GEM (RS - 8036)
GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8036)

B SE A L (R ALSE - 2772)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2772)

BiAEHT AR (BB - 2103) #
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2103) N«

A A (e U - 6900)
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6900)

Whfi:

Position
BukdnES
Independent non-

executive director

BukdnES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

BATES
Independent non-

executive director

TREs A

Period of service

“E-NELAED
FEAN
May 2018 to
June 2021

“E-NERAZS
June 2018 to present

“F-NERAES
June 2018 to present

“E-NEAAES

June 2019 to present

“ENEARE
“RZEHIA

August 2019 to
April 2023

“ECRETAED
LA
October 2020 to
July 2024

Delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 13 April 2023
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Mr. Zhang Wei (3%f&), aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2020. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and management
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, from December 2011 to January
2015, he served as a director at asset management department at Legend
Holdings Corporation (i A8 % 177 FR/A 7)), a company principally
engaged in strategic investment business, whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3396). From January 2015 to
February 2019, he worked as the general manager of legal department at China
Vanke Co., Led. (EFHBZER A PR F), a joint stock company principally
engaged in the property development and property services whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (H share stock code: 2202)
and on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (A share stock code: 00002). Since July
2018, he has served as an independent director at Appotronics Corporation
Limited (RYIDEIERHEL A A PR/ 7), a company principally engaged in
laser display technology development, whose shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688007). From February 2019 to September 2021,
he has worked at 360 Security Technology Inc. (Z/NZF L RFHE A A R
/~T]), an internet and mobile security product and service provider listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601360), where he served as the
vice president and chief legal consultant mainly responsible for legal affairs,
investment and urban industry cooperation segment. Since December 2021, he
has served at Appotronics Corporation Limited (FINGIERHE AR A BR 2
7l), a laser display technology development company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688007), where he has served as a director and
vice president responsible for legal affairs, human resources, administration,

infrastructure.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in law and a master’s degree in civil and
commercial law from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (" g B 58 B
N (formerly known as Zhongnan University of Law (PRI EL jﬁ%)), in
the PRC in July 1996 and June 2000, respectively. He also obtained a master’s
degree and a juris doctor’s degree from the Indiana University McKinney School
of Law, in the United States in May 2004 and August 2007, respectively.
Mr. Zhang also holds the New York qualification certificate to practice as
an attorney and counselor at law, conferred by the Appellate Division of the

Supreme Court of the State of New York in the United States in April 2008.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yi and Ms. Lin Sio Ngo are joint company secretaries of the

Company.

Mr. Wang Yi (£28), aged 43, has over 15 years of experience in financial
management, internal control and risk management, as well as audit related
matters. From May 2005 to December 2012, Mr. Wang worked as regional
financial controller at China United Travel Co., Led. (BUiRE & A R
Al), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600358),
during which he was mainly responsible for financial management, financial
and auditing related matters. From December 2012 to August 2014, he served
as financial manager of Qoros Automotive Co. Ltd. (%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/&ﬁj)
From August 2014 to April 2016, Mr. Wang served as audit director at Dalian
Wanda Group Co., Ltd. (ﬁ@%%% B A FE/AEJ), a multinational
conglomerate headquartered in Beijing, PRC. Mr. Wang joined Zhenro
Properties, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6158), in
September 2016 and had held various senior management positions within
its subsidiaries. From September 2016 to April 2017, he served as the chief
financial officer of the finance department at Zhenro Properties Holdings.
From April 2017 to December 2017, he served as the chief financial officer
of Zhengzhou Zhenro Real Estate Development Co., Led. (M| IF4¢ & 3£34%
JEABR/AF]). From December 2017 until immediately prior to joining the
Company in August 2020, he served successively as deputy general manager and

general manager of the finance department at Zhenro Properties Holdings.

Mr. Wang graduated from Nanjing Audit University in the PRC with a

bachelor’s degree in management in 2002.

Ms. Lin Sio Ngo (S A 1) was appointed as one of the joint company

secretaries on 24 December 2021.

Ms. Lin is a manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited with over 20 years of working experience in corporate secretarial and
administration areas. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered

Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.

Ms. Lin holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration and a master’s

degtee in corporate governance.

She currently also serves as the company secretary or the joint company secretary

of other several listed companies.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has four business lines, namely, (i) property management services;
(ii) value-added services to non-property owners; (iii) community value-added
services; and (iv) commercial operational management services, forming an
integrated service offering to its customers that cover the entire value chain of

property management.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis” of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the Chairman’s Statement, as
well as the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 to 13 and pages 14
to 30, respectively, of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to 30 of this annual report.
The Group has no significant events after the end of the financial year ended 31

December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) its future growth
may not materialize as planned; (if) uncertainty as to securing new or renewing
the existing property management service agreements on favourable terms, or at
all; (iii) uncertainty related to acquisitions which may not be successful and the
Group may face difficulties in integrating acquired operations with its existing
operations; (iv) no control over a majority of revenue generated from connected
persons of the Company; (v) risks related to development in the government
policies and regulations regarding the PRC property management services; and

(vi) risks related to the increasing raw materials price and labor costs.
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The Group is not subject to significant credit risk and liquidity risk. The
financial risks of the Group is mainly foreign exchange rate risk. A substantial
portion of the Group’s businesses are conducted in the PRC and denominated in
RMB. Foreign currency transaction included mainly receipts of proceeds from
the Listing and payment of professional fees which are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars. As at 31 December 2024, major non-RMB assets
are cash and cash equivalents denominated in Hong Kong dollars in the amount
of RMBO0.1 million. Fluctuation of the exchange rates of RMB against foreign
currency could affect the Group’s results of operations. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy, and manages its foreign

currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of foreign currency rate.

These financial risks, and the related risk management policies and practices
used by the Group are discussed in note 33 headed “Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements of this annual

report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

It is the Group's corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental friendly environment, and the Group strives to minimize its
environmental impact and comply with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations. The Group has implemented reasonable measures in the operation
of its businesses to comply with all applicable requirements. Given the nature of
the Group's operations, it is believed that the Group is not subject to material

environmental liability risk or compliance costs.

The measures the Group took to ensure compliance with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations include: (i) formulating and improving
management measures and operational guidelines for energy conservation,
emission reduction and waste management; and (ii) actively adopting

environmentally friendly equipment and designs.

The Group did not receive any material fines or penalties associated with the
breach of any environmental laws or regulations during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published

separately.

EZ B M A R/ Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to keep itself updated over the requirement of the relevant
laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure compliance. The Group had
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in all material aspects and have
obtained all applicable material licenses, approvals and permits from relevant
regulatory authorities. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by

the Group.

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes that high-quality employees who value its corporate culture
are essential elements to promote the Group's sustainable growth. The Group
intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees from reputable
universities of PRC through various initiatives, including its creative trainee

programs, competitive compensation packages and effective incentive system.

For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report — Employees and

Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to developing good relationship with suppliers as
long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s businesses. We
reinforce business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing communication in a

proactive and effective manner.

For further details regarding our major suppliers, please refer to the section

headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers’ satisfaction with our services and products has a profound effect on
our profitability. Our dedicated sales team is in constant communication with
our customers and potential customers to uncover and create customer needs
and help customers make informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain
points alongside grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely

adjust the Group's operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

For details regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections

headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group's

financial position as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages
106 to 239.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company will be held on
Friday, 20 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be published on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and dispatched to the
shareholders of the Company (if requested). For the purpose of determination of
eligibility to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend, speak and vote at the AGM,
all transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than
4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 16 June 2025.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited



HR G

Directors’ Report

it
AEHRBE -Z P4E+—H=+—H
AF A B I i 5 508 B R I A S B M £ 8 )
R RGR A I RE M 5128 -

Yk ~ W5 Bk i
AEBMEARNFREE F NE+ A
= —HIEFENWZE - BB Kk s )
R GE A B R M 513 -

it &5 22 ¥
AN Z R R A A =
o R R S 4 B R ML <

fHak
AEBMPEE _F WET _H=+—H
1A AR R A LA A %

S M

A 308 2 T B A B 1 S A E
BN A AR 240 H -

RESERVES

Details of movement in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

and note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in

note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024

amounted to approximately nil.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on page 240 of this annual report.
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Directors Name

HE LA
Mr. Deng Li

et
Mr. Wang Wet

Blse et
Mr. Liu Weiliang

it
Mr. Ma Haiyue

B B
M:r. Au Yeung Po Fung

SRt
Mr. Zhang Wei

WFL
Ms. Wei Qin
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company (including the sale of treasury shares as defined by the Listing Rules).
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company did not hold any treasury

shares.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up

to the date of this annual report are:

L {DA

Position

T AT

Chief executive officer and executive Director
YATHESE

Executive Director

R LR ATES

Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director

BSLEITE S (F ZF A A = HEHT)

Independent non-executive Director (resigned on 31 December 2024)

B FTES

Independent non-executive Director

B FTES

Independent non-executive Director

BSLRTES (F ZF A A = HEZT)

Independent non-executive Director (appointed on 31 December 2024)

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at every annual general meeting (provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Liu Weiliang and
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung will retire from the Board by rotation at the AGM and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles
of Association shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting after
his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election. Ms. Wei Qin,
who was appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of
Association, will retire from office as Directors at the AGM and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract that is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than under normal

statutory obligations.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”

in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors has waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year ended 31 December 2024 or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) have interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

RESRMEA T 43 L0
FA R EA® Approximate
RS 5 MR HEE Number of percentage
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held” of interest”
I f S @ A EE 260,707,332 (L) 25.13%
Mr. Ou Guowei? Interest in a controlled corporation
Warm Shine Limited? Ha A A 260,707,332 (L) 25.13%
Warm Shine Limited® Beneficial owner
I R S A AL B A 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
Mr. Ou Guogiang® Interest in a controlled corporation
Rt B e e 4 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
Ms. Li Xi) Interest of spouse
BB R AT Ha A A 200,212,500 (L) 19.30%
WeiQiang Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner
B EA RN A J E7% ZDN 253,141,168 (L) 24.40%

Shan Tian Investment Limited®

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. The calculation is based on
the total number of 1,037,500,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

2) Warm Shine Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, which is wholly owned by Mr. Ou Guowei. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Ou Guowei is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Warm Shine Limited is

interested in.

3) WeiQiang Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 13 December 2018, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guoqiang. By virtue of
Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Ou Guogiang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
WeiQiang Holdings Limited is interested in.

(4) Ms. Li Xi is the spouse of Mr. Ou Guoqiang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Li Xi is

deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Ou Guogiang is interested in.

5) Based on publicly available record, Shan Tian Investment Limited is controlled as to 51%

by Mr. Liu Pingshan and the remaining 49% by Mr. Wang Zhiming.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors or chief executive
are not aware of any other person, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, who has an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors was a director or employee of
a company that had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, due to the nature of the Group's business, revenue derived from its top
five customers accounted for less than 30% of total revenue, and the purchases

from its top five suppliers accounted for less than 30% of total purchase cost.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by
the Group and discussed the Group'’s risk management, internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and considered that such statements have been
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and requirements

with sufficient disclosure.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
although there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the

Cayman Islands.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 3,270 employees (as
of 31 December 2023: approximately 3,485 employees). During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs were approximately RMB411.8 million (31
December 2023: approximately RMB431.2 million).

In terms of talent training, the Group will further enhance its employee training
program with internal and external resources. The employee training programs
primarily cover key areas in the Group’s business operations, which provide
continuous training to its existing employees at different levels to specialise and

strengthen their skill sets.
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The Group adopts a formal and transparent remuneration policy to determine
the remuneration packages of Directors and employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries as the Group believes that the successful implementation of its
growth and business strategies rests on a team of experienced, motivated and

well-trained managers and employees at all levels.

o The Remuneration Committee is mandated to formulate the
Group’s remuneration policy for the Board’s approval, and to make
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s annual salary adjustment,

the annual performance bonus and share award.

o The objective of remunerating Directors is to ensure that there is an
appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain experienced
people of high calibre to oversee the Group’s business and development.
Their remuneration is reviewed annually with reference to companies of

comparable business or scale, and are subject to Shareholders” approval.

U Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the
Group's success. In terms of talent training, the Group will further
enhance its employee training program with internal and external
resources. The employee training programs primarily cover key areas in
the Group’s business operations, which provide continuous training to its
existing employees at different levels to specialise and strengthen their

skill sets.

o The remuneration payable to the Group’s employees is fixed by reference
to the duties and the prevailing market rates in the region. Discretionary
performance bonus after assessments is paid to employees to reward their

contributions.

o In determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management, the Group will take into account
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and

responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.
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o In general, the Group determines employee salaries based on each
employee’s qualification, position and seniority. As required by relevant
regulations, the Group is subject to social insurance contribution plans
or other pension schemes prescribed by the local governments and is
required to pay on behalf of its employees, a monthly social insurance
funds covering pension fund, medical insurance, work-related injury
insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance, and
the housing provident fund, or to contribute regularly to mandatory

provident fund schemes on behalf of its employees.

The Company enters into labor contracts with all of its employees. The
Company offers its employees competitive remuneration packages that include
basic salaries, discretionary bonuses, performance-based payments and year-end
bonuses. To incentivize its employees and promote the long-term growth of the
Company, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the

section headed “Director’s report — Share Option Scheme”.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not experience any

significant labour disputes or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group does not have any employee who is required to participate in the

Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees
of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The Company is not allowed to use the contributions to the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme which have been forfeited to reduce

the current level of contributions.

Particulars of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note

6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 15 June 2020, the Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted by the then shareholders of the Company and it shall become effective
from the Listing Date. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Company with a means to motivate the Participants (as defined below) and
retain employees of the Group, and to encourage employees to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and promote the long-term growth of the

Company.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall have the right
to grant options to any director or employee of the Group (the “Participant”)
who, in the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group at any time after the date on which the option is deemed to have been
granted and accepted and for a period of 10 years from that date (not exceeding
10 years from the Listing Date). As of 31 December 2024, the remaining life of

the Share Option Scheme is approximately 5 years and 5 months.

No offer shall be made and no option shall be granted to any Participant in
circumstances prohibited by the Listing Rules at a time when the Participant
would or might be prohibited from dealing in the Shares by the Listing Rules
or by any applicable rules, regulations or law. In particular, no options may be
granted during the period commencing one month immediately preceding the
earlier of: (i) the date of the meeting of the Board of Directors (i.e. the date of
first notification to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules)
approving the Group's results for any annual, half-year, quarterly or other
interim period (whether in compliance with the Listing Rules or not); and
(i) the deadline for the Company to publish its results announcement for any
annual, half-year, quarterly or any other interim period (whether in accordance

with the Listing Rules or not) until the date of actual publication of the relevant
announcements for annual, half-year, quarterly or interim results, as the case

may be.
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The maximum number of shares involved in the share options that may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not exceed 100,000,000 shares in total, which is equivalent
to 10% of the total number of shares issued after the completion of the Global
Offering and approximately 9.64% of the total number of Shares issued as at the
date of this annual report (“Scheme Mandate Limit"). During any 12-month
period up to the grant date, the total number of Shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible Participant shall not exceed
1% of the issued shares on the grant date, unless otherwise separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such Participant and his associates

abstaining from voting.

Share options can be exercised at any time during the period after the date on
which the options are deemed to have been granted and accepted in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and before the expiration of ten
years from that date. The exercise period of the share options is determined by
the Board at its sole discretion, but it shall not exceed 10 years from the Listing
Date. No share options may be granted after 10 years from the date of the Share
Option Scheme was approved. Subject to earlier terminations by the Company
in general meetings or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and

effective for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date.

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine, there is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised
and no performance target needs to be achieved by the grantee before the

options can be exercised.

The exercise price for each share involved in any particular share option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board at its sole

discretion, provided that the price must be at least the highest of the following:

U the official closing price of the shares as reported in the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the share options (which
must be the day when the Stock Exchange opens for securities trading

business);
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. the average of the official closing prices of the shares quoted in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the five business days

immediately before the date of grant of the share options; and

U par value of a share.

Participants are required to pay HK$1.00 as consideration for the acceptance of

an option granted to them.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in

the Prospectus.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of this annual
report, no option had been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024, being the beginning and the end of the year under review, the number of
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 100,000,000.

There was no service provider sublimit set under the Scheme Mandate Limit.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date. The financial
statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A

resolution for the re-appointment of auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company available for distribution

to Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB1,134 million.
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BANK AND OTHER LOANS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has total outstanding interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of RMB59.7 million, compared with RMB73.1 million
as of 31 December 2023. The Group’s borrowings are mainly denominated in

Renminbi.

Details of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are set out in note 25

to the consolidated financial statements.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2024 was the Company, or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in the
SFO) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, nor did the Company enter into

any equity-linked agreement.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors and directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries, or their respective associates had interests in businesses,
which compete or are likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed

pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management”, there is no other change in Directors” biographical details which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
during the period from the date of publication of the Company's 2024 interim
report up to the date of this annual report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In order to restrict competition activities with the Company, the then
Controlling Shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Ou Zongrong (“Mr. ZR
Ou”), WeiZheng Holdings Limited (“WeiZheng”) (a company wholly-owned
by Mr. ZR Ou), WeiYao Holdings Limited (“WeiYao") (a company wholly-
owned by Mr. ZR Ou) and WeiTian Holdings Limited (“WeiTian") (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. ZR Ou) (collectively, the “Covenantors”), entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favor of the
Company on 15 June 2020. Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, the
Covenantors have undertaken, among others, not to compete with the business
of the Group, and details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the sub-
section headed “Deed of Non-competition” in the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Deed of Non-competition
will lapse automatically if the Covenantors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) cease to hold, whether directly or indirectly, 30%
or above of our Shares with voting rights or our Shares cease to be listed on the

Stock Exchange.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June 2023, WeiZheng,
WeiYao and WeiTian transferred all the Shares held by them to Warm Shine
Limited (“Warm Shine”) (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guowei, a son
of Mr. ZR Ou) and WeiQiang Holdings Limited (“WeiQiang”) (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Ou Guogiang, a son of Mr. ZR Ou). Upon completion of
such transfers, each of the Covenantors had ceased to be interested in any Shares
with effect from 23 June 2023. As each of Warm Shine and WeiQiang is not a
close associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Covenantors, and the
Covenantors and their respective close associates have ceased to hold, directly
or indirectly, 30% or more of the Shares in issue on 23 June 2023, the Deed of
Non-competition has lapsed automatically on 23 June 2023.

Each of the Covenantors has made a written confirmation to the Board in respect
of their compliance with the undertakings in the Deed of Non-competition (the
“Undertakings”) for the period from 1 January 2023 to 23 June 2023 (both
days inclusive) (the “Relevant Period”).

Upon receiving the confirmations from the Covenantors, the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the same as part of the annual review
process. In determining whether the Covenantors had fully complied with the
Undertakings in the Relevant Period, the independent non-executive Directors
noted that: (a) the Covenantors declared that they had fully complied with
the Undertakings in the Relevant Period; (b) no new competing business was
reported by the Covenantors during the Relevant Period; and (c) there was no
particular situation rendering the full compliance of the Undertakings being
questionable. In view of the above, the independent non-executive Directors
confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, all of the Undertakings were

complied with by the Covenantors in the Relevant Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to applicable laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective

offices, pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the year ended 31
December 2024. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought against the
Directors.

EZ B M A R/ Zhenro Services Group Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Lease Agreements

References are made to the announcement and circular of the Company dated

29 December 2023 and 9 February 2024 respectively in relation to the renewal

of certain lease agreements (the “Lease Agreements”) between the relevant

members of the Group (as lessees) (the “Lessees”) and the relevant members of

the Zhenro Properties Group (as lessors) (the “Lessors”). The Lease Agreements

include:

(@)

(if)

the lease management agreement dated 16 December 2020 entered into
between Zhenro (Minhou) Investment Development Co., Led* (IEA (R
BB RA R/ F) (“Zhenro Minhou Investment”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Fuzhou Zhenro
Commercial Management Co., Ltd* (R M I 2 i 245 TR A BRA )
(“Zhenro Commercial Management (Fuzhou)”) (a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as lessee) in relation to
the lease of a property for residential, retail, SOHO and office uses with
shopping mall at No. 18, Xinbao Road, Mabao Village, Shangjie Town,
Minhou County, Fuzhou City* (R i 1 e I 7 BRI (R AR 7 £
18 %), which is known as “Fuzhou Mabao Zhenro Fortune Centre* (1

ISR IE 25 1 & HR0)” (che “Mabao Property”);

the lease management agreement dated 16 December 2020 entered into
between Zhenro (Mawei) Real Estate Development Co., Led* (EEER)
BHEBRAR/NT]) (‘Zhenro Real Estate (Mawei)”) (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Fuzhou Mawei Zhenro
Commercial Management Co., Led* (F@ /N 1 5 2 15 1F 48 i S5 FL A
FR/AE]) (“Zhenro Commercial Management (Fuzhou Mawei)”) (a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as
lessee) in relation to the lease of a property for residential and retail uses
with shopping mall at Zhenro Fortune Centre, No. 168 Shangqi Road,
Luoxing Street, Mawei District, Fuzhou City* (R TiT G R I 2 L
i 168 ‘?ﬁﬂf%gff%t{:“ﬂ‘), which is known as “Fuzhou Mawei
Zhenro Fortune Centre* (8N B B IEZW & F.0)” (the “Mawei
Property”); and
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(iif)

the lease management agreement dated 10 December 2020 entered
into between Zhenro Fortune (Fujian) Real Estate Co., Led.* (J—.Egié,ﬁﬁ
BB BEXEAR/AT) (“Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian)”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhenro Properties) (as lessor) and Zhenro (Putian)
Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* (E%(%Hﬂ)ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁﬂ)
(“Zhenro Commercial Management (Putian)”) (a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since 30 June 2021) (as lessee) in relation to
the lease of a property for residential, retail, SOHO and office uses with
shopping mall at No. 1688, Liyuan East Road, Zhenhai Street, Licheng
District, Putian Cicy* (7 H 17 75 Ik [ 88005 A7 7 [ R 1688 5%),
which is known as “Putian Fortune Centre* (7§ M B & F00)” (the
“Putian Property”), together with a shopping street adjacent to “Putian
Fortune Centre* (7 FH A% H140»)” at South Zone, No. 1688, Liyuan East
Road, Zhenhai Street, Licheng District, Putian City* (P FH T 7 9k e
SRR P 1 7 BE R 1688 BT &%), which is known as “Putian Zhenro
Street* (Ff H IE4E)” (the “Putian Shopping Street”).

Pursuant to the Lease Agreements, each of the relevant Lessees leased the

relevant properties from the relevant Lessors, and had the right to procure

tenants and sub-lease any units in the relevant properties, and to engage in

advertising, management and operation activities in respect of the relevant

properties, for a term from the respective signing date of the Lease Agreements
to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

As the Lease Agreements were due to expire on 31 December 2023, the Lessees

and the Lessors entered into renewed lease agreements (the “2024 Lease

Agreements”) on 29 December 2023 in respect of the lease of the relevant

properties for a term of two years ending 31 December 2025, including:

(i)

EZ B M A R/ Zhenro Services Group Limited

the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 between
Zhenro Minhou Investment (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Fuzhou) (as lessee) in relation to the lease of the Mabao
Property for the annual rent of RMB18,499,950 and RMB19,054,949 for
the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, respectively;
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(ii)  the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 between
Zhenro Real Estate (Mawei) (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Fuzhou Mawei) (as lessee) in relation to the lease
of the Mawei Property for the annual rent of RMB1,212,750 and
RMB1,249,132.5 for the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025,
respectively;

(iii) the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 entered
into between Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian) (as lessor) and Zhenro
Commercial Management (Putian) (as lessee) in relation to the lease
of the Putian Property for the annual rent of RMB39,357,439.91 and
RMB40,538,163.11 for the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025,
respectively; and

(iv)  the lease management agreement dated 29 December 2023 entered into
between Zhenro Real Estate (Fujian) (as lessor) and Zhenro Commercial
Management (Putian) (as lessee) in relation to the lease of the Putian
Shopping Street for the annual rent of RMB10,779,298.84 and
RMB11,102,677.80 for the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025,
respectively.

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases, entering into
the 2024 Lease Agreements as lessee will require the Group to recognise the
right-of-use of the properties under the 2024 Lease Agreements as the right-of-
use assets of an estimated aggregate value of approximately RMB122 million on
its consolidated statement of financial position.

Mr. ZR Ou is the controlling shareholder of Zhenro Properties and his family
members (namely Mr. Ou Guowei and Mr. Ou Guoqiang) are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Thus, the Lessors (being subsidiaries of Zhenro
Properties) are connected persons of the Company.

Accordingly, entering into the 2024 Lease Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder is regarded as an acquisition of assets by the Group
which constitute a major and connected transaction for the Company under
Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details on the 2024 Lease Agreements, please refer to the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 29 December 2023 and 9
February 2024, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate rental fees paid or payable
by the Lessees to the Lessors under the Lease Agreements were RMB27.5
million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, which are subject to the reporting

and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

1.  Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

(i)  Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management

Services

On 31 December 2019, the Company entered into a pre-delivery
property management services framework agreement (the “Zhenro
Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Framework Agreement”) with Zhenro Properties, pursuant
to which, the Group agreed to provide pre-delivery property
management services for its residential property projects before the
delivery of such properties to property owners, including but not
limited to security, cleaning, landscaping, repair and maintenance
of common area and shared facilities (the “Zhenro Properties
Pre-Delivery Property Management Services”), for a term of
three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days

inclusive).

In order to renew the Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Framework Agreement which would expire
on 31 December 2022, the Company and Zhenro Properties
entered into the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Agreement on 15 November 2022 in relation to the provision of
Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services by
the Group to the Zhenro Properties Group, for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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(i)

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties
Group to the Group in relation to the Zhenro Properties Pre-
Delivery Property Management Services for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB20.0 million. The service fees paid/
payable by the Zhenro Properties Group to the Group under the
Zhenro Properties Pre-Delivery Property Management Services for
the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB2.0 million, which did

not exceed the annual cap for the year.

Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

On 18 June 2020, the Company entered into a pre-delivery
property management services framework agreement with Mr.
ZR Ou (the “Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which, the
Group agreed to provide to Mr. ZR Ou’s associates (excluding
Zhenro Properties Group but including its associates) (the
“Associates”) pre-delivery property management services for their
residential property projects before the delivery of such properties
to property owners including but not limited to security, cleaning,
landscaping, repair and maintenance of common area and shared
facilities (the “Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services”), for a term commencing on the Listing Date and ending
on 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).
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In order to renew the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Framework Agreement which would expire
on 31 December 2022, the Company and Mr. ZR Ou entered
into the 2023 Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement on 15 November 2022 in relation
to the provision of Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services, for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Associates to
the Group in relation to the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
RMB3.0 million. The amount of service fees paid/payable by
the Associates to the Group under the Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery
Property Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB1.8 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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2.

Management Services

(@

Zhenro Properties Management Services

On 31 December 2019, the Company entered into a management
services framework agreement with Zhenro Properties (the “Zhenro
Properties Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which, the Group agreed to provide to Zhenro
Properties Group management and related services including
but not limited to cleaning, landscaping, concierge, maintenance
of public order, security services, and other related value-added
services to the residential property projects of Zhenro Properties
Group and their display units, sales offices and community
clubhouses as well as commercial properties operated by Zhenro
Properties Group (the “Zhenro Properties Management
Services”), for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Zhenro Properties Management Services
Framework Agreement which would expire on 31 December
2022, the Company and Zhenro Properties entered into the 2023
Management Services Agreement on 15 November 2022 in relation
to the provision of Zhenro Properties Management Services by the
Group to the Zhenro Properties Group, for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties
Group to the Group in relation to the Zhenro Properties
Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2024
was RMB50.0 million. The amount of service fees paid/payable
by Zhenro Properties Group to the Group under the Zhenro
Properties Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB29.4 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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(ii)

Mr. ZR Ou Management Services

On 18 June 2020, the Company entered into a management
services framework agreement with Mr. ZR Ou (the “Mr. ZR Ou
Management Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Group agreed to provide to the Associates management
and related services including but not limited to cleaning,
landscaping, concierge, maintenance of public order, security
services, and other related value-added services to the residential
property projects of the Associates and their display units, sales
offices and community clubhouses as well as commercial properties
(including office) operated or occupied by them and other
properties held by them for potential projects (the “Mr. ZR Ou
Management Services”), for a term of three years from the Listing

Date and ending on 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Mr. ZR Ou Management Services Framework
Agreement which would expire on 31 December 2022, the
Company and Mr. ZR Ou entered into the 2023 Mr. ZR Ou
Management Services Framework Agreement on 15 November
2022 in relation to the provision of Mr. ZR Ou Management
Services, for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Associates to the
Group in relation to the Mr. ZR Ou Management Services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB25.0 million. The amount
of service fees payable by the Associates to the Group under the
Mr. ZR Ou Management Services for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB7.2 million, which did not exceed the annual cap

for the year.
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Consultancy Services

On 19 May 2021, Zhenro Commercial Management entered into a
consultancy agreement with Zhenro Properties (the “Consultancy
Agreement”) pursuant to which Zhenro Commercial Management agreed
to provide commercial property operational and consultancy services (the
“Consultancy Services”) to Zhenro Properties Group, including but not
limited to: (i) pre-acquisition services in respect of land for commercial
properties, office buildings, apartments and hotels (including but not
limited to commercial land researches, commercial related consultancy
and studies); (ii) early-stage services for commercial property projects
having been obtained (including but not limited to project positioning,
business planning, store location, architectural design, optimisation of
mechanical and electrical engineering technology, planning for tenant
sourcing and opening, commercial lease planning, management fee
estimation and preparation of lease documents); (iii) opening preparation
services for commercial property projects having been obtained (including
but not limited to tenant sourcing, marketing and promotion, pre-
opening services, and renovation construction); (iv) management services
for property projects that have commenced operations; and (v) specialised
consultancy services. The Consultancy Agreement had a term from 28
June 2021 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).

In order to renew the Consultancy Agreement which would expire on
31 December 2022, Zhenro Commercial Management and Zhenro
Properties entered into the 2023 Consultancy Services Agreement on
15 November 2022 in relation to the provision of Consultancy Services
by the Zhenro Commercial Group to the Zhenro Properties Group (the
“2023 Consultancy Agreement”), for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025 (both days inclusive).
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhenro Properties Group
to the Group in relation to the Consultancy Services for the year ended
31 December 2024 was RMB15.0 million. There were no Consultancy
Services between the Group and Zhenro Properties Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. ZR Ou is the controlling shareholder of Zhenro Properties and his
family members (namely Mr. Ou Guowei and Mr. Ou Guogiang) are
the substantial shareholders of the Company. Thus, Mr. ZR Ou, the
Associates, and the Zhenro Properties Group are connected persons of the

Company.

Accordingly, the transactions under the 2024 Zhenro Properties Pre-
Delivery Property Management Services Framework Agreement, the 2024
Mr. ZR Ou Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement, the 2024 Zhenro Properties Management Services Framework
Agreement, the 2024 Mr. ZR Ou Management Services Framework
Agreement and the 2024 Consultancy Agreement constitutes continuing

connected transactions for the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor of the
Company has provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above (i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iv) have

exceeded the respective annual cap.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
not entered into any other connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to

the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 30 to consolidated financial
statements include related party transactions disclosed under accounting
standards and some of related party transactions which also constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
Directors and chief executives of the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these
transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of key management
personnel (other than directors and chief executives) of the Company did not
fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
under the sections headed “Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, the Directors believe, all other related party
transactions set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements do not
fall within the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The
Company confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transactions”,
“Continuing Connected Transactions”, “Related Party Transactions” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close associates during the
year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract
of significance for the provision of services by a Controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of their respective close associates was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at the end of

the year.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual report form

part of this annual report.
By order of the Board

Liu Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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The Group is committed to maintaining and strengthening high standards of
corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity, accountability,
transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness, in order to safeguard
and protect the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability system. The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as in force from time to time as

the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code. The Board will
continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company for the purpose
of complying with the Corporate Governance Code and maintaining a high

standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board takes on the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company and is charged with promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has general powers for the
management and conduct of the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management of the
Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as determined by the
Board.

The Board will review the structure and composition of the Board from time to
time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to maintain a high standard

of corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The Company has also adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the
Board.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three

independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up

to the date of this annual report is as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Deng Li (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Wei

Non-executive Director

Mzr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Haiyue
(resigned on 31 December 2024)
Mzr. Au Yeung Po Fung
Mr. Zhang Wei
Ms. Wei Qin
(appointed on 31 December 2024)

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 31 to 40 of this annual

report.

There are no relationships, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships, between the Board members and the other Board

members and the chief executive officer of the Company.

Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code states that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The chairman, Mr. Liu Weiliang focuses on
the overall management of the investment strategies and business development
of the Group. The chief executive officer, Mr. Deng Li, is responsible for day-
to-day business and management of the Group. Such division of responsibilities
helps to reinforce their independence and to ensure a balance of power and

authority.

LA MFHEE AR AT Zhenro Services Group Limited
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Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Deng Li and Mr. Wang Wei, has
entered into a service contract with the Company on 1 July 2023, the non-
executive Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into their respective letters of appointment. The principal particulars of
these service contracts and the letters of appointment are (a) for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from 1 July 2023 (for the executive Directors),
11 December 2022 (for the non-executive Directors) or 10 June 2020 and 31
December 2024 (for the independent non-executive Directors), and the letters of
appointment of independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung and Mr. Zhang Wei, were renewed with the Company on 10 June 2023,
for a term of three years, the independent non-executive Director, Ms. Wei Qin
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 31 December 2024; and (b) are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts and letters of
appointment may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and

the applicable rules.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary bonuses, housing and
other allowances and other benefits in kind) payable to the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB3.6 million.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group. Details
of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for 2024 are set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the annual
remuneration of members of the senior management by band for the year ended

31 December 2024 is set out below:

T A L A\

Number of senior

2 B ) 4 2 v A L T Remuneration to the senior management by band management
500,001 #5 7T % 1,000,000 %5 70 HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 1
At Total 1
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to

join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors, which meets the requirement of the Listing Rules that
the number of independent non-executive directors must represent at least one-

third of the Board and should not be less than three.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors with reference to the factors set out

under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

The Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to ensure
that the Board procedures are followed. During the year ended 31 December
2024, Mr. Wang Yi was one of the joint company secretaries. The Company
has engaged Ms. Lin Sio Ngo, a manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another joint
company secretary since 24 December 2021 to assist Mr. Wang in discharging
his duties as company secretary of the Company. Mr. Wang has been confirmed
by the Stock Exchange to be qualified to act as the company secretary of the
Company under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules on 1 August 2023.
Ms. Lin also possesses the relevant qualifications as a company secretary as
required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Lin’s primary contact person

at the Company was Mr. Wang Yi.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. Wang and Ms.
Lin have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

EZ B M A R/ Zhenro Services Group Limited



dfie Sg1E o
Corporate Governance Report

BEHDERERER > ARFC K2 On the first occasion of each Director’s appointment, the Company has
T AT B | > Tl (R 36 A 20 )48 B 3 arranged a comprehensive induction to ensure that he/she has a proper
WHBEN T > BasmBERn L understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is fully aware
K R B FCA A B 7% B R TH P B9 SAE o A of the director’s responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
AT R E RGBT LI R statutory requirements. The Company will arrange suitable training for all
o BT R LR R > 1F 2 HoRr A B 2 Directors in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of
JEH) — Mo o EHRREE F IUEF their continuous professional development. The training records of the Directors
A = —H 4 B 3 906 8k A A B 5 during the year ended 31 December 2024 are summarized as follows:

wr

2B

Participated
in continuous
professional
development™!
BiTEF Executive Directors
BRIRE e Mr. Deng Li v
FRSEA Mr. Wang Wei v/
FUTEF Non-executive Director
Btk Mr. Liu Weiliang v
B EHATES Independent Non-executive Directors
%@ﬂflﬁé (%:g:ﬂ¢+:ﬁ5 +—H Mr. Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024)
BHE) v
B o5 S Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 4
iRk Mr. Zhang Wei 4
WEL L (= FZpmEZH="+—H Ms. Wei Qin (appointed on 31 December 2024)
HZAT) v
i Note:
L. R A €~ SRS R B R 1. Attended briefings, trainings or seminars and read materials
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Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in

person or through electronic means of communications.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024 for
reviewing and approving the audited annual results of the Company together
with its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023; the interim results
of the Company together with its subsidiaries for the six months ended 30
June 2024; and the change of the members of the Board and the strategic

development framework of the Company.

Code provision F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that the board
of directors should obtain communication with the shareholders, especially

through participation in the annual general meeting.
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AR R —F T PUAER A I H BT ROR The Group held the annual general meeting on 14 June 2024, and all Board

BMEREG > MAEFGFREHSH T ARR members attended the meeting.
G

=
TREFIREE - EFWES A =+ The table below sets out details of the attendance of each of the Directors at the
HibFEAER LR AR TTR  RAUA Board meetings, the annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting
BER B BB R R & BE 1R o during the year ended 31 December 2024.
W W mE
EROTRAY BORRERY
Attended/Eligible  Attended/Eligible
to attend to attend
Board meeting ~ general meeting
HWirEH Executive Directors
BRI (7 ) Mr. Deng Li (Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 22
FREE Mr. Wang Wei 414 22
FfTESR Non-executive Director
BUESEE (F) Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman) 4/4 22
Bor kT ES Independent Non-executive Directors
BgBOEE (R ZFZET A =1—H Mt. Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024)

AHE) 414 212
ko B 5 Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 4/4 212
s Mr. Zhang Wei 4/4 212
AL (r = FE o pES —H=+—H Ms. Wei Qin

HEZE(T) (appointed on 31 December 2024) 0/0 0/0
BE_FZOUEL A=+t —HIEFEE The chairman of the Company held a meeting with the independent non-
AN A N BB S F AT E R AT R executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 without the other
o HALEF IR Directors present.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Board reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management during the
Reporting Period, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
written employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Each of the Board committees operates under its terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are available on the website of the Company

and that of the Stock Exchange.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional

advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Zhang Wei and Mr. Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024) and Ms. Wei
Qin (appointed on 31 December 2024), independent non-executive Directors,
and Mr. Liu Weiliang, non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang Wei has been
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and Mr. Ma Haiyue (resigned
on 31 December 2024) and Ms. Wei Qin (appointed on 31 December 2024)
have the appropriate professional qualifications or related financial management

expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to,
(i) reviewing and supervising financial reporting process, internal control
system, risk management and internal audit of the Group; (ii) providing
recommendations and advices to the Board; (iii) performing other duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board; (iv) reviewing the Company’s
financial statement; and (v) performing the Company’s corporate governance
functions in order to comply with the disclosure requirements in the corporate

governance report set out in the Corporate Governance Code.
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During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Audit Committee were held
and the attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in the

table below:

i HE th
ki
Attended/Eligible
Directors to attend
M. Zhang Wei (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Liu Weiliang 2/2
Mr. Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024)
2/2
Ms. Wei Qin (appointed on 31 December 2024)
0/0

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the
financial reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions) and
risk management systems, effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function
and processes and the reappointment of the external auditor. The Board had
not deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the

selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed interim and annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the interim period and the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting issues and major

findings in the course of audit.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung and Mr.
Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024) and Ms. Wei Qin (appointed on 31
December 2024), independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Weiliang,
non-executive Director. Mr. Liu Weiliang is the chairman of the Nomination

Committee.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited
to, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspective) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the composition of the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) identifying, selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, and
ensuring the diversity of the Board members; (iii) assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; (iv) making recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the Directors and succession planning for the Directors (in particular
the chairman and chief executive); and (v) reviewing the policy of the board
diversity (the “Board Diversity Policy”), including any measurable objectives
for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board

from time to time, and the progress on achieving the objective.

During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Nomination Committee were
held and the attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set

out in the table below:

R HE

EF e

Attended/Eligible

Directors to attend
Mr. Liu Weiliang (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 2/2
Mr. Ma Haiyue (resigned on 31 December 2024) 2/2
Ms. Wei Qin (appointed on 31 December 2024) 0/0

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the nomination policy and the Board Diversity Policy; assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to appointment of the Directors
and senior management and re-election of retiring Directors at the annual
general meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Wei Qin was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect on 31 December
2024. Ms. Wei Qin obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 25 November 2024, and Ms. Wei Qin confirmed that she

understood her obligations as a director of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Wei and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Deng Li, executive Director. Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, the
independent non-executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are not
limited to (i) establishing, and reviewing the Group's policy and structure
concerning remuneration of the Directors and senior management, establishing
a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration policies and making recommendations thereon to the Board; (ii)
determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of each Director
and senior management member; (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Directors from time to time; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters

relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model described in code

provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate Governance Code in its terms of reference.

During the Reporting Period, 2 meetings of the Remuneration Committee were
held and the attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is set

out in the table below:

R/ HE R
TR H

Attended/Eligible
Directors to attend
Mzr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Zhang Wei 2/2
Mr. Deng Li 2/2
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the service agreement for Directors and senior
management of the Company, assessed the performance, appointment letter and
remuneration policy of executive Directors, and made recommendations to the
Board on the service agreement, appointment letter and remuneration packages

of individual executive Directors and senior management.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. The provisions under the Listing Rules in
relation to compliance with the code of conduct by the Directors regarding
securities transactions have been applicable to the Company since the Listing
Date. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board nomination policy for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to Shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appointment as Directors to fill casual

vacancies.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate: (1) reputation
for integrity; (2) accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in; (3) commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; (4) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race, gender,
age (18 years or above), educational background, professional experience, skills
and length of service; (5) qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; (6) the existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate; (7) requirement for the Board
to appoint independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; (8) Board diversity policy of the Company and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

and (9) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION PROCEDURE

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional Director or a

member of the senior management, the following procedure will be followed:

(1) the Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential candidates
based on the criteria as set out in the selection criteria, possibly with assistance
from external agencies and/or advisors; (2) the Nomination Committee and/
or the company secretary of the Company will then provide the Board with the
biographical details and details of the relationship between the candidate and
the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills and experience, other
positions which involve significant time commitment and any other particulars
required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and
other regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to the Board; (3)
the Nomination Committee would then make recommendation to the Board on
the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and conditions of the appointment; (4)
the Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed candidate(s) will
enhance the diversity of the Board, being particularly mindful of gender balance;
(5) in the case of the appointment of an independent non-executive Director,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should obtain all information in
relation to the proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time; and (6) the Board will then deliberate and
decide on the nomination based upon the recommendation of the Nomination

Committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to
which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the declaration and distribution of dividends is not in excess of

the amount recommended by the Board.

£ Annual Report 2024 83




SRR

Corporate Governance Report

SCATAE AT i 20 AR P e A
E o HLE YRR JBE ZR A BB R AL v AR Ty AT
PR o R AR IR BEAL AT BB - S g IR
JH% I (ELrp L4 A 5 B Y I 5 S A
PR RRE 2 5 RSB R DL MR - B HIR
E MRV R (AN ) % =8 2 I 2 A B
AT ] HeAt 1 o AR 2% B SO AT BE R IR
JHLZ PR 2 B B o ) 1 R AL A A U B9 A
A B ] BT LR

A A AS WA B BOR > HAAS PR
T A A A ) T B R B R IR S,

T 08 52 SR 2 i 8 ) A S AE T B 9 2
PE

KL RALBR

RAFERNER G L LEOR > KPR
FIEHEREGZ Lk o ARAREA
O 2 oAb AT A 0 £ B I A E R 1w
H % 2 oo Ab B SCHRE A 42 1 31 Bmg B A &
MEFF AT FRAR B RO BB R - AL E SR
WL EEZEARRERERGZ 0L
AR PR A B2 40 B ~ BEfE ~ Ak - %
BER WA T R o EHEAAHE
50 i 0 KR B o B RE A TG R MR 4R
Th e BRI RS M - FRHREE
HEER o BAh s EHMF R E 40 E ST
o B E - W EEN AT RS
BTy WMEBLTE - THEHE - g% L
A= -

84

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the discretion
of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, among other things, the Group’s financial results,
Shareholders’ interests; general business conditions and strategies, financial
condition, capital requirements, taxation considerations, contractual, statutory
and regulatory restriction (if any), and any other conditions the Directors may
deem relevant at such time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is
also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands

and the Articles of Association.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no

assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to

waive any dividend.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises the benefits
of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the Group’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development. The Group seeks to achieve diversity of
the Board through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, education background,
gender, age and ethnicity. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including overall management, brand improvement, business development,
legal, finance, auditing and accounting experiences. Furthermore, the ages of the
Directors range from 40 years old to 57 years old. The education background of
the Directors ranges from economics and business administration to law, with
degrees awarded by education institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong to the

United States.
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The Directors recognize the particular importance of gender diversity. The
Board currently comprises 6 Directors, including 1 female Director, which is
considered by the Board to be in line with gender diversity on the Board under
the Board Diversity Policy. The Company has adopted the Board Diversity
Policy with the aim of achieving an appropriate level of diversity among
Board members according to the circumstances of the Group from time to
time. In summary, the Board Diversity Policy sets out that when considering
the nomination and appointment of a Director, with the assistance of the
Nomination Committee, the Board would consider a range of diversity of
perspectives, including but not limited to the professional experience, skills,
knowledge, education background, gender, age and ethnicity, in order to better
serve the needs and development of the Company. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective

criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to
the Board for adoption. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and shall be taken full account of the benefits of diversity on the Board when

considering candidates.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. As a measurable objective for the implementation of the Board
diversity policy, all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against the aforementioned criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board without focusing on a single
diversity aspect. The Board also targets to have one female Board member at
all time, and will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members. The Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into
account when recruiting staff members of mid to senior level and ensure that
sufficient resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and career
development to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and

maintain gender diversity.
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As at 31 December 2024, diversity of Board members in terms of gender and
age group is as follows: approximately 83.3% are male Directors and 16.7% is
female Director. Meanwhile, approximately 0% are below 30, 16.7% are age
31-40, 66.6% are age 41-50, and 16.7% are above 50.

EMPLOYEES DIVERSITY

Employees are key drivers to the sustainable development of an enterprise.
The Group adheres to the people-oriented principle and the talent philosophy
of “cherishing, developing and giving full play to talents”, improving the
recruitment standards and creating a diverse and high-quality talent team. We
have developed sound recruitment management measures to effectively ensure a
high quality workforce. In addition, we continue to improve the remuneration
package for employees, providing a better working platform for employees
to promote the realization of employee value and support the sustainable
development of the Company. We adhere to the principle of equal employment
and are committed to creating an equal and diversified working environment,
prohibit discrimination in employment, and respect and equally treat employees

of different genders, races, religious beliefs and cultural backgrounds.

As of 31 December 2024, the number of female employees in the Group
was approximately 1,476 (including senior management), representing
approximately 45% of the total workforce of the Group. The Group is
committed to maintaining a 50% female membership in senior management

and overall staff.

During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors
or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce

(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
The Group has adopted all applicable provisions of the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its
own corporate governance code. The Board is the highest governance body
of the Group and undertakes the ultimate responsibility for the sustainable
development of the Group. The Group includes several work groups, which
assist the Group to formulate and review the responsibilities, vision, strategy,
framework, principles and policies of the Group’s ESG, and monitor main
ESG trends and related risks and opportunities, in order to ensure the effective

execution and implementation of ESG policies passed by the Board.
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AR AR 2 S N AN R > IR The Company identifies and evaluates ESG issues through regular internal and
O =7 B RRAT o A Tk A AN REAS ESG Rk external communication channels and research of a third-party agency. The
JEL > A TR R R RO R AR AR T TR relevant issues shall be reviewed by the Board and implemented by related
REVR M & BRAT o [F) A 2 ) g AR functional departments. Meanwhile, the Company shall review the development
ST BRESGE IR B RS - BHERIATEA trend of international ESG governance regularly, emulate governance standards
FEUE S SRR AR HEMEESGAH B B AR 1Y R of the counterparts, and continually advance the establishment, management
R R B AR R > LAUR BB THE IR K and progress review of ESG-related goals to continuously enhance our

governance.

HAEE RS Ko TR - The Governance structure and responsibilities are as follows:
HHE HRGIERA L A ESGHEL AT I B A B 1 e m B MRS - ERATRELATIRAE -
The Board The Board, as the highest governing body for the management and public disclosure of ESG matters of the

Company, mainly performs the following functions:

1. T AN A ESG B AR b M

1. Reviewing the risks and importance related to the Company’s ESG matters

Fk ~ HLHEA L W ESG A BN B AR
2. Considering and approving the Company's ESG strategy and goals

BB ARl A RIESGAIBHEUR ~ B - KB RAE H B
Supervising and reviewing the Company’s ESG-related policies, management, performance and

progress of related goals

4. B MEAL FESGAH B R
4. Considering and approving ESG-related disclosures of the Company

5. EHERGRDBEAM2RESGERMBE G - LEE - Rl EsGHEIRIER
5. The Board shall hold meetings about ESG governance at least twice a year to monitor and review

progress of ESG governance
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ESG TAF/MAL B G T RESG TAE/MAL B 3 & AT > WAEHh 2 7l ESG BURF M S SE AL PR e - 5%
ESG work groups THWR
The ESG work groups, established by the Board, shall assist in the performance of the Board’s duties and

promote the implementation and co-organization of the Company’s ESG policy, detailed as follows:

. TR AR 2 ) AT AR R O B LA o I AU B T A T AR s S R R
U formulating sustainable development strategy and targets for the Company, and providing

recommendations and advices to the Board on relevant sustainable development

. ai | R A R ESG R R B SR - 3l A 16 i B A A R
o identifying and determining the risks and opportunities related to ESG matters of the Company, and

regularly reporting the assessment results to the Board

. A% A BR A A RIESG S FLA B BOR ~ B - RBLNOM B A
J examining and validating ESG-related policies, management, performance and progress of related

goals of the Company

. B G R R A AR ) A T T ) T R AR R SR AR BAATE) S E ESG A B B
VAT

o supervising and guiding all functional departments to comprehensively implement sustainable
development strategy and related actions of the Company, and coordinating and promoting the

implementation of ESG-related matters

. W~ AL R ESG A B S AR BLA A PR - B FESGH 1158 M A
U checking and reviewing the public disclosure of the Company’s performance on ESG-related matters,

and taking charge of the overall planning and preparation of the ESG reports

. FERGEREN HAMSEE > BSG LA/ 2 10 ) 3 € REFRESG AR HEAEHE
. the ESG work groups shall report ESG work progress to the Board regularly for other matters
authorized by the Board

AR BRI AE 1 1

Relevant functional

JBAT > FIESG AR B AW 12 8 A it

implementing ESG-related strategies and management measures of the Company

departments
. 1BV ESG TAF/MALEST B B RIS - SR (S i

o assisting ESG work groups in data collection and providing feedback
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor for the year
ended 31 December 2024. There was no change in the external auditor of the

Company for the three years preceding the date of this annual report.

Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit services provided by Ernst
& Young for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the table below:

BeAr /BT &R
(AR TT)
JI ARk A M5 Services rendered (RMB’000)
kiR - Audit services:
A B R SRR A AF T Annual audit of the financial statements of the Group 2,000
2,000

LG S T Al R ) A R R R A3 O
FHRES -

LY S i

FHRAREBEMHEHREMmETAE . UK
BN T S B AR AR £ S 55 R 0 DA R s
W0 AT BT R o A R L A
WA IR EAT BRI A ERE 7 B
105H » R EE—F U4+ H =
T— H IR F R BB R AR R > 3 OB
BB G S BOR I B RO > fE R
ONP A BRI F B B Al wT o R R A L
m T TS IR o

Ernst & Young did not provide non-audit services to the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flow during the Reporting Period. A statement
from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out on pages 97 to 105 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial

statements on a going concern basis.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal control
and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group's assets and
Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are adequate. The
Company also has an internal audit function which primarily carries out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
issuer’s risk management and internal control systems, and reports their findings

to the Board on, at least, an annual basis.

The Group’s internal control and risk management systems include a well-
established organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted
to individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business within
the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere to the
strategies and policies set by the Company from time to time. Each department
is also required to keep the Board informed of material developments of the
department’s business and implementation of the policies and strategies set by
the Board on a regular basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated by the management
in compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of
the Company’s resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and related budgets for the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. The review was made by discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment was conducted
by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the existing internal control
system is adequate and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing

Rules compliance.
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Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems and to Resolve Material Internal

Control Deficiency

Risk assessment report and internal control review report are submitted to the
Audit Committee and the Board annually. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Board together with the Audit Committee had performed a review
on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
system, including but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks (including ESG risks) and the Company’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment; (ii) the scope and
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks)
and the internal control systems; (iii) the extent and frequency of reporting
the monitoring results to the Audit Committee and the Board, which enables
the Board to assess the internal control of Company and the effectiveness of
risk management; (iv) the significant control failures that have occurred or
weaknesses that have been identified; and (v) the effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting procedure and compliance with Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee and the Board confirmed that the risk management and internal
control systems were effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December
2024. No significant areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group were
identified by the Audit Committee and the Board. The scope of such review
covers the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff performing
the Group's accounting and financial reporting functions and their attitude
to the internal control of the Group. The Board will continue to work with
the management to discuss and follow up on the status of remediation of the
internal control weaknesses and to monitor the risks of the Group for the next

few years.

WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICIES

Building a convenient and transparent reporting system is a crucial
component of the Group's collective effort towards clean and honest
governance. To this end, the Group has formulated the “Guidelines for
Reporting Management”, which outline the Group’s internal and external
reporting management mechanisms, reporting channels and methods and
set forth standardized procedures for the acceptance and processing of
reports. Meanwhile, the “Guidelines for Reporting Management” provide
explicit protection and reward provisions for whistleblowers, and require
that any information about whistleblowers be kept confidential by the
recipient, so as to safeguard the rights and interests of whistleblowers to

the greatest possible extent.
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In addition, the Group adheres strictly to relevant laws and regulations and
has established systems such as “Code of Conduct for Employees”, which
regulates employee behavior, including violations of integrity, abuse of
power and conflict of interests, and defines the Group’s value orientation,
enabling employees to perform their duties with loyalty, integrity, and
self-discipline, and jointly safeguard the overall interests of the Group.
The Group has arranged and will continue to reinforce anti-corruption
and anti-fraud training for Directors and employees, intensify corruption
prevention campaigns and foster a culture of honesty and integrity among

its workforce.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously its obligations
under the new Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Company has
adopted a continuous disclosure compliance policy which sets out guidelines
and procedures to the Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner. Briefing session is held regularly for officers to facilitate their

understanding and compliance with the policy.

SHAREHOLDERS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by Shareholders

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Board may whenever
it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
to the Board or the secretary of the Company of any one or more members of
the Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene the general meeting in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

To safeguard Shareholder’s interests and rights, separate resolutions will be
proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of

individual Directors.
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The procedures for Shareholder to propose a person for election as a Director are
available on the Company’s website (http://www.zhenrowy.com). Shareholders
may lodge written notice to the joint company secretaries of the Company at
40/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
written notice is given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the lodgment
of such notice shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. The written notice
will be verified with the joint company secretaries of the Company and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, they will ask the
Nomination Committee and the Board to consider to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected as a

Director.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association for the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put
forward proposals may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general

meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries about the Company may be put to the Board by contacting the
Company or directly by raising the questions at an annual general meeting or
extraordinary general meeting. The contact details of the Company are set out in

the Company’s website (http://www.zhenrowy.com).

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the

following:

8 TR A AR 75 2% [ PR T B 666 7 MR IE 28007
Building No. 7, Hongqiao Zhenro Center, Lane 666, Shenhong Road, Honggiao Business

Core District, Minhang District, Shanghai

ERAER -
Telephone:

EE AL -

E-mail address:

JBE IR 0] % AR N )R A s R S R R
i B s R S B R A BR A A (Hhhk B
AT R G RIE R 183 A AL 17
1712-1716 5540 ) 2wt I HE o

(+86) 21-61258655
(+86) 21-61258655

chenxy9@zhenro.com/mengnal@zhenro.com

chenxy9@zhenro.com/mengnal @zhenro.com

Shareholders may also direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, whose address is Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to

meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy which
encourages all forms of communication and welcomes feedback, questions, or
concerns from Shareholders and aims to ensure that shareholders are provided

with timely access to the Company’s information.

The policy sets out various channels to communicate with the Shareholders.
Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing or through
the Company's website at http://www.zhenrowy.com or directly by raising

questions at general meetings.

Shareholders are also encouraged to participate in general meetings of the
Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to Shareholders in
accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable rules and regulations.
The chairman of the Board, the chairman of each board committee, management
of the Company and, if appropriate, the external auditors, will attend the

general meetings and answer questions raised by Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors attended the
annual general meeting on 14 June 2024 and the extraordinary general
meeting on 28 February 2024 to communicate with Shareholders. All corporate
communications and regulatory announcements were published by the Company
on its website and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The
Board had performed a review on the shareholders’ communication policy. In
view of the above, the Board considers that the shareholders communication

policy was effective during the year ended 31 December 2024.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as

appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE MECHANISMS

The Company has in place existing practices and mechanisms to ensure the
independence of the Board. The Board reviews the implementation and

effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive
Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always
a strong element of independence on the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has received annual confirmation
made by each of the independent non-executive Directors regarding their
independence. The Company considered that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee is responsible to assess
the independence and time commitment of each independent non-executive

Director at least annually.

The independent non-executive Directors have actively participated in meetings
of the Board and board committees to provide independent opinions. When
performing their duties, they will make significant decisions after discussions
with senior management of the Company and on some occasions, with reference
to professional advice received from external agents at the Company’s expense
and upon reasonable request. The chairman of the Board will also hold meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the involvement of other

Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the aforementioned mechanisms
are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the
Board during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The existing amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company were approved and adopted by special resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 14 June 2024 in order to (i) bring the existing
Memorandum and Articles in line with the latest requirements under the
Listing Rules, including the amendments to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules
with respect to electronic dissemination of corporate communications which
took effect from 31 December 2023; and (ii) incorporate certain corresponding
and housekeeping amendments (the “Proposed Amendments”). It is available

on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

Guided by the core value of “attaining prosperity with integrity”, the Company
mandates all employees to uphold the highest standards of ethical conduct,
ensuring that integrity, accountability, and fiduciary responsibility are

embedded in all business operations and decision-making processes.

The Company adopts a “Client-First Philosophy”, puts customer experience in
the first place, and continues to optimize its solutions to align with customers’

demand.

With “craftsmanship quality” as our service standard, the Company integrates
humanistic principles into our service processes to create enduring value for our

clients.

In terms of talent development, the Company is committed to building an
“elite team” by establishing a comprehensive talent cultivation system. Through
diversified training mechanisms, the Company facilitates employees’ professional
growth and assembles a high-caliber workforce to provide sustained momentum

for corporate development.

The Company is dedicated to constructing a “fulfilling enterprise”, establishing
a scientific value evaluation system and implementing diversified incentive
mechanisms. By creating an open and shared development platform, the
Company enables every employee to realize their personal value within the
enterprise’s growth, and truly achieves co-creation, shared responsibility, and

shared benefits.
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To the shareholders of Zhenro Services Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhenro Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
106 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been propetly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs") issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided

in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.
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Key audit matter
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Goodwill impairment assessment
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As at 31 December 2024, the goodwill of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB323 million.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. The
goodwill is allocated to various cash-generating
units (“CGUs”). Management assessed the
impairment of goodwill with the assistance of an
independent external valuer (the “External Valuer”)
and determined the recoverable amounts based on
a value-in-use (“VIU”) calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management. The key assumptions considered
primarily include (i) annual revenue growth rate, (ii)
gross profit margin, (iii) terminal growth rate, and

(iv) discount rate.

A B TE Rz I T ey A R A R A
AR R B A o

We focused on this area because of the complex and
subjective estimation made by management on the

key assumptions.

FEBA I R R 45 6 S R R M5 2.4 ~ 3 16 -
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and

16 to the consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

T AL AR T 0 o i L ] A

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

F S5 At B 4 S L9 ol B A B < A B2 B o R (Y
F AP LA

Our audit procedures to evaluate the impairment test carried out by

management and assess the value-in-use of the CGUs included:

(i)

(if)

(ii1)

(iv)

)

(vi)

T8 1R S (T S o 3055 At o 7 T ) < P %
A {ETT i R BL 3

involving internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
valuation methodologies and discount rates used for determining the

recoverable amounts;

25 0 R R o 0 0 A T R AR A I SR Y
Bl > FEARERE T NE T A =S HIEEES
Bl A A BB R B

examining the underlying data used, such as management’s
projection on the future revenues and operating results by
investigating the financial performance of each CGU during the year
ended 31 December 2024;

4 B4 A LR B B M SR R - LA
(B B A B AR
examining the business development plans and historical annual

growth of each CGU to evaluate the growth rate of each CGU;

AP ANIRAG (BRI BT 0 ~ RE) BB
evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the

External Valuer;

A A4 L 3 B R SO AT ISR A > DL T RGN
BB R E s &

evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by management on the
key assumptions to understand the impact of the reasonable changes

in assumptions on the recoverable amount; and

TR A MR 670 -
assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related to impairment

assessment of goodwill.
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Key audit matter
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Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
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As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount
of trade receivables of the Group was approximately
RMB342 million, including a gross amount of
RMB442 million and an allowance for impairment
of RMB100 million.
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We identified the recoverability assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements and the significant judgement
exercised by management in estimating the expected
credit losses for trade receivables. This included the
consideration of the existence of disputes, historical
payment records, forward-looking factors and any
other available information that may impact the

estimated expected credit losses.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T35 AL B 5 MR AT i e Y o R B4
Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of trade receivables
included:

(@)

(i1)

(iii)

TR P WA 2 IEMGROR T SRR 0 7 XL KGR
6 T S R LT W [ A ) B S 0

obtaining an understanding of how management assessed the
expected credit losses for trade receivables, and evaluating the key
controls relating to the monitoring of the recoverability of trade

receivables;

AT Al R B R BT O v R 2 (iR R E
K ATIEYER R REBERR) ;

evaluating and testing the methodologies and data/parameters used
by management, including historical loss information, forward-

looking factors and the expected loss rate;

AT WAERBRRSE > Ik AR v R R R K B 5
HRE SRR L IR BB B 0L

executing analytical review procedures by analysing the fluctuations
of significant outstanding balances and trade receivable turnover

days;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

T S TR AR g o o B o O

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

TR % A 5 B BA B SRR B 3 22 20 ©
Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20

to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv)

(v)

H BROBCHE MR LU B S B ol o B S T A B A 58 1
M FE BRI BB IS 5 &

testing, on a sampling basis, the subsequent settlement of trade
receivables to cash receipts and reviewing the related supporting

documentation; and

S 1 S LA Bl SC PR3 T R R 2 MR BB
B —F I+ T =1 — BB 5 RBUGIIE Y IREELT
HHAHIRL -

testing the ageing profile of trade receivables as at 31 December
2024, used in the calculation of the allowance for impairment of
trade receivables, on a sampling basis, against sales invoices and

other relevant documents.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

U Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, ot the override of

internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

U Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group as basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purpose of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is HO Siu Fung, Terence.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
27 March 2025

43R Annual Report 2024 105




HaBEEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
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Year ended 31 December 2024

WE TR i S

Notes 2024 2023

ARBTI ARWFIC

RMB 000 RMB 000

A REVENUE 5 1,113,933 1,145,503
9 A Cost of sales (880,989) (900,831)
EA GROSS PROFIT 232,944 244,672
HA A B s Other income and gains b} 23,158 15,840
T X Administrative expenses (137,983) (145,770)
SRE R R Impairment losses on financial assets, net (38,891) (99,884)
7 B Impairment of goodwill 16 (214,777) -
P& N TEER Fair value losses on investment properties 15 (55,599) (64,590)
AL A IR X BEGHR Share of profits and losses of associates 18 (300) (109)
& A Finance costs 7 (13,364) (6,755)
BB Hil s 1 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 (204,812) (56,596)
iRETNEa Income tax expense 10 (30,584) (25,340)
N e H LOSS FOR THE YEAR (235,396) (81,936)

PIN AL EAS - Attributable to:
(EYNCIE 2PN Owners of the parent (235,915) (81,189)
I 2 P £ Non-controlling interests 519 (747)
(235,396) (81,936)
BEA AR A AERE  LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR AR #T
(=31 <1 TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS RMB RMB
OF THE PARENT

B T Basic and diluted 12 (0.23) (0.08)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

WE-ZEL A= —HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

e~ 111 % —E =
2024 2023
NRWFIT ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB000
MR LOSS FOR THE YEAR (235,396) (81,936)
HoA 2 i s 1 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
USSR e Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified
R < HA R TR E to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
A TR E A Exchange differences on translation of the
M 56, 5 3H financial statements (1) (23)
AR T ] R A R Net other comprehensive loss that will not be
1R i 2 A 2 T s A reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods (11) (23)
N HAb AT G - JBRBIE  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (11) (23)
A7 1A 4 T e 4R 4 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR (235,407) (81,959)
NG Attributable to:
(S Y/NEIE 2SN Owners of the parent (235,926) (81,212)
E 3Ll Non-controlling interests 519 (747)
(235,407) (81,959)
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o o B R L A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“ECEFZH=+—H
31 December 2024

ik RN —F-=
Notes 2024 2023
ANRWFIT ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB000
FEEy NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ENE L] Property and equipment 13 12,645 5,716
il R Right-of-use assets 14(a) 2,040 1,761
REWE Investment properties 15 247,740 164,600
[ Goodwill 16 323,000 537,777
HAthfeTE & Other intangible assets 17 30,584 37,446
B E AR A Investments in associates 18 771 1,071
il G B R IR Finance lease receivables 19 8,915 -
IESEBLIE & Deferred tax assets 26 61,935 55,953
FE I & A Total non-current assets 687,630 804,324
B E CURRENT ASSETS
Tl S U KR Finance lease receivables 19 42,186 =
& 5 e A Trade receivables 20 342,377 309,747
JRE i Pt A ) Due from related companies 30 32,367 45,441
TEATRRIE - HoAth SR Prepayments, other receivables and other assets
B H A 21 97,716 108,060
Bl RRATHSBR Cash and bank balances 22 572,211 579,146
LB A Total current assets 1,086,857 1,042,394
B EE CURRENT LIABILITIES
% 5 e A IH Trade payables 23 134,945 165,434
HARERTFHIE R ERTE ] Other payables and accruals 24 415,252 427,701
JREASH BT ) VR Due to related companies 30 1,456 2,439
tBSRAT B A 3k Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 56,650 64,040
JEASBLIE Tax payable 99,851 65,839
HEAR Lease liabilities 14(b) 81,446 3,121
TE B A Total current liabilities 789,600 728,574
EbEgRe e NET CURRENT ASSETS 297,257 313,820
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A B AR DA

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
~ECUEFH=1+—H
31 December 2024

it 5E e S 112 e S
Notes 2024 2023
AREFI ANRBTIL
RMB’000 RMB 000
B A R Y £ TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 984,887 1,118,144
B A K NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FHRERAT I LAt K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 3,020 9,060
HEAE Lease liabilities 14(b) 118,691 899
IRALH A & (& Deferred tax liabilities 26 10,945 12,279
FOAh A FE Other payables 24 7,969 7,364
FETLE) A ARE Total non-current liabilities 140,625 29,602
FEE NET ASSETS 844,262 1,088,542
e EQUITY
RO F B N\ REAG B 25 Equity attributable to owners of the parent
A Share capital 27 7,867 7,867
i Reserves 28 833,853 1,074,564
841,720 1,082,431
TR i Non-controlling interests 2,542 6,111
ARERR TOTAL EQUITY 844,262 1,088,542
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22 N E DL 43
W {Zl\ is5 Elli % éb i%
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BWEZFDET A=+ —HIREE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BATHER ABLG
Attributable to owners of the parent
B EX
Wk RORE RER oHEE RERE VERE  RHER G FBRER ERAE
Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share  Capital ~ Merger  surplus fluctuation Accumulated controlling
capital premium®  reserve®  reserve®  reserves®  reserves® losses* Total ~ interests Total equity

NERTT ARKTT ARKTT ARRTT ARBT ARKTT ARKTE ARHTT ARKTT ARKTR
RMBUOO RMBUW  RMBUWO  RMBUO  RMBUW RMBWO  RMBUW RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBOW

iy Hise Mese) Mebso Mikse
Note27  Note28(z) Note 28(b) Note 28(c) Note 28(d)
RoEZ=E-A-H At 1 January 2023 7867 1061564 (4004)  (40488) 51023 (75,601) 163342 1,163,643 5,648 1,169,291
R Loss for the year - - - - - - BLI8Y)  BLIBY) (4D BL%6)
FERit2mER QOher comprehensive loss
for the year:
AR Exchange differences on
Bz translation of the financial
statements - - - - - (23) - () = (23)
LT 3o Total compreensive loss for
the year = = = = - 23) (81,189)  (81,212) 747 (81,959
N Transfer to statutory surplus
reserves = = = - 3,066 = (3,066) = = =
FERERTE Capital injection from nop-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,210 1,210
REZZZEFAZ4—H Ac31 December 2023 7867 1061564 (4004)  (d0488) 54689 (75,684) 78487 1082431 6,111 1,088 542
RoFZ=k At 31 December 2023 and
TZAZ-A 1 January 2024
R=ZZWE—R—A 7867 1061364 (4004  (40488) 54689  (75,084) 78487 1,082,431 6,111 1,088,542
L2 Loss for the year - - - - - - I (%15) 519 (235,396)
ERLH2EESR Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
BENBREELN Exchange differences on
EnEH translation of the financial
statements - - - - - (1) = (1) = (11)
EREHERLE Total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - = = (1) (%915  (235,926) 519 (235,407)
BAEERRRE Transfer to statutory surplus
feserves - - - - 5311 - (5,511) - - -
EEZOE ST Dividends paid to non-
controlling shateholders - - - - - - - - (1,715) (L,715)
AR e Redemption of capital shate from
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - (588) (588)
IRk Acquisition of non-controlling
incerests - - (4,785) - - - - @785 (1,78)  (6,570)
BEZZMEFZA=4—H Ac31 December 204 7867 1061364 (8789)  (40488) 60,000 (75,695  (162739) 841,720 2540 84426

* RoZFEZWE+ A=+ — BT &
MW ES > ZEFRMEF QEGAMMEA
R%833,853,0007C (&F = =4« ARW
1,074,564,0007C) ©

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB833,853,000 (2023:
RMB1,074,564,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024.
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HEHERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEZF-EF A=+ HIEFEE

Year ended 31 December 2024

iF3 e L e St
Notes 2024 2023
NRWFIT ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB000
REHH B e CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
BR LA 1R Loss before tax (204,812) (56,596)
I Adjustments for:
BB AR Finance costs 7 13,364 6,755
FEHA Interest income 5 (4,356) (1,611)
MG E A TR KB Share of profits and losses of associates 18 300 109
BEWENTEER Fair value losses on investment properties 15 55,599 64,590
AL L T R P Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets
B A for a sublease b} (11,985) =
HEREY B M Loss on disposal of items of investment
properties 2,048 -
EI S TR Depreciation of property and equipment 6,13 3,957 2,528
i G Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,14(a) 1,175 3,870
HAbSEIY & Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,17 7,464 7,242
E<giEh=v/ e Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of
WE, (E R ) finance lease receivables 6,19 1,344 (2,166)
& 5 REW IR Impairment of trade receivables 6,20 31,181 42,312
JRE AT BRI 2 ) S TR Impairment of amounts due from related
companies 6,30 5,169 59,239
HoAth SRR A el Impairment of other receivables 6,21 1,197 499
[N Impairment of goodwill 6,16 214,777 -
116,422 126,771
© 5 MEWCGER T Increase in trade receivables (63,811) (69,392)
BRI - HAEGHIE  Decrease in prepayments, other receivables
&N T3 and other assets 9,147 19,277
JREWSC BRI 2 ) S TR D Decrease in amounts due from related companies 3,255 5,324
J@ﬁ B w2 E (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related
(Wi»),/ s companies (983) 603
B 5 BEA 308 (Decrease)/increase in trade payables
(WD) /B (30,134) 15,955
FMFEAT A R ERTE ] (Decrease)/increase in other payables
(W), Hahn and accruals (18,414) 5,993
IR s Decrease in pledged deposits - 1,089
Z R 4 (Hm) / WY (Increase)/dectease in restricted cash (2,189) 2,815
il AL R R R I D Decrease in finance lease receivables 38,742 38,046
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HaBlaiag

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE-Z-WEF A= —HIFEE

Year ended 31 December 2024

BifsE ZRTEE —F-=
Notes 2024 2023
AR T NBWHTFIT
RMB’000 RMB000
REmEs4 Cash generated from operations 52,035 146,481
EUFLE Interest received 661 1,611
EATFLE Interest paid (3,421) (3,799)
EfBUH Tax paid (3,888) (8,954)
B EH B AR E TS Net cash flows from operating activities 45,387 135,339
BREFEHNABARE  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
HEE W SR E Purchases of items of property and equipment 13 (11,017) (2,423)
& W Mk TE E Proceeds from disposal of items of property
iKEE e and equipment 13 131 105
T EHA Y EE Additions to other intangible assets 17 (602) (546)
HEH ALY & Proceeds from disposal of other intangible assets
Prig sk 17 - 555
HEREYEER Proceeds from disposal of items of investment
Fir iR #KH properties 3,897
HEE Y Purchases of investment properties 15 - (143,000)
BEGEH B4 Net cash flows used in investing activities
iR (7,591) (145,309)
REEB B &RE  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
1] [ e 2 R A K Repayment to related companies - (204)
AR TR New bank loans 50,610 106,526
BT R A K Repayment of bank and other loans (64,040) (133,543)
16 i J 2 ) JE IR R Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
AT of a subsidiary (1,715) -
JEvE i £ Capital injection from non-controlling interests - 1,210
B JE 15 B R B ) A Redemption of capital share from
non-controlling shareholders (588) -
FEAE CEHBFLE) Lease payments including related interests 14(b) (31,176) (72,573)
R TE B T Bl Net cash flows used in financing activities
TR (46,90) (98,584)
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HEBENRER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WEZRTPUEFZH =4 —H IR
Year ended 31 December 2024

{13 TR —F-=
Notes 2024 2023
NRWFIT ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB000
Bl R B &H Y NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
WA FH EQUIVALENTS 9,113) (108,554)
FERBLE KRS EY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 576,514 685,091
FE 2 At ) o 28 R Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (11) (23)
ERBIE KB EE Y CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 567,390 576,514
Bl KBS EY ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
ol i AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bl RRATES R Cash and bank balances 22 572,211 579,146
R % K Less: Pledged deposits 1,807 1,807
2 PR B4 Restricted cash 3,014 825
BRI Bla K& CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS
B&%mm STATED IN THE STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS 567,390 576,514
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Notes to Financial Statements
—EZ-NEF—H=+—H
31 December 2024

1.

S RS M YR

ARA/R—F—-N\NFE+A+LHE#E
2 S ek ML R N o AL
R FE S BE (74 190 Elgin Avenue,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008,

Cayman Islands °

A ) BT A ) AR A e
B AL A IR AE T 3 AR 1 W S B R
B FESEES M - AL g R
T S A TR

ARARHR—F_FELATH (L
H ) A 55 BT A R A
(TH 2T ) ML -

EVNCE £ SV [

RAERE S REKEN A -

A5 B PO g 2 ] R
A LB WA TR AT

4

Name

HIEA
Directly held:

Future Prosperity Holdings Limited
([ Future Prosperity (BVI)])

Future Prosperity Holdings Limited
(“Future Prosperity (BVI)")

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 17 December 2018. The registered office address of the
Company is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008,

Cayman Islands.

The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
property management services, value-added services to non-property
owners, community value-added services for residential and
non-residential properties, commercial operational management services
in Mainland China.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10
July 2020 (the “Listing Date”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Group is Mr. Ou Guowei together with his family

members.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AL/ Rt
WERAH eRmEER/ KA
DREENS AR BB FERH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to Principal
operations shate capital the Company  activities
RTINS LOOOETE 100% SUEER
(EREmREE])/
e . iy g
British Vigin Islands US$1,000 100%  Investment holding

("BVI")/22 January 2018
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

1.

2] BAEBE B )
A BA K A 7 BB (4

s

Name

HH#4EH (8
Directly held: (Conrinued)

EARTREEARA (RS E )

Zhenro Services China Limited
(“Zhenro Services (BVI)")

A -
Indirectly held:

Future Prosperity (HK) Limited
([ Future Prosperity (HK) )

Future Prosperity (HK) Limited
(“Future Prosperity (HK)")

EXRBREARAA (ERRHEE)

Zhenro Services Hong Kong Limited
(“Zhenro Services (HK)")

TN A R A
(MM«

Fuzhou Huihua Corporate
Management Consultancy
Co., Ltd. (‘Fuzhou Huihua")*

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

PR/ Bt
CEY L
UREELE
Place and date

of incorporation/
establishment

and place of

operations

ERAEmaE/
“F-NEFZ AR
BVI/

19 December 2018

374
“F-MEZAZTR
Hong Kong/

20 February 2018

Fik/
MR
Hong Kong/

24 December 2018

NG
(T8)/ &/
“FNE-AETR
People’s Republic

of China (‘PRC’)/

Mainland China/

31 January 2019

eHrkER
Al

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
tegistered

shate capital

11

USs1

1T

HKS$1

1T

HKS$1

NB1,000,000,000 7

RMBI,000,000,000

KA
g T

Percentage of

equity
attributable to

the Company

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

R

Principal

activities

B

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

Bk

Tnvestment holding

B

Tnvestment holding
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

1.

2] BAEBIE B )
A BA K A 7 W& R (4

4

Name

bR (8)
Indirectly held: (Concinued)

RELAMERA AR

Fujian Zheno Property Setvice Co., Ltd.

AR AR
(TEAHE )

Zhenro Property Services Co., Ltd.

(“Zhenro Property Services”)
FMEREE AR

Fuzhou Zhenro Property Management Co., Ltd.

BLRRLARIEREARAA

Hubei Changfang Zhenro Property Services Co., Lid.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AL / Bt
HE KA
UREEDS
Place and date

of incorporation/
establishment

and place of

operations

o/ s/
“F-ZEZAAR
PRC/Mainland China/
8 March 2013

/R,
AR
PRC/Mainland China/
2 February 2000

/R,
“E-FEAATER
PRC/Mainland China/

17 September 2010

&/ hE R/
“F-NEEA=TH
PRC/Mainland China/

30 July 2018

116 1EA M 4% B A A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

CEiEER/
AR B
Nominal value

of issued
ordinary/
tegisteted

share capital

NRL052,640,000 7€

RMB1,052,640,000

AE#50,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

NE81,0000007

RMB1,000,000

85,000,000 7

RMB3,000,000

KA
BRI LEEH

Percentage of

equity
attributable to Principal

the Company  activities

00% WEEH

100%  Property management

1009 YEER

100%  Property management

100 HEER

100%  Property management

1% YEER

51%  Property management
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Notes to Financial Statements

ZERCEFZA=T—H
31 December 2024

1 Aw] R ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Gontinued)
A7 I8 b I ] B R (1) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AL/ Mk
LEYE ! eRrEER AN
o WREEHE kA BT FERH
Place and dace Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable o Principal
Name operations shate capital the Company  activities
kR - (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
ERLERBARAT R/ HE/ NBHE50,000,0007C 100 HEER
(HRNIEE R RARAR ] (8EE)) —“FF-F-A-1-A
Zhenro Enterprise Service Co, Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB50,000,000 100%  Property management
(formerly known as “Jiangsu 21 February 2001
Aitao Property Management
Co., Led." ("Jiangsu Aitao”))
E‘J‘M%W%%Hﬁ% A R/ HE/ B ,000,0007C 100 HFER
(HHR [ RUHERAERE AR “F-MEZRRH
Changsha Zhengwu Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMBS,000,000 100%  Property management
Enterprise Property Service Co., Led. 6 March 2018
(formerly known as “Changsha Aitao
Property Services Co., Led.")
THRBENFERAREELT H /HER/ NRHELL000,000E 1007 HEER
(FTgrge&) e = il
Jiangsu Sutie Property Management PRC/Mainland China/ RMB11,000,000 100%  Property management
Co., Led. (‘Jiangsu Sutie”) 4 January 2001
R ERRHARAR R/ HE/ 850,000,007 1007 HFER
“Z-ERAZFIEA
Zhenro Property Management Setvices Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB350,000,000 100%  Property management
24 April 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

118 IEA M 4B A A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

1 A R EEER ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

A BA KL A 5 W R (4) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AL/ ok
WER A CEMEER / KA

4 WRERHE Gl ST RimM FEEH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to Principal

Name operations share capital the Company  activities

R )

Indirectly held: (Concinued)

HEERRTHEARAR R/ R/ ABH20,000,0007C 100% FEES
“RIREMTCA

Shanghai Zhengzhi Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB20,000,000 100%  Commercial trading
12 August 2020

ERRSHEERERAT R /R / BH100,000,000 7 0% HEER
“EREHATCA

Zheno Rongxiang Property Management Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB100,000,000 100%  Property management
12 October 2020

R ERARA E /R NRH1,000,0007C 1007 HEER
“RTEERATLA

Xiamen Zhenro Property Management Co., Led. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  management
17 June 2020

PR B ARAA R/ R/ AR 612244, 90070 1007 HEER
“ET-EZAZAIA

Fuzhou High Tech Zone Zhenro PRC/Mainland China/ RMB612,244,900 100% Property management

Property Service Co., Led. 24 March 2021

ERWFERARAT R /s / NBHE0,505,000 70 1007 HEER
“ECERA=TH

Zhento Business Management Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB50,505,000 100%  Property management
30 June 2021

HEREAEERARAR 8/ L/ NRH1,000,0007C 1009 HEER
i S 71V vy =

Shanghai Rongjue Apartment PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Property management

Management Co., Led. 23 August 2021



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

Lo Aw] REMER ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
A e N ) BB R (4 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AL/ it
WEREH eRmEER/ RS
4 DREENS Ak A BRI FERH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of tegistered attributable to Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
R )
Indirectly held: (Continued)
TSR RA R /s / NBH1,000,000 70 100% Tl
“E--ERATIA
Shanghai Rongzun Business PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Business consulting
Consulting Co., Led. 14 May 2021
2S5 GiE LA 8/ L/ NRH1L0000007C 100% Tl
B S 5y
Shanghai Rongcong Business PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Business consulting
Consulting Co., Led. 20 May 2021
LEAHEREARAA R/ HE/ ARH8,000,0007C 100% iR
ZRFLACTH
Shanghai Rongkehui Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China/ RMBS,000,000 100%  Technical services
20 July 2021
AR B ARAA R /s / NBH15,000,0007C 1007 Hekils
“F-HEAACEEN
Shanghai Rongzhijia Decoration Co., Led. PRC/Mainland China/ RMB15,000,000 100%  Decoration
23 June 2021
L5 () REEARAR R/ R/ IR H10,000,0007C 100 FEEH
i Sy e ol
Zhento (Putian) Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB10,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021

£ Annual Report 2024 119




B 5 A B

Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

0 IEZ MR 4E A R A Zhenro Services Group Limited

1 A R EEER ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
A BA KL A 5 W R (4) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AL/ it
WERIH EREER/ KA
] DREELS Ak A RERME TERE
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of registered attributable to Principal
Name operations share capital the Company  activities
R )
Indirectly held: (Continued)
TS RRL AR E A RAA E /R NRHL000,0007 1007 FEEH
“FERA=TH
Fuzhou Mawei Zhenro Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMBI,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
HRERTEERARA E /AR NRH1,000,0007C 100 FEEH
“RTERRZTR
Nanjing Zhenro Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
ERRANEERARA R/ R/ AR H50,000,0007C 100% HEER
“ZZ-ERAZTHH
Zhenro Neighborhood Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB350,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
ERFAMEERARA E / R/ NRHL000,0007 100% FEEH
“F-ERA=TH
Zhenro Taixing Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
R EAREERARA 8/ EE/ NRH 10000007 1007 FEER
“RTERRZTR
Xi'an Zhenro Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
AR EE R ARA R/ R/ NRH1L0000007E 100% HEER
“ZZ-ERAZTHH
Shanghai Zhento Commercial PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Commercial management
Management Co., Led. 30 June 2021
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Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

1.

Al RAEBER 2
A A K A F R (4

i

Name

WU - ()
Indirectly held: (Concinued)

EMEAREERARAA

Fuzhou Zhenro Commercial

Management Co., Led.
HEF MR R AR A

Nanchang Qingshanhu District Zhenro Chengdong
Property Services Co., Led.

AW ERTREARAR

Putian Zhengxin City Services Co., Led.

HELXFEMRREARAR

Nanchang Zhento Qingyun Property Services Co., Led.

HERENEERARAA

Nanchang Rongzhi Property
Management Co., Led.

BAEEpEE AR

Hubei Zhengmei Property
Management Co., Led.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AL / ot
LEVGE]
UREELS
Place and date

of incorporation/
establishment

and place of

operations

R/ L/
“RTERRZTH
PRC/Mainland China/
30 June 2021

i/ s/
“ETEAATEA
PRC/Mainland China/

13 June 2022

i/ s/
“RCCECACHRR
PRC/Mainland China/

25 February 2022

E /PR
“ETZECALH
PRC/Mainland China/
7 February 2023

/B s/
“F_ZE+ZANA
PRC/Mainland China/

4 December 2023

E /B
“ECEERAT-H
PRC/Mainland China/
11 May 2023

BRMEER/
kA

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
registered

shate capital

NB1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

R 5,000,000

RMB3,000,000

NRHS,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

1,000,007

RMB1,000,000

NRH5,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

NRHS,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

KA
RERAL LT

Percentage of
equity
attributable to Principal

the Company  activities

009 HEER

100%  Commercial management

519 WEER

51%  Property management

sl WEER

31%  Property management

s1% YEER

51%  Property management

100% YEER

100%  Property management

sl WEER

91%  Property management

£ Annual Report 2024 121




B 5 A B

Notes to Financial Statements

“E LA S
31 December 2024

1. A BEMER @)
A 1 B B 2 ) AR (49

i

Name

bR ()
Indirectly held: (Concinued)

ENERREIEREARAR

Suzhou Zhengxiang Ronggi Property

Management Co., Led.

HEREERARAA

Nanchang Rongbai Property
Management Co., Led.

HELHEE AR

Nanchang Zhengwu Property
Management Co., Led.

ENEERETHHARAA

Suzhou Xingirui e-commerce Co., Led.

B A AR A

Zhuzhou Zhenghong Commercial

Management Co., Led.

g i WTE S R v o i e 5 S 0 2

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AL/ ok
WERAH CEMEER / AN
NREES AR A BRI EEEH
Place and date Nominal value
of incorporation/ of issued Percentage of
establishment ordinary/ equity
and place of tegisteted attributable to Principal
operations share capital the Company  activities
H /R B 10,000,007 100% HEER
B e 2 g e i 2
PRC/Mainland China/ RMB10,000,000 100%  Property management
25 December 2023
E/ ERE/ M 000,000 70 100% HEER
ZREFTIALA
PRC/Mainland China/ RMB3,000,000 100%  Property management
7 December 2023
8/ L/ 5,000,000 100% HEER
“RCEELCALH
PRC/Mainland China/ RMB3,000,000 100%  Property management
7 December 2023
R/ L/ AR 10000007 1009 FERS
“ECEEFTACECA
PRC/Mainland China/ RMB1,000,000 100% Commercial trading
22 December 2023
8/ ERE/ BH8,000,000 0 100% FEEHR
ZRCRE=AZTA
PRC/Mainland China/ RMBS,000,000 100%  Commercial management
20 March 2024

& Fuzhou Huihua is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under

PRC law.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are all limited liability

companies.

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company to
directly translate the Chinese names of these companies as they have not

registered any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any, investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the

related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to
IFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020

Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described

below:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the

Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months

after the reporting petiod.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(©)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that
the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the

Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity's liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have

any impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

128 EZ M 4B A B A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised

IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18

[FRS 19

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Amendments to [FRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 21

Annual Improvements to IFRS

Accounting Standards - Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’

Subsidiaries withour Public
Accountability: Disclosures

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial

Inscruments’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor to its Associate or

Joint Venturé

Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to [FRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7>

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity (Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is described below.
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130 EARMRHEEA R A F Zhenro Services Group Limited

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from IAS
1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Farnings per
Share and 1AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other IFRSs are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the

Group's financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement
and presentation requitements in other IFRSs. To be eligible, at
the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary
as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot
have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with IFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it
is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of IFRS 19 in their

specified financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system before the settlement
date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures
of information that enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7
and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact

on the Group's financial statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group's financial statements.

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over

those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting

policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment
in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s

investment in an associate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value

and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.



B 5 R P
Notes to Financial Statements

ZERCFEFZH=4—H
31 December 2024

2. BT ) 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 WEEHEE &) 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

KB AP R ()

WA 5 A 1 A T s SR AR A Wi
S BRI AP (RS - M BREE
HARHIANEZ L FHFE
HAFEZB MR R - 28
PR KRR EAE R B
R AL AR -

TR IR A R - B C A
B~ R 2 PR i P R L I A 4
V1SS TR A7 O 482 S 5 B HE P A o
O PR > BT WS A R R
E R R B R 2R - I
fE SEHCA I H 9 SRR A BT Wi i3
NP > RERAR 2
BRI 15 4 10 T R k1 M 2 i

9%
f. °

WA MR > FEHE A AL T 2
Al E R R o PR
G - HA TR IR 2
BURMRT (A 7T AE Bl (E RS > EE
SREHETHIA - AEER+ A
= BT R A B (E
Al o BETRE R AR A b
1T S\ B 75 19 S ) S 4
TR A5 OF 2 AL 0 1hh 7] 3 o
B ) A B 5 0 4 A B BB
S A BEAALR o T I A 4
EERARERC O REZFE
P A AL -

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in

profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the

cash-generating unit retained.



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements

e

2.

WEFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

EHEOR ()

2.4

WE @ BOR (50
AP
OPETIETT 2 B Y R H
HEAT A P52 o v Hh 7 T
SR A SO AR o APE
VR YSEC N G T
R IR B A N EH
B ARE ERWGHELT > RE
7 B f 0 A R T AT - 1%
B A 5 R AL A A S I RE 21
Ty o B SR A A5
TATI 2 B 1 ¥ e oA o M B
R (R 2 8 E K
HROE 56 Y B (AR A 41T ) o

I & B T E A R A B R
W2 B IR T 2 B 5 B
w R EREMT - SR EEE T 5
— A AR Y A B e R
AT 9 TI7 355 2 L2 T 7 A A7 2
it () BE

74 52 1 {98 P A B 1 L 0 £ (L
Tk A R R R R AT
{6 > DA RN AR B T B i A
{8 J% 2 4 8 5 S AT A
%o

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their

economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best

use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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N FERHE (48) Fair value measurement (Continued)
T S K v R R R AP All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
PR B R AR - SRR AP disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
RIS TR Y S A AR A fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
AN BHRTE T (B P8 SRR AT 2 input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
K
BB — T AR IR B B Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
BT BT 8 markets for identical assets or liabilities
) Bir e (B s (R AE
PHE)
BB — Hp B E Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
=Y KON lowest level input that is significant to the fair
ABIER (H value measurement is observable, either directly or
) AR A indirectly
BRI (7%
H=ER — Y SN iy Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
LY KON level input that is significant to the fair value
NGIE %-3:541F:14 measurement is unobservable
il i A AR A A
EI7i%
i A8 Y T B R R P R Y For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
EEMARENS  AEEREREG statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
BRGNS (R ER A transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
P FT R K Y Bl P reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
AMHR) - UEEHBEAGCRE significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
& 2 A o year.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset required (other
than deferred tax assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the

smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the

function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of year as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(@)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary

of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific

useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment over its estimated

useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Machinery 10%
Electronic equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Other vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 33%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.



B 5 R P
Notes to Financial Statements

ZERCFEFZH=4—H
31 December 2024

2. BT ) 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 WEEHEE &) 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

W R s LTS (4

Wy R A I A S TR L
J S B A 2 BRAT e R A4 37
it IRp A 1L TR (6L 45 C 4020 flE a8
FEATE R RS o Bt 65 B ok 1T
T % TE A% L T AR BE E 48 48 PO 7
AT L T A B E R B
KT 1 A LI ] (LA 238 -

L&Y%

BEW RGO R W& )A
B/ oE AR (T A 09 45 LA
DA B A R B AR PR A B R B e RR A i
G E AN EEYE - BE
WS T A (B 52 5 A )
Al o UK - LAY
WS AR T UL A TEASE -

BB B R BR BB K
KR LU A A g
RAKEFER 2 15 F LA 1L RERR <
ASEM (fF 5 b B AN ) AR
AMHRAERE > AL RO
o G E B - Kk
R 400 3 7 1 A i 4 s 1 (45 e
5 T 75O L SR T 2
BT FF AR IR TERE Yy 3€ B Y
R4 o

BB I A L
B R AR - B E
5 3 1 A A 5 A IS o
A BEAEAR AR TGS -

Property and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties include car park spaces held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation and leased properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases. Investment properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which

reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit

or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they
arise. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of

the retirement or disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of other intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for other
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each

financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of

5 years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in business combinations
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer
relationship has a finite useful life and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected useful lives, taking into
account the prior experience of the renewal pattern of property

management contracts, which is 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

()

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office buildings 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exetcising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to
be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in other income in profit or loss. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which

they are earned.
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental

to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for

as finance leases.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the lease is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic

rate of return over the lease terms.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition

exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Rental income derived from the Group’s sublease services is
presented as revenue and rental income derived from leasing of car

park spaces is presented as other income.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (“IFRS 157) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative

stand-alone selling prices.
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Leases (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from

lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through

forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease

as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently

measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set

out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the

business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date,

i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

U the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
U the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual

terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifecime ECL). The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are

more than 90 days past due.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking

information.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing

component, the Group applies the simplified approach in

calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group

does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a

loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on

its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies and interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as

well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net

basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of

meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any

reimbursement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of year of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the

passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of year, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which

the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of year between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

U when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business consolidation and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal

taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
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Income tax (Continued)

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
consolidation and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences; and

U in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of year and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of year and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be

recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected

to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed‘

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be

entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the

variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing

component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(a)  Property management services
For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly or quarterly basis
and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group
has a right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the

value of performance completed.

The Group charged property management fees in respect of
the property management services on a lump sum basis and

on a commission basis.

For property management services income from properties
managed on a lump sum basis, where the Group acts as
principal and is primarily responsible for providing the
property management services to the property owners,
the Group recognises the fees received or receivable from
property owners as its revenue and all related property

management costs as its cost of services.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Property management services (Continued)

For property management services income from properties
managed on a commission basis, the Group recognises the
revenue, which is calculated by a certain percentage of the
total property management fees received or receivable from
the property units on behalf of the property owners, for
arranging and monitoring the services as provided by other

suppliers to the property owners.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners include
sales assistance services, additional tailored services, sales
of goods, housing repair services, pre-delivery inspection
services to property developers, preliminary planning and

design consultancy services.

Revenue from value-added services to non-property owners
including sales assistance services, additional tailored
services customised, housing repair services, and pre-delivery
inspection services to property developers, which are billed
on a monthly or quarterly basis and are recognised as revenue

over time when the relevant services are rendered.

Revenue from preliminary planning and design consultancy
services is recognised at the point in time when such services
are rendered and accepted by the customer. Revenue from
sales of goods is recognised when the goods have been

delivered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Community value-added services
Community value-added services include home-living
services, car park management, rental assistance and other

services, and common area value-added services.

Revenue from home-living services is recognised when the
relevant services are rendered. Payment of the transaction is
due immediately when the community value-added services

are rendered.

Revenue from car park management, leasing assistance and
other services, and common area value-added services is
recognised when the related services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group.

Brand and management output services
Brand management output services are provided to property
owners and include consultancy services and tenant sourcing

services.

Consultancy services include market positioning, business
planning consultancy services and design and construction
consultancy services, which are billed on a monthly basis
and are recognised as revenue over time when the relevant

services are rendered.

For tenant sourcing services, the Group charges a pre-agreed
amount in respect of each lease agreement entered and the
revenue is recognised at a point in time when a tenant enters

into a lease agreement with the property owner.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income derived from leasing of car park spaces is recognised
on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised

as income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net

carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property
and equipment and other intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the

following criteria are met:

(a)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated

contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)

petformance obligations in the future;

()  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which

the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of

exchange ruling at the end of the reporting year.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary
items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group's
net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the net investment is
disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to
the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable
to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded
in OCIL

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency ate translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.

The functional currency of the Company is HK$ and certain
subsidiaries” functional currencies are currencies other than RMB.
These financial statements are presented in RMB because the
Group’s business is mainly conducted in the PRC. As at the end
of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each of the reporting period and their profits or losses are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to

those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.
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S

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the
information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in
its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting
events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose
the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be

made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends

are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the financial statements:
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3. HERERHAE R a0 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio which mainly includes the car park spaces in note
15. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life or head lease period of the commercial
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and accounts for the

contracts as operating leases.

Principal versus agent consideration for revenue from contracts

with customers

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those services to be provided by the

other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified service before that

service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified service provided by another party before
that service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified

setvices to be provided by the other party.

£ Annual Report 2024 171




785 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
SECONEFH=1+—H
31 December 2024

fh st AT SE 1k

SR 2 B R A B A A
R B 2 P 0 A O 1 B
W TR E T — (A B O E
E B M SR T M 17 TR T
B -

T A

AL B0 AR E TR R A B
{6 o % RL T BEAN SIS 2 o v B B4
e A R B (L o AN 2R T
P (IR 0 3 4 A 8067 9 T D R 2
HemaElEh s > IEER A/
BRDFHZEN S ENEME - R
FONEF+ZA=ZF—H > HENER
A NRH323,000,0007C  #E—L 71
AP FELG ©

$ 5 B WOk U B0 R

A% S T ) 988 A0 2 I o L 0 B MO
T JRE oS W ) KO B T £ M 4R
BRI AAREREANZEE
F o8 (B0 % 5 A1) 19 8 0 K |
o J5 A ) 06 45 AR 4 T A R S LK
A AR o A5 I R I A L
AW P R B JEE S A A 1R AR
BGITE - i A POR W BT
—AE W AT REEBUE A B N
Qe g B EAR - REEEAY
JEE S BB T A B B SR > 53 A W
e TERibE

AT AL T e AR A % - AR L K
TR M5 Bl 48 2 T 1Y AR 7 KA
it e MM RIBERNSES S Z B K
TE W A8 R D) 5 ) B o AR BRI R
o {5 B 4R A B R A8 IR T R R
REFFRABEMERZELEN - AH
AR BB 5 ENGRIA B BN B IR A
R FE A R 20 K BfEEE30(b) ©

172 EA M 4 B A A 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

3. HERERHAE RN a0 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill was
RMB323,000,000. Further details are given in note 16.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables
and due from related companies. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by customer type). The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated

and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs

on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 and 30(b).
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3. HERERHAE R a0 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
information about the deferred tax on the Group’s trade receivables is

disclosed in note 26.

Impairment of non-financial long-term assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets, including right-of-use assets, property
and equipment and other intangible assets at the end of year. These
non-financial long-term assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales or lease
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of

those cash flows.
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3. HERERHAE RN a0 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

At AN ()

BEWEA T

BEWE (EREFRA RIS
Y E R B R AR A BRI
R NVHFIIR > SR B R R M ELS -
BEMEN N FEIZEBILEERE
A8 (L 56 S A (BB (3 B o
VLI T ) S 3255 Y ST 1 £l (78
SE o %S BRI A R S F S ) T AR
HEt A SR BRI RN AL E & EY
KM AFEES > L RBRGEEER

W) S - L 17 98 R T B R R I
15 ¢

MR — A S R sk R

A [ 4 0 ) e E LR N PR S R
R RG> (R AR SR R (T B A
HAE]) G EER AR - R AT K
5 7% S T T S0 A8 07 R 05 e 2 A B
PG EEAM G - LB BME
A0t T AL 1 i A\ BT 7 B M S AT R
FIZR o R > 38 B aROM SR R B T A4
BTSRRI S nT B A1)
BRy (0 7 06T S 7 58 7 9 B R ) T
B ) BCE A ST I DL W B
o Ak B Mk A B (s AL I 9 DAY
AR IRE R WRT L E) > HIZEAE A 3 Al
A o B AU A B T T AR
1 T BB i A\ R (TS5 AR i
B A AN S AR o TR E
At at (HIBE G 2 =1 9 B L 15 I R o

174 M4 E A B 7] Zhenro Services Group Limited

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, mainly including car park spaces and the leased
commercial properties held as a right-of-use asset, are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value, details
of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these
properties by an independent and professionally qualified valuer using
property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
prevailing market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the Group's
investment properties included in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Details of the fair
value of investment properties are disclosed in note 15 to the financial

statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s

stand-alone credit rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services, value-added services to non-property owners,
community value-added services and commercial operational management
services. Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment information is

available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenue was generated in Mainland China and all of its
long-term assets/capital expenditure were located/incurred in Mainland

China. Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
customers under common control amounting to 10% or more of the

Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents income from property management services,
value-added services to non-property owners, community value-added

services and brand and management output services during the year.

An analysis of revenue and other income and gains is as follows:

R YLE —E =
2024 2023
ANR¥TF NRWTF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
HFEHMA Revenue from contracts with customers 1,065,245 1,095,253

HABARIFIA Revenue from other sources

— W AR S — Sublease services 48,688 50,250
Azt Total 1,113,933 1,145,503
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5. WA~ oAb Bt ) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Concinued)

EEEHWA Revenue from contracts with customers
i)  AHRBRAER (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
PEEE FEEME HEME  SMRER
ks ks ed ERE it
Value-added Brand and
Property  servicesto  Community — management
management  non-property  value-added output
services owners services services Total
ANEWFL  ARWFT  ARWFr  ARBFr  ARKFr
RMBU0O RMBU0O RMBU0O RMBU0O RMBU0O
“ETNE 2024
it i Type of services
F R Rendering of services 830,266 58,470 148,414 28,095 1,005,245
s Geographical market
s Mainland China 830,266 58,470 148414 28095 1,065,245
O Timing of revenue recognition
R R RERR A Revenue recognised over time 830,266 53423 32,388 24,433 940,510
TS P B A A Revenue recognised at a point in time - 5,047 116,026 3,662 124,735
bt Total 830,266 58,470 148,414 28095 1,065,245
Y 2023
s B Type of services
LR Rendering of services 798,346 95,724 143,892 57,201 1,095,253
o Geographical market
A Mainland China 798,346 95,724 143,892 51291 1,095,253
O Timing of revenue recognition
B Revenue recognised over time 798,346 88,869 32,009 51,450 970,674
R B RE A Revenue recognised at a point in time = 6,85 111,883 5,841 124,579
pLt Total 798,346 95,724 143,892 51291 1,095,293
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5. WA ~ JofbBoA BdE o) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Concinued)

BEAHWA (45) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

G AHFBAER () (i)
RN S NS £ i
MRS HAENERRIAS

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in

the current reporting period that was included in the contract

o liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
TR TPUE e
2024 2023
NS ANRHT 7T
RMB’000 RMB 000
Y38 MRS L B i R Property management services, and brand
B 2 s ARBs and management output services 163,903 154,974
(i1) BHET (ii)  Performance obligations
A A 4 10 B 40 35 AT ) S e A e Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
o summarised below:

VEY-#Y CVEE RV
7

SV R S I I 3 3 (B RS
s A%EEAERREENE
HRERBA > A B AL
E45 R L% A SR Z % F A
E(EAREE o 442 M O HE mT 1T
HHH > NG ZERR SRR
BRER AL -

I 1 (IR
PO T R S RS [ AR - R
B4 > HNS RS R SR B
FRIBHET -

Property management services and value-added services to

non-property Owners

For property management services and value-added services to
non-property owners, the Group recognises revenue in the amount
that equals the right to invoice which corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the Group’s performance to date on
a monthly or quarterly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not disclosing the remaining performance obligations

for these types of contracts.

Community value-added services

The services are rendered in a short period of time which is
generally less than a year and there was no unsatisfied performance

obligation at the end of each of the reporting period.
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5. WA ~ JofbBoA BdE ) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Concinued)

FRAHIWN (#) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) JBHHEE ) (ii)  Performance obligations (Continued)
A MR EF iy IR Brand and management output services
LS T R R S IR T For brand and management output services to property owners,
A B B A HE B L B8 SR A B BT the Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals the right
WA > I B EA L HIZ S to invoice which corresponds directly with the value to property
1k 4% 7 Bt 2 ) 36 £ B 40 B (ELAR owners of the Group’s performance to date on a monthly or
B o A B ATRER quarterly basis. The Group has elected the practical expedient for
% NYER 2SR S AR R R not disclosing the remaining performance obligations for these
MR- types of contracts.
H A Bl s Other income and gains
ZETUE e
2024 2023
ANRWFTFI ANRHT 7T
RMB’000 RMB 000
FEHA Interest income 661 1,611
LA Bl Government grants* 2,352 3,395
A A Rental income 2,596 2,677
BA(E RN HE R Value added tax additional deduction - 2,685
REHEMBEREIRA Finance income from finance leases 3,695 3,445
A8 1 R AR P Gain on derecognition of right-of-use
I 4 assets for a sublease 11,985 =
HAt Others 1,869 2,069
Ei b Total 23,158 15,840
g WE_Z-NWEFZA=+—H * During the year ended 31 December 2024, various government grants
4R BE > FAM A b A VL R have been received for operation in Jiangsu province, Fujian province and
E - mEA M LT RS Shanghai, Mainland China, to reward business petformance and support
Z EBUNHE B - 1 58 B % 3 [ operational development of enterprises in that area. There are no unfulfilled
A S 1 SE S 3R B SR LA conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

J& o %% B 0 A0 O R R 1
e AR o
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6. BRBE R s 3 6. LOSS BEFORE TAX
ASE BRI R IR 0B (FEA) B The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
TR
W31 “RTE “EFC=E
Notes 2024 2023
ARWTT ANRETT
RMB 000 RMB'000
458 PR £l A Cost of service provided* 571,134 557,071
VE T i Depreciation of property and
equipment 13 3,957 2,528
ARG e Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(a) 1,175 3,870
LAY B 2 6 Amortisation of other
intangible assets 17 7,464 7,242
AFAHEAEFEOHEMK  Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 14(c) 3,780 2,989
2 ER Auditor’s remuneration 2,000 2,600
SR E B Impairment of financial assets, net
il AL MR IR (B Impairment/(reversal of impairment)
#)) of finance lease receivables, net 19 1,344 (2,166)
B o e B o (B A Impairment of trade receivables, net 20 31,181 42312
RE ST R 7 T g v A Impairment of due from related
parties, net 30 5,169 59,239
LA R o T Uk Impairment of other receivables, net 21 1,197 499
TR Impairment of goodwill 16 214,777 -
1 BAR I B = Employee benefit expense
(BLFG# 3 AT (including directors’
NEFM (FizEs)) and chief executive’s
remuneration (note 8)):
TE - #4 LH b Wages, salaries and other allowances 353,942 371,298
IRREFTE MR At e a A Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 57,810 59,887
st Total 411,752 431,185
3 JT R MRS ) AR i A B B AR R P A T8 * Cost of services provided represents “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
A | NESEE BRI - YR of profit or loss excluding employee benefit expense, depreciation of property and
ST R T S A A equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortisation of other intangible
EEHRS assets.
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7. WEA 7. FINANCE COSTS
AE AT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
TR TR -
2024 2023
AR¥Fr ANRBF
RMB000 RMB 000
SRAT M H A 2R B Interest on bank and other borrowings 3,421 3,799
g
R & A B Interest expense on lease liabilities 9,943 2,956
Rast Total 13,364 6,755
8. Y Rl AT B 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION
1RYE E A - B TG 383(1) Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
@)~ () (OBROBEURAT (HBEEEF pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
RGN I I I A AR R the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
BETHABEMLT (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
ZERTYLE —E-=
2024 2023
AR ARBTIL
RMB000 RMB’000
M Fees 600 600
HAthm 4 Other emoluments:
Ba o A R EYEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,956 2,314
ERAEAL Performance related bonuses 698 337
BIRE RT3 BAL e 4 A Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 334 277
/Nt Subtotal 2,988 2,928
Hst Total 3,588 3,528
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S. WHEBEHITBABFHM S DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(#%) REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) WyEPLTES (a) Independent non-executive directors
NI T B IR PATE RIS The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
mr year were as follows:

ZETJUE —E =
2024 2023
ANRIWFFIT ANEHT 7T
RMB’000 RMB 000
WAL RATES Independent non-executive directors:
I o B SR A Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 200 200
iRk Mr. Zhang Wei 200 200
R8s Mr. Ma Haiyue' 200 200
WEL A+ Ms. Wei Qing? - -
Mwt Total 600 600
! B HEAE R —F ZIME+ A ! Mr. Ma Haiyue resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
=+—HBHE AL R L BAT Company with effect from 31 December 2024.
¢
? BELTR_F_NETZA = : Ms. Wei Qin was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
T — AR R AN A B I the Company with effect from 31 December 2024.
fids o
A R A8 S0 At B S 8 ST JE AT There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
B (—F =4 M8 o non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
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S. WHEBEHITBABFHM s DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(#F) REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) BATEHFRIFERGESF (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
e 11/l 2024
Ha o R Rk 4EHA
e B BRAEAL He Rt gaA Hiaag
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance- contributions and Total

Fees  benefits in kind  related bonuses social welfare remuneration

ANEETE  ARETT  AEETT  AERETT  ARKETT

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
WiES Executive directors:
B Mr. Deng Li' - 896 418 167 1,481
B iy Mr. Wang Wei? - 860 280 167 1,307
et Subtotal - 1,756 698 334 2,788
3F$}1Lﬁi$ : Non-executive director:
Blfasest Mr. Liu Wei Liang - 200 - - 200
At Total - 1,956 98 334 2,988
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31 December 2024

S. WHEBEHITBABFHM S DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(%) REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) BITEFRIEGES @ (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)
e S 2023
e AR Bk H
e Eaf] BHAAL HF B RA Hi A
Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance-  contributions and Total
Fees  benefitsinkind  related bonuses social welfare femuneration
ANR#TFr  AR¥TT  ARFTFL  ARWTT  ARFTFx
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
e Executive directors:
B Mr. Deng Li' - 453 202 85 740
TR Mr. Wang Wei’ - 43 135 85 643
Ey i M. Kang Hong’ - 560 - 66 626
PRI fe k¢ Mr. Lin Xiaotong’ - 668 - 41 709
Nt Subtotal - 2,104 337 277 2,718
FHfES Non-executive directors:
py(lTit Mr. Huang Xianzhi - 10 - - 10
Bifes ek Mr. Liu Wei Liang - 200 - - 200
it Subtotal - 210 - - 210
At Total - 2314 337 277 2928
! BIEEER —Z =4 tH_H ! Mr. Deng Li was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
HEZAT B A T AT E H AT officer of the Company with effect from 2 July 2023.
B -
2 FROEAR -F-=FLAZH ? Mr. Wang Wei was appointed as an executive director with effect from 2
BRAERAITEDR - July 2023.
3 REEER -Z-=4tH_"H ’ Mr. Kang Hong resigned as an executive director with effect from 2 July
RHEM TS - 2023.
4 MR AR - FE =4 tH = . M. Lin Xiaotong resigned as an executive director and the chief executive
H &R 2wl 9047 2 3 39647 BUAR officer of the Company with effect from 2 July 2023.
oo
5 AR EER - E T =E—H > Mr. Huang Xianzhi resigned as a non-executive director and the chairman
T H R A AT S of the board of the Company with effect from 20 January 2023.
FELE -
A PRI AT A 3 S B R AT BN B There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
TS 5 [R)JR8 T E A A S  11 22 B executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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9. Tk H AR H 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FENTLG R HTIE B BEmAEE (2 The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
LS ) s BN RES (2023: one director), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
HR E KRS o BEAE AL Bl # S8 0 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
EATBANBMBR T =4 (ZFZZ4F (2023: four) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
£, B e Fr AR B R A AR BE B SBREI n executive of the Company, are as follows:
T
e~ 11 - —E =
2024 2023
ANRIFT L ANB¥HTFIT
RMB000 RMB 000
g B EYREF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,534 2,455
ERACAL Performance related bonuses 547 663
RIS F B S AL g A Pension scheme contributions and social welfare 377 428
At Total 2,458 3,546
DL RN I AT The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
BN B f e R B AT employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:
(SN
Number of employees
R —E =
2024 2023
500,001%?5?1,000,000%7—5 HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 3 4
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10. Wifse 10. INCOME TAX

7% S 1 A7 RE A 42 (B A B 2 W RE I AR
B P AE BUBS 7 A 0 [ A R A A
AR H MR ERUN TSR - RIEPH SR
5 o S AT AR A LR BR B -
ST T B 2 T I B A R e B L
JBCSE ) B8 2~ ) 0 5 AN AT T T A -
7% 4 T T 7 s i T 1 B I 2 ) 9
BRI ASBL > R JLR S G R A
5 AT A R ) -

PR — DX R R 25% - A%
B T W 2 R S A NP 4 3 (T
BMAERD EREEGE > P
E20% > W& ERKIZILERBA
25%350% it HHBIR « ALK —
(A T 2 ) 2 7% v 8 7 3 3 [ ) e
P AL I A 99 K9 1 BT AR BL
& o

The Group is entitled to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising
in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands are not
subject to any income tax. The Group's subsidiary incorporated in Hong
Kong was not liable for income tax as it did not have any assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the reporting period.

The general corporate income tax rate in PRC is 25%. Certain of the
Group's subsidiaries enjoy the preferential income tax treatment for Small
and Micro Enterprise (“SLE”) with the income tax rate of 20% and are
eligible to have their tax calculated based on 25% or 50% of their taxable
income. One of the Group's subsidiaries is located in Economic Area of
Guangxi North Bay in western regions of China and enjoy the preferential

income tax rate of 9%.

TR —E =

2024 2023
ANBRHFT7C ANRB T
RMB000 RMB000
R — rh 3 Current — Mainland China:
FER Charge for the year 37,900 34,227
IRAIERLIA (P 3E26) Deferred tax (note 26) (7,316) (8,887)
A N IE S AR Total tax charge for the year 30,584 25,340
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10. PifdBt ) 10. INCOME TAX (Continued)
A 5 A/ 7RI B /A
A A ey E T
B0 o LB D 0 T D 0 S
R 0 B A8 B SRR A T

A reconciliation of tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax expense at the

effective tax rate for the reporting period is as follows:

e~ 11 - —FE =

2024 2023
NRWFIL AR BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BB i s 16 Loss before tax (204,812) (56,596)
Ik E B R EH R At the statutory tax rate (51,203) (14,149)
FEE B B R P B Lower tax rate for specific provinces or enacted
Fi % by local authority 8,099 2,455
NGIEiba Expenses not deductible for tax 56,032 3,226
LA B B 1R Tax losses utilised from previous years (769) (706)
AT R g 2 A Temporary differences not recognised 10,053 26,666
MR BE R Tax losses not recognised 8,372 7,848
WAL BB BB GTER Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate
BB (HE %) 30,584 25,340
11. JB& 11. DIVIDENDS
FERAERIREH WM E R The directors do not recommend any interim or final dividend in the

SRS - respective of the period/year.
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12. BAAYSBBRA AMENS 12, LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

4 7% | ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
T R A i 48 4 AR T AR B 0 R iR The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for
FiA AL 39 A s 48 S 4R R B 84T 8 the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
JBINHEF- 24 %41,037,500,000 % (ZF Z= weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,037,500,000 (2023:
4 1,037,500,000 %) 7t o 1,037,500,000) outstanding during the year.
AEBRBE_F_NER-F=4F The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during
T A= H IR E R BT B the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
TEHRH @ A -
G RIEA BT R LRI H The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:
TR TPULE —&ET =
2024 2023
ANEH T ANRWT T
RMB000 RMB 000
[ Loss
AR REAEE T AR EE/A T Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
e A AL R of the parent, used in the basic loss
per share calculation (235,915) (81,189)
et 8 H
Number of shares
TR e
2024 2023
i Shares
EE:Xadie %N Py Weighted average number of ordinary shares
A A L B T A i o outstanding during the year used in the basic
R loss per share calculation 1,037,500,000  1,037,500,000
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13. W38 Beik it 13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
K& BTl HE O ERRE  HEWEEE it
Electronic Motor Other Leasehold
Machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment  improvements Total

NEHTE  ANEBTE  ARKTE ARRTT  AKETT  ARKTZ
RMBU®O  RMBUOO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBUW

“RCNEL-A=4-H 31 December 2024
REZZ - —H At 1 January 2024
i Cost 1,260 12439 762 281 9,092 26374
ZitiE Accumulated depreciation (808) 9,247) (468) (1,896) (8,239) (20,658)
e Net cartying amount 45 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
RZZ_MWE-A-H> At 1 January 2024, net of
b 27 accumulated depreciation 452 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
hE Additions 62 1,065 195 409 9,286 11,017
& Disposals - (102) @ 23) - (131)
ERGHETE (ko) Depreciation provided during the
year (note 6) (122) (1422) (150) (383) (1,880) (3,957)

REZZIEFZAZF—H At31 December 2024, net of
R 25t accumulated depreciation 302 2733 335 926 8,259 12,645

WEZTIAEFZAZT—H " At31 December 2024:

WA Cost 1322 13,042 949 2,909 18378 36,600
ZilinE Accumulated depreciation (930) (10309) (614) (1983) (10,119) (23955)
IR Net carrying amount 302 INEL 335 926 8,259 12,645
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13. P38 Bkt i o) 13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

K& BTl g Rk HEWERE Bt
Electronic Motor Other Leasehold
Machinery equipment vehicles equipment  improvements Total
ANREFL  ARBFr  AREFr ARWFr  AREFr  ARWFr
RMBOOO RMBO0O RMBO00 RMBU00 RMBO00 RMBU00
“RCEEACAET-A 31 December 2023
RZF_=F——H At 1 January 2023
i Cost 1,405 11,674 694 2,694 8,295 24762
ZiinE Accumulated depreciation (858) (8.236) (381) (1,561) (7,800) (18836)
IR Net carrying amount 547 3,438 313 1,133 495 5,926
R-Z-ZE—A—H At 1 January 2023, net of
IR 25t accumulated depreciation 547 3438 313 1133 495 5,926
BE Additions 55 1310 lli 184 797 2423
i3 Disposals @ (61) (6) (34) - (10)
ERGHETE (ko) Depreciation provided during the
year (note 6) (146) (1,495) (90) (358) (439) (2528)
REFZZEFTAZF=H At31 December 2023, net of
TR2HE accumulated depreciation 452 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
REZEZZEFTAZF—H:  At31 December 2023:
WA Cost 1,260 12439 762 281 9,092 26374
23tk Accumulated depreciation (808) (9,.247) (468) (1,896) (8.239) (20658)
IR E Net carrying amount 452 3,192 294 925 853 5,716
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14. flfg 14. LEASES
AR 1] R R AN The Group as a lessee
AL BT BT R T B 5 The Group leases certain units in buildings as its office buildings, with
KR HEMAF=21F - lease terms ranging from three to five years.
QB R 1S BT B R o AR SR R L T U AE As disclosed in note 15, the Group leased four commercial properties
— R 3T (57 5 69 B8 7 ) AELA Az located in Mainland China from property owners, which are related
& P B R S Y I SEA 2 [ PR parties of the Group in January 2024 for a fixed term of 2 years,
Rt HIRZFZDUFE—Am =% and leased a commercial property located in Mainland China from a
T LR A A — R third-party property owner in January 2024 for a fixed term of 11 years.
[l 52 M PR A% 11 4F o AR BA T B B 46 H The Group recognised right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
TR A G R & A e R investment properties and lease liabilities at the lease commencement
AR - date.
@ MHEEE (@)  Right-of-use assets
A A A B A 2 B £ HE O O R T The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
{E B SEBINE - movements during the year are as follows:
ZRTPULE B
2024 2023
N ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
HAKE Office buildings
A—H—H At 1 January 1,761 4,382
N Additions 1,454 1,249
PreEd (ko) Depreciation charge (note 6) (1,175) (3,870)
wt-H=+—H At 31 December 2,040 1,761
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14. ﬁﬁ (45) 14. LEASES (Continued)
AREEAE R AN () The Group as a lessee (Continued)
by MEAME (b)  Lease liabilities
A B B IR T (E B The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during
mr the year are as follows:
TR TUE TET S
2024 2023
ANRIWFFIT ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
JA—H— H BRI Carrying amount at 1 January 4,020 72,388
A New leases 217,350 1,249
A R HERR Y 1 5L Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 9,943 2,956
(E: Payments (31,176) (72,573)
A+ H =+ — H IR Carrying amount at 31 December 200,137 4,020
ki Analysed into:
R & Al Current lease liabilities 81,446 3,121
R E &GS Non-current lease liabilities 118,691 899
TS B B H 24 52 0 2k The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 33.
33 °
(c) TESHER A B E NS H (¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
WmE are as follows:
TR e
2024 2023
AR ANRIFT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
HEAENE Interest on lease liabilities 9,943 2,956
RS E e & Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1,175 3,870
A BRI 1 BR 52 Expense relating to short-term leases
(FFATTHEI ) (included in administrative expenses) 3,780 2,989
J 1 £ TE AR 1 A B Total amount recognised in profit or loss 14,898 9,815
d) MEZHLHEEERY (d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(b) to
B R MEE29(D) © the financial statements.
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14. ME @) 14. LEASES (Continued)

ARGLE R AN

A [ 4 AL <2 B e AL % o I A Y
T S 26 1 2B O Bl OO S A
T2 A5 il A B R 45 42 e [ E TH A
o SO Ry AE P E R Y 8 5
Y 5 W 28 T 43 EL Y TR B A A
DA B i AL 39 [ A R R AR AR B B AT
TR o AR AE B HE R Y AR T VR AR A 4
e A FRFEARA > BEEs AR
#48,688,00070 (ZF =4 : AR
50,250,0007G) ©

UEAN » A IR RS AL S A PR B
TR A S (MR s) - B
5B A ALK EY 2 o R — ik
BORM T AR 4 > AR B A
TE AR R 4 o AR 4 R S 0 B2 S 7
SEWETH S IR AR AR R EE A AU
MR/ ANRY2,596,00070 (ZF =
o NR¥2,677,00070)

REFZWEFZA=+—H > A%&H
A 2R 2R 23 [ AR ¢ BELECAEL S A A T 4 4
B ENBUCRISBA AT

The Group as a lessor

The Group leased out retail stores in commercial properties in Mainland
China under subleasing arrangements to receive rental income. Leases
of retail stores are either based solely on fixed lease payments or contain
variable lease payments that are based on a pre-agreed percentage
of sales recognised by the tenants and the minimum annual lease
payment that is fixed over the lease term. Rental income arising from
subleasing arrangements recognised by the Group was recorded in
revenue, with a total amount of RMB48,688,000 during the year (2023:
RMB50,250,000).

In addition, the Group leases its owned investment properties (note 15)
including car park spaces and commercial properties in Mainland China
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income arising from car park spaces and commercial properties recognised
by the Group was recorded in other income, with a total amount of
RMB2,596,000 during the year (2023: RMB2,677,000).

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with

its tenants are as follows:

R

2024

AT

RMB’000

—4ER Within one year 38,504
R — Over one year 97,737
At Total 136,241
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15. BeEWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

iR S

E
HpE W HREEE At

Leased

commercial

properties —

Car park right of use
spaces Properties assets Total
ANRWTL  ARWTT ARBTT ARKTT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000

“FINEFZA=ES—H 31 December 2024
= HA—H R Carrying amount at 1 January 164,600 - - 164,600
AR P R A Net loss from a fair value adjustment (32,960) (550) (22,089) (55,599)
& Disposals (6,300) - - (6,300)
RE Additions - 4,650 140,389 145,039
A=t R E Carrying amount at 31 December 125,340 4,100 118,300 247,740
“REEFZAEH 31 December 2023

fiv—H—H iR (E Carrying amount at 1 January 21,600 - 64,590 86,190
NTERE e TR Net loss from a fair value adjustment = = (64,590) (64,590)
(R W E Additions (from acquisition) 143,000 = = 143,000
“tZA=+— B iR E Carrying amount at 31 December 164,600 = = 164,600

AL EYEGITEN - MEYHE
B T oW RR A G R E (TG D) B
Al o A 4 I AR AR T MR A9 L A
W (HEE14) o ZSFYEH AR H B
i -

The Group’s investment properties consist of car park spaces, two
properties, and five leased commercial properties which are recognised as
right-of-use (“ROU") assets and subleased by the Group under operating

leases (note 14). These properties are situated in Mainland China.

REE_F_NEF A =+—H I
FE o IE 2% 3 7 A [ i) A% 42 B8 S T O )
3 DA S A & R A 4R B A5 O N R
4,650,000 7C °

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Zhenro Properties Group
transferred two properties to the Group in order to settle the payables due
to the Group amounted to RMB4,650,000.

REEZFZNEFZA =+ —HIEF
EoHAEEERE AN EEY
2SRRI B R N — E I R 114 years and one leased commetcial property with lease term of 11 years (note
AR SR € (MfE14) - 14).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the additions of right-of-use assets

mainly comprised four leased commercial properties with lease terms of 2
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15. BeEWE @) 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continucd)

RN B EME LR B I HELE
Al (L RO R AT A TN Kb A
R (T AT 1) AT I FEAG i =
ZoWEF A= HEMS AR
247,740,000 7 © A< B 1) 155 4R U s A
JOw TR RE BB AREEYEN S
FRA (B AN ER AL (B AT A8 o BRI A
T A B L A R
AT o A 45 I 7 AR BV S AR L
5 A B LA (P ok AT B S
(B I 5 (B A3 B A (B A5 SR A T oy

WoFEFT " H=E+—H > AREE
M T AR (40 N R 21,000,000 7T (&~
=4 NRH21,600,0007T) M BB
EHEHFE £ A 48 B 42 5t B8R AT R HAth
A YE LR (B eE2s) o

AEFMBEYER _F_NEF A=
+—HEFEREIT

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2024
based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited (“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at RMB247,740,000. The Group’s senior finance manager and the
chief financial officer decide which external valuer is responsible for the
external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s senior finance manager and the
chief financial officer discuss with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed for financial
reporting.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB21,000,000 (2023:
RMB21,600,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 25).

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2024
are as followings:

U & G ARG E A 2
Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
0 ) 3 R I L Underground, Tianjin Ruijinyuan, FHLY; AT A
Ktk asit — g Xiqing District, Tianjin, Mainland China Car park Medium term 100%
B A BT R A P T — 1 Floor, Longsheng Building No.23 Hongwu {5 EL3; R 4)
UEE K 23 SERE K E road, Nanjing Jiangsu, Mainland China Car park Medium term
A—JE 100%
FR B A T R R A T Room 6, Building 28, No. 45 Luotang Road, [EE3 A
F 0 I B2 K 45 5% 28 M Jianye District, Nanjing Jiangsu, Commercial Short term
6E Mainland China 100%
HA B VTR A 8 Unit 201, Building 29, Shangrong Yuyuan, e R
S A B 29 1 Xinwu District, Wuxi Jiangsu, Residential ~ Short term
201858 Mainland China 100%
Hh B A R A T No.168 North, Shanggi road, Fuzhou Mawei HES A
B 168 HERR M Zhenro Fortune Centre, Fuzhou Fujian, Commercial  Short term
BREERME L Mainland China 100%
H B A A A A AR T NO.18 Xinbao road, Fuzhou Mabao Zhenro [HES A
HIREE 18 E AR B IR Fortune Centre, Fuzhou Fujian, Commercial ~ Short term
IESREFA R Mainland China 100%
HR B A AR R T T No.1688 Liyuan East Road, Putian Fortune (5 FERT k)
7 B R B 16885 H Centre, Putian Fujian, Mainland China Commercial  Short term
IR L 100%
rH R A b g 7 R I T No.61 Chezhan road, Rong Times Square, [HES AR 4
B IR 61 SRR R Zhuzhou Hunan, Mainland China Commercial Medium term 100%
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15. BEEWIE @) 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
NP8 JE 2 Fair value hierarchy
TRAAAREBRTEYEN AT EH 2 The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
JE the Group’s investment properties:

REZTMEZAZ A BRI TR A PR
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using

bk EXTEE  EAATEE

i LN ‘¢ BABH it

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

(5% (5=%) (5=%)

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
NRWTE  ARWTFE NRHTx ANRHTx
RMB000 RMB 100 RMB000 RMB000

HERHA TR - Recurring fair value measurement for:
- HEREN % — Leased commercial propetties

— [  right of use assets - - 118,300 118,300

o E ~ Properties - - 4100 4100

— By — Car park spaces - - 125,340 125,340
At Tota - - 247,740 247,740

REFZZEFZA=+—RERU TR AFET 2
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
R BEXURE  EXATEE
v (| LN G LN ¢ it
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(—#) (E=4) (F=5)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
NRH T ANBH T NRH T NR# T
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
HEREAFE = Recurring fair value measurement for:

— Hifi — Car park spaces - - 164,600 164,600
WARAEE > 88— 4L — NP EEE During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
2 [N SRR o 5 = 4R N R A B between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023:
(CZFT=5 ) o Nil).
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15. BeEWE @)
WNFAE G (45)
BT 2 2 40 361 0 7 1 1 06

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summaty of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs

I B A A to the valuation of investment properties:
ity BRATRAE SRk T
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
“ROmE “FTCR
2024 2023
aifi RERDEGOTRETSLRER  BEELNTSEE (TERERR AR 63,0072 ARH99.0007E
HR B TARRURMARYE  AFEER) NRE 23200078 AR 27000070
ki
Car patk spaces Direct comparison method-based on market ~ Market unit price per lo (the higher the RMB63,000 to RMB99,000 to
observable transactions of similar car parks market unit price, the higher the fair value) RMB252,000 RMB270,000
and adjusted to reflect the conditions of the
subject properties
ES BRI TBETSAER  BEELNTSRE THREER AR 23,0007 RER
HiEMGE  TAREURMARE AR B 7600078
ki
Properties Direct comparison method-based on market ~ Market unit price per property (the higher the RMB23,000 to NA
observable transactions of similar properties  market unit price, the higher the fair value) RMB76,000
and adjusted to reflect the conditions of the
subject properties
HEHEETH ERVEDETAEERAGTS SR (AR 6.5%%7.5% AER
il BEMAEEESTSERFER &R AHERE)
]
ROU assets under Income approach -based on market rents of all ~ Market yield expected (the higher of the market 6.5%t07.5% NA
operating lease lettable units of the properties, assessed yield expected, the lower of the fair value)
and discounted at the market yield expected
BREFAN T ERE ARH287E RER
(B eE » AFHERE) ARH6.07C
Assessed prevailing market rents, per square RMB2.8 to RMBG6.0 NA

T3 W i 3R R T B A SR
SFERIESE N

196 EARMRHEEEA R AF Zhenro Services Group Limited

meter e day (the higher the prevailing

market rents, the higher the fair value)

A significant decrease in the market yield would result in a significant

increase in the fair value of the investment properties.
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16. W% 16. GOODWILL

R B
2024 2023
AW T ABH T
RMB 000 RMB 000
it —H— A IREE Carrying amount at 1 January 537,777 537,777
[ 2R Impairment of goodwill (214,777) -
RTZA=ZT—HORAEE  Net cartying amount at 31 December 323,000 537,777
BHZA=+—H: At 31 December:
A Cost 766,626 766,626
ZEHBE Accumulated impairment (443,626) (228,849)
R T VR Net carrying amount 323,000 537,777

PR 2 1k 1 ek

R AT R AN R 292,958,000 70
(ZF =4 0 AR¥501,324,00070)
1F 5% T 3 B 4 7 A B A B i R R A
BB A R¥214,777,00000 (—F
AR ) o A ] R T AR RO AR (E
FHRLEE o 1% RO A
TS 5 8 At AP T AT 0 R 4
W5 T O B 4 A TR o b RS
T35 36 T J5 7S i 35 0 R AR i )
TEAE T M B 4 i A B A B R 2R
BB R R FEEA TR > BB & E
A B TR T R 2R B 4 U AR W o
Wt > AREEPEE T UET A
St —HIEEERERBEER AR
214,777,0007C ( = F “=4F © #E) o

Impairment testing of goodwill

An impairment loss of RMB214,777,000 (2023: Nil) based on the
recoverable amount of RMB292,958,000 (2023: RMB501,324,000) was
recognised on goodwill in relation to the CGU of Zhenro Commercial.
The recoverable amount has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period prepared by the management with the
engagement of an independent valuer, JLL. Due to the intense market
competition and cyclical fluctuations in the real estate market, revenue
growth rates and gross profit margin for the CGU of Zhenro Commercial
decreased as compared to the budget, which resulted in a corresponding
decrease in the expected future cash flows of the CGU. As a result, the
Group recognised an impairment loss of RMB214,777,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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16. BiE ) 16. GOODWILL (Continued)
T 2 Ik FEL R 0 Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Bl A WA FEEH R R TR AERE MBI (BAT)
Annual
revenue  Gross profit Terminal Discount rate
CGU Principal business Goodwill  growth rate margin  growth rate (pre-tax)
ARWFTC
RMB'000

“RTNEFZA=T—H
31 December 2024
TLHRE R eS8
Jiangsu Aitao Property management 19,507 3% 6.6~9.6% 23% 16.2%
AR AR /eS8
Jiangsu Sutie Property management 40,030 3% 36.7% 2.3% 16.6%
RT3 [CES/E Segi
Zhenro Commercial Commercial property

management 263,463 54~11.7%  34.0~48.4% 2.3% 15.9%
“ECEEYZA=TH
31 December 2023
ILRRE TR WEEH
Jiangsu Aitao Property management 19,507 3% 13.5% 2.5% 18.0%
TLRRAR WREH
Jiangsu Sutie Property management 40,030 3% 36.2% 2.5% 18.1%
IERR% [EES/ES £:
Zhenro Commercial Commercial property

management 478,240 6~19%  42.8~51.2% 25% 17.5%
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16. W2 @) 16.

T Rk A )

b e L PR 0 5
T BAOEAT o 5 T8 B AT B
{00 L5 03 R (B
LT BB 09 45 TR E BB AT

MELR — P IR B R B BRBLAT G R %
Sl F e BEL A 2857 A I B 5 SRR

Wedn AF SRR — I AERAG B IR AR Y B
SR AL A AR Y R AR A AT R
(AT A Bz — -

B — R E 7 AL O A B A R
FERER B TR ~ 206U B A
JRAR o %G BRSO W TR X A KL
T 1 L B M) S AR AE W] 4 KT A R

Mot R — KRBT EER > &
R REM A A23% (ZF =
2.5%) °

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of the
above-mentioned CGUs. The following describes each key assumption on
which management had based its cash flow projections of the CGUs to

undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific

risks relating to the relevant unit.

Annual revenue growth rate — The predicted revenue growth rate of the
CGUs for the five years subsequent to the date of assessment is one of the

assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations.

Gross profit margin — The basis used to determine the estimated
gross profit margin assigned is the staff costs, subcontractor costs and
other operating costs. The assumptions reflect past experience and
management’s commitment to maintain its gross profit margin at an

acceptable level.
Terminal growth rate — The terminal growth rate was estimated to be

2.3% (2023: 2.5%) which has taken into consideration the prevailing

industry practice.
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16.

0 IEZ MR 4E A R A Zhenro Services Group Limited

P2 )

TR 2 P Al (4
RoBomET = =+—H > B
] 4 48 A 0 D 2 L 100 22 %8
SRR BRI T ;

TLRRE
TLRR AR 8
E4Em%

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Details of the headroom measured by excess of the recoverable amount
over the carrying amount of the CGU as at 31 December 2024 are set out

as follows:
TR
2024
ARETFIT
RMB 000
Jiangsu Aitao 12,136

Jiangsu Sutie 9,899
Zhenro Commercial =

22,035

A% 5 B0 LT 36 TR Ol U e AT
BRI o T RIB AR BT A H A
SRR H BT ] B A EB0R
“ERCPEF A= AAMER
TR LA 4 7 A B 67 4 T i ]
B RHARE EAFRAERE
B~ Km R R BB R sk

21 -

Management of the Group has undertaken sensitivity analysis on
the impairment test of goodwill. The following table sets forth the
hypothetical changes to annual revenue growth rate, gross profit margin,
terminal growth rate or discount rate that would, in isolation (with all
other variables remained constant), have caused the recoverable amount
of CGUs of which goodwill was impaired to be equal to their carrying
amount as at 31 December 2024:

AR TLRR BRI IES 5
Zhenro
Jiangsu Aitao Jiangsu Sutie Commercial

S A A 1R R A Decrease in annual revenue
growth rate 9.7% 3.5% A
NA
EA R Decrease in gross profit margin 2.0% 3.4% Nl
NA
FeSp R SR IS Decrease in terminal growth rate 8.9% 2.1% A
NA
MBI Increase in discount rate 6.6% 2.0% A
NA

ALEAEHER S R EER
FERRR AT & B v] Re s B3 A
AL R T ST R R Y R T
B A BT Y AT i [B] R o R
FoNER_F_=FF A=A
F o A B B o 20 VR 35 T I
RRBR B I AT P B

The management of the Group believes that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions of the value-in-use calculation would
not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the
CGUs of Jiangsu Aitao and Jiangsu Sutie. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, the management of the Group determined that no impairment of
goodwill should be recognised for Jiangsu Aitao and Jiangsu Sutie.
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17. JAbSETE ¥ 17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
g KPR At
Customer
Software relationship Total
AREFI ANRETI ARETFI
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000

ZRZEFZAZF—H 31 December 2024
R_F_ME-H—H : At 1 January 2024:

JiA Cost 6,700 61,021 67,721
Rt Accumulated amortisation (4,578) (25,697) (30,275)
R 3HE Net carrying amount 2,122 35,324 37,446

AZEZNE—~A—H# Carrying amount at 1 January 2024

AR i 2,122 35,324 37,446

A Additions 602 — 602

SR EHEEES (M5E6) Amortisation provided during

the year (note 6) (1,362) (6,102) (7,464)

e S 11 Carrying amount at 31 December 2024

=t H IR (E 1,362 29222 30,584
REZZEF—A At 31 December 2024:

=8

JA Cost 7,302 61,021 68,323

R Accumulated amortisation (5,940) (31,799) (37,739)

R BHE Net carrying amount 1,362 29,222 30,584
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17. JABSETE G () 17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continucd)
i KFRIR st
Customer
Software relationship Total
AR¥ T AR¥ T ANRET
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000

—— —

ZZF Y ZH=Z+—H 31 December 2023
WoE - =F—H—H: At 1 January 2023:

JA Cost 6,865 61,021 67,886
2T Accumulated amortisation (3,594) (19,595) (23,189)
ARV Net carrying amount 3,271 41,426 44,697

PR =ZE—H—HK Carrying amount at 1 January 2023

fRI(H 3,271 41,426 44,697

NE Additions 546 — 546

& Disposal (555) - (555)

SENEHEEES (MEEo) Amortisation provided during

the year (note 6) (1,140) (6,102) (7,242)

R_ZF_=F+_H Carrying amount at 31 December 2023

=t—H R E 2,122 35,324 37,446
W_F_=%+_A At 31 December 2023:

== ¢

A Cost 6,700 61,021 67,721

ZaHEES Accumulated amortisation 4,578) (25,697) (30,275)

BRIV Net carrying amount 2,122 35,324 37,446
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18. R A H H B 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
R e
2024 2023
AEH T ABH T
RMB 000 RMB 000
Ik B E Share of net assets 771 1,071
AL S AR FRFNT Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:
AR A P AT HE
A Al K 5 S L E AR FERH)

Percentage of

ownership interest

Place of registration attributable to the
Name and business Group Principal activities
AU T R S LA R A R R e A 3t 489% ES et
A T RV S A PR F] PRC/Mainland China 48% Property management
PR ST RS A R ] R/ e A 3 49% /ESgL
A S R A B PRC/Mainland China 49% Property management
A TR0 B SRRk T 5 A R 2 R o A 49% YEER
AR 2 0 e R Sk i M A R ] PRC/Mainland China 49% Property management
e T T S L RS A PR 2 ) PR 49% YEEE
TR T A U ARBs A PR A ) PRC/Mainland China 49% Property management
AL A T 2 B B R IR A A ) A The Group’s shareholdings in the associates comprise equity shares held
EHEAFRA o through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
T e Bl At A4 B R O TS A The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the
RIS ER Group's associates that are not individually material:
e S 11 % —E =
2024 2023
- o ARHTIT
RMB’000 RMB000
TGS F A 4R Share of the associates’ losses for the year (300) (109)
NGRS F I A T s 1R AR AR Share of the associates’ total comprehensive loss (300) (109)
AR E A R Z AR Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
HRE T AR investments in the associates 771 1,071
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19. b AL EE HE oSk o8

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

=l
2024
AR A A B
REWCEK T B
Present value
of minimum

finance lease

—E=
2023

B AR &
FECHOR

Minimum

finance lease

receivables receivables
ANR#Fr NRBFr
RMB 000 RMB 000
Al A B BSR4 Finance lease receivables comprise:
—4E R Within one year 43,294 44,435
A —FE D R AR More than one year but not more than five years 4,256 4,949
B LA H D4 More than five years but not more than ten years 4,895 7,005
52,445 56,389
THERE % Gross investment in the lease AEH N/IA 56,389
B R BRI A Less: Unearned finance income AR N/A (3,944)
FREST S AR B 3R B ME Present value of minimum lease payment
receivables 52,445
R ENEY it Less: Allowance for credit loss (1,344)
51,101
T Analysed as:
B Current 42,186
JE RN EA Non-current 8,915
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31 December 2024

19.

20.

g AL B BGR E )

il L 5 O S Ok M 4 43
wr

19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Concinued)

5 1) 5 Bl The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of finance lease

receivables are as follows:

R4

—p——

2024 2023
ANR¥F ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e At beginning of year - 2,166
BUE R HE T (M) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 1,344 (2,166)
R At end of year 1,344 =
¥ 9 WOk R 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES
B Sy 11 = Y
2024 2023
ANR¥F ANRBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
G 5 RN IR Trade receivables 442,808 392,795
WifE Impairment (100,431) (83,048)
et Total 342,377 309,747

& By I W T A R ) 36 A B R

B JRE TR EMAS - AL
T it i B A o o R AR

ol 08 IS B A 2 R B SR

JA S IR A 5 B R 40

AR R 5 RE S S B SR e 7 BT 40 T

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management services,

{8 IR 7% LA value-added services to non-property owners, community value-added

K0 BE services and brand and management output services, and are due for

terms of the relevant agreements.

payment upon the issuance of the demand notes in accordance with the

W s 4R 4 An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting

TR A

period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

g

2024 2023

AR ANR#ET T

RMB’000 RMB000

—ER Within 1 year 290,394 240,139
—F A 1 to 2 years 47,176 66,719
TR 2 to 3 years 4,807 2,889
HE Total 342,377 309,747
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20.

B 5 HEWGK ) 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
B 5 e R S R R I E T The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:
R TYAE —R =
2024 2023
AR NR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
G| At beginning of year 83,048 42,626
WA BRI (HEo) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 31,181 42,312
L A Ak i ] 3 Amount written off as uncollectible (13,798) (1,890)
G N At end of year 100,431 83,048

WEFNES A=+ —HIE4ERE
17 s 48 188 5 3 0 T e 7 A B ) B AR
TE Y A MR T (A R R B R A
AR AT REBBORBCR R G A BEME
BWER P AR LA TR

JA A i T4 B P 438 0 A A A7 (e
S HT - Ut EEAE BB - #iER
HHBA B B 2 W F 23
AL B K BB E o AT R R R
RMBELR B W (E R s B T
5B A B 2 1 2R T~ IR L B R A AR
TR DUTEL B A 5 2 D T SE R o

— BT R i B B A T e ) A
SERAAZR B ATED - HH
B 5 BEMGRIRTS T DA -

206 4R 4E B A B A F Zhenro Services Group Limited

The increase in the loss allowance during the year ended 31 December
2024 was due to the significant changes in the gross carrying amount of
the trade receivables which were past due and certain special provision
made for the credit-impaired customers that the Group is unlikely to

receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,

current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than three

years and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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20. BHREWGKIE @) 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
TOCHS R B A R E N AR Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
5 BENCGRIE Y (5 8RB R - Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:
“&RINE+ZH=+—H 31 December 2024
g |
Past due
—EYTF —EIE ZFE= #st
Less than 1to2 2to3
1 year years years Total
TG BEIRR Expected credit loss rate 5.8% 38.9% 91.6% 22.7%
AR Gross carrying amount
(ANR¥Fr) (RMB’000) 308,426 77,220 57,162 442,808
TG Bk E Expected credit losses
(NR¥TT) (RMB’000) 18,032 30,044 52,355 100,431
—Z-=FE+-H=1—H 31 December 2023
Past due
—4ERUT —B 4 ZF=F Mt
Less than 1to?2 2to3
1 year years years Total
FHE SRR Expected credit loss rate 9.0% 39.5% 84.6% 21.1%
AR Gross carrying amount
(ANR¥FIr) (RMB’000) 263,787 110,212 18,796 392,795
FHEEEE Expected credit losses
(ANR¥FIr) (RMB’000) 23,648 43,493 15,907 83,048
A R ZEFEZWNES A=+ — In addition, the trade receivables from related parties amounted to
H > BE B 7 08 5 508 B N R RMB32,367,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB45,441,000),
32,367,00070 ( =&~ =4F 0 AR further details of which are given in the note 30.
45,441,00070) © #E— 71T 2 B Mk
30 °
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21. WAPRE - b EBRGKEE 21

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

A% OTHER ASSETS
R TPULE —E =
2024 2023
NBRWFL ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB 000
REZF /A FHEMEMERI A3 Payments on behalf of customers
to utility suppliers 32,733 35,725
e Deposits 10,653 9,819
T4 Prepaid rental 35,900 40,108
oAt B FH Other prepayments 6,585 7,442
] B T8GR Advances to staff 4,345 4,146
HoAt A 3 IH Other receivables 13,088 15,211
Rt Total 103,304 112,451
Bi(E Impairment (5,588) (4,391)
MR T Net carrying amount 97,716 108,060

TR I~ HE Al B iR IR B A E Y

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of prepayments,

WEERB AT other receivables and other assets are as follows:

TR TR R =
2024 2023
AREFIL ANRBF
RMB 000 RMB 000
5] At beginning of year 4,391 3,892
{Jﬁkﬁﬁﬂﬁ T4 (Ffhake) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 1,197 499
FER At end of year 5,588 4,391

TG R 1R 882 2% A 48 [ 1) R 1 s
HRLEk o R R AT AN S o s
15 2 T DA D) S i IR O K R
AR 2 B (AR ) - R ZF
ZAEA A =4 H O R R
920 (TR =4 1 6.8%) o

Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31 December 2024
was 9.2% (2023: 6.8%).
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22. BL& B BT Bk 22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

TR TYLE —E =
2024 2023
AREFI NREFr
RMB000 RMB’000
B RARITHEBR Cash and bank balances 572,211 579,146
AR I K o Less: Pledged deposits 1,807 1,807
X PR 3 4 Restricted cash 3,014 825
Bl LB EEY Cash and cash equivalents 567,390 576,514

AZEZWNEFTZHA=ZT—H AR
#1,807,000 70 (ZF =4« AR
1,807,000 70 ) ISR 4745 B M B 0 AE o 45
T REEHA K BL NI - Ll
BAREEFMMESTH > AEEN
BWATHEER AR 3,014,00000 (ZF =
4 NRE825,00070) B FR il {3

REFEZWEFZH=1—H > HER
MOTERUARBIENEES AR
#571,951,00070 (ZF =4 AR
578,837,0007C) ° A RMEA T [ H g 6
Ry LA B W AR R P b A B 2T
Wt Fo &5 B ~ 45 TR R AS) B 457 AR 2 > AR
2 T 0 O 20 308 A R A T A T 2R 2 B
T N R st o AL -

TR SRAT I B & 4% 8 H AT I 3 )
FIZFE - MITHRAEHNREEREH
BT I K RC BRI RAT - BB BB &5
B B9 U D SELHL (LA

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances of RMB1,807,000 (2023:
RMB1,807,000) were pledged as security for performance of certain
property management contracts and bank balances RMB3,014,000 (2023:
RMBS825,000) were restricted as to use by the Group due to regulatory

actions against the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB571,951,000 (2023: RMB578,837,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash

equivalents approximated to their fair values.
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23. RUSMEN KR 23. TRADE PAYABLES
AR AR R 8 S H W0’ 5 A FE An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of year, based on the
HRES AT invoice date, is as follows:
TR TUE TET DA
2024 2023
AR T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
—4ER Within 1 year 116,999 130,768
A —4F Over 1 year 17,946 34,666
Rzt Total 134,945 165,434
B 5 BT A B A FEE K — oo H The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
PRASE - 90-day terms.
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24, JCAbMEAT k30 e Wit £ 24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
53 R i S
Notes 2024 2023
AR T AR#T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
BB 2 Current portion
BRAR Contract liabilities (@) 149,175 163,903
R E Deposits received (b) 29,396 29,047
A B F ik Receipts on behalf of community residents 102,213 100,092
JRE AR L %5 S A A Payroll and welfare payable 77,028 81,078
oAt AR Other tax payables 21,645 26,436
TR Rental advances 11,813 9,874
Hit Others 23,982 17,271
NGt Sub-total 415,252 427,701
FE BN AR 2> Non-current portion
B %S Deposits received (b) 7,969 7,364
st Total 423,221 435,065
FffE Notes:
(a) PERM G A MEE AL BN Y LS (a) The contract liabilities as at the end of year are related to short-term advances
R ~ JE 2 E R E RS ~ A b8 (RS received from customers for the Group's property management services, value-added
s AR T BER L RS L B A i services to non-property owners, community value-added services and brand and
HAW - AREBMARIEY LS R T 1 management output services. The Group receives payments from customers based
TELIRS & 4 ri 7 1 B S R T R WSO % P on billing schedules as established in the property management and value-added
A3k o 3 H A R B AT 2 BT — B4 £t services to non-property owners contracts. A portion of payments is usually received
B HEE AR I E A A EE R in advance of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from property

management services.

(b) R A AT B R B (R 4 (b) The balance mainly represents security deposits received from tenants and suppliers
DA T o) 7R AEL A HCER PR L B 4 43 and rental deposits from lessees.
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25. it B AT B ILAb AR

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
BZRIUETZH=+—H
At 31 December 2024
BB (9%) JiE i ANBRHTx
Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB 000
I Current
SRITE — A KA Bank loans — secured 5 "R 43,850
2025
SRATEI — B Bank loans — unsecured 2.1-5 "R TN 6,760
2025
T HT B BT 43 Current portion of long term
SRITE — A KA Bank loans — secured 5 "R 6,040
2025
HEE — AP Total — current 56,650
FE B Non-current
SITEH — A KA Bank loans — secured 5 “ETA 3,020
2026
Hst Total 59,670
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25. wH BBAT B ILAbAG 3k a0) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)
WoE T ZE+ A =+—H
At 31 December 2023

B BAR %) JiE ANR¥ T
Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
P Current
SATES — FIEH Bank loans — secured 5 By 11 45,000
2024
SRATEEK — AL Bank loans — unsecured 4.1-5.2 ZER YA 13,000
2024
TR BT 43 Current portion of long term
SATE — AIEH Bank loans — secured 5 e <y 11 = 6,040
2024
Mt — R Total — current 64,040
FERI Non-current
ATH K — A Bank loans — secured 5 e 9,060
BETERTNE
2025-2026
6 Total 73,100
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25.

214 IEZEMB M A PR /A ¥ Zhenro Services Group Limited

at BT B =X a0

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

ZR I B S 1o
2024 2023
AW T AR TIT
RMB’000 RMB000

ViKiiv: Analysed into:
N Repayable within one year 56,650 64,040
CERAERER Repayable within two to five years 3,020 9,060
At Total 59,670 73,100

A BRI DL REFHE - W e
*U%‘—?‘ﬁ‘hm\ °

AZFEZETZH =1 —H > AEE
M 8RAT R 9,060,000 7T (—F
=4 NR¥15,100,00070) f1IEZE4E
8 TR AR R el A A [ — [T PR B A VLR
BRI 709 I HEHEA o

AZECWAEF A=+ —H s AEE
Y ERAT BN R 43,850,000 7T (—F
=4 NR¥45,000,00070) B IEAE4E
AT BRRR B B AR o

REZBZWNEFZH=Z1T—H A4EH
M ERAT BN R 843,850,000 70 (—F
=4 0 NER¥21,000,00070) HAE [ IR
T (A R #21,000,000 TG A EL AL HE -

The Group'’s borrowings are all denominated in RMB and bore interest at

fixed rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings of
RMB9,060,000 (2023: RMB15,100,000) were guaranteed by Zhenro
Group Company and pledged by 70% equity interests of Jiangsu Sutie, a
subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings of
RMB43,850,000 (2023: RMB45,000,000) were guaranteed by Zhenro
Group Company and Mr. Ou Zongrong.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB43,850,000 (2023: RMB21,000,000) were pledged by the Group's
car park spaces with a carrying amount of RMB21,000,000.



485 e i

Notes to Financial Statements
—E-WE+—A=+—H
31 December 2024

26. IEHEBLH 26. DEFERRED TAX
N RIERIHEE R AENEH T The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as
follows:
AR S R S Deferred tax assets
TR
SMEEAE  HRA0ER Tt HEAK it
Losses
available for
Impaitment offsetting
of financial  against future Accrued Lease
assets  taxable profits expenses liabilities Total

AefTe  ARFFT  ARKFT ARKTT  ARKTT
RMBUOO RMBU0O RMBUO  RMBUO  RMBUOD

REZ-ZE—F—-H At 1 January 2023 45,348 10,270 1,844 18,097 75,559
B (FIRA)/FABES  Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit or
LA (H3k10) loss during the year (note 10) (1,695) (1423) 1,256 (17,092) (18.954)

REFZZEFZA=T—HE Ac31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

“FME-A-H 43,653 8,847 3,100 1,005 56,605
ERGEA/ (TIRE)B&E  Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit or

LB (t10) loss during the year (note 10) 407 (2459) 2071 48,869 48,892
REFZMEFZA=T—H  Ac31 December 2024 44,060 6,392 5,171 49,874 105,497
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26. BHEBLH a0 26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
PEIERLIE B & Deferred tax liabilities
7 4IRS HiEHE
KERE  RERE  ATEES st it
Change in
Amortisation fair value of
ofother  Right-of-use investment  Finance lease
intangible assets assets properties receivables Total

AEKTE  ARKTT  ARETT  ARKTT  ARETT
RMBUOO  RMBWO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

i St S At 1 January 2023 10356 1,09 19,808 9512 40,772
R AR MR Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during
(fitzE10) the year (note 10) (1,52) (656) (16,148) (9512) (27,841)

REFZZEFZA=F—HR Ac31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

“F-NE-A-H 8831 440 3,660 - 12,931
R ARGMELHA Deferred tax credited to profic or loss during
(HfzE10) the year (note 10) (1,526) 70 29921 13111 41576
REZZWELZA=1—H  Ac31 December 2024 7,305 510 3581 13111 34,507
RZFZWEFZA=1+—H > HEF For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
ME > & TRERIAEE KA KC R been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
A BAFE IR R NAE S o DATH B A B e December 2024. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances
HWeH BT E AR E B IE A BR AT for financial reporting purposes:
e~y 11 —E =
2024 2023
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB 000

TR R A BRI R N ERR AY Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

I A o T e VR (E consolidated statement of financial position 61,935 55,953
TR %R & MBI R W ERR /Y Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
EERIHA R consolidated statement of financial position 10,945 12,279
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26. EERME &) 26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

BEERFEAR )
AEBEFBELEOHERRLAR
#7,622,0000 (ZF =4+ AR
6,562,0007G) » FL ATk 1 BRI G 8 5% 5
B9 G H 0 2 Y R A B T ) o
REZFZWE+ZH=+—H &£
A B A R B TR RS IR R
#141,282,00070 (—F =4 AR
107,586,0007C) » AT HEEE %5 3% 15 5
3501 27 8 1 R 2fC M AR T A1 11 09 R
—EREF - MR EEEHEK AR
ZRMME AR > HAEMREAR K
il H B JRE LB Uk 1) ) A K 8 i TEL s 4L
BN AR 3 3% 5 B R e SR A BT 7 o

A T 51 H AR R BLUH A

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB7,622,000 (2023:
RMB6,562,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group had tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB141,282,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB107,586,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the entities in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable

profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following

items:

R TYAE —R =
2024 2023
AR NRWFir
RMB’000 RMB’000
BiIEE R Tax losses 115,010 78,759
AT IR 2 Deductible temporary difference 172,763 106,664
st Total 287,773 185,423

0 I e 4R 3 S R R S B
i 4B 2 ) B R R ME BB i 1 - AR
8. Ay AN K AT HE ) B SR A P L S 8
FAEE 5 Bl R _E AT E AR AR AT
BIHEE -

75 A8 B B 3 e S A o B N T Y R
ARMAZEZNFE—-A—HREEN
BRI 43R 1 J B AN TR AN B o AR
MR ABLRA10% (ZE 24 0 10%) ©

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which

the above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 10% (2023: 10%)
for the Group.
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26. EHEBLHE @) 26. DEFERRED TAX (Concinued)
BoZZNFE+ A =+ —H > i
7 4E B r B A K ST ) B A R ZE A
A TE R0 R R s 2 R T AT i T o e
FURIEBLIE o MY i A 2w B )
A1 3t B JG8 2 R B B BOR 5 i o
58 A SE T 1 41 R B8 A o I gt PR AR
PR AS 42 B Y 28 > WA ol TR R R AROR
KATREA A BH AR B s A o B4R B o
] [ b B A R A R T O R R U e R
EREBHA N ERERAEAHAR
#205,221,0007C (& " =4 AR
289,703,0007G) °

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. This is because the Company controls the dividend
policy of the Mainland China subsidiaries and the directors determined
that the Group’s funds will be retained in Mainland China for the
expansion of the Group's operation, so such retained earnings are not
likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amounts
of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB295,221,000 (2023: RMB289,703,000).

27. oA 27. SHARE CAPITAL
TR U —E =
2024 2023
ANR¥FIT AR
RMB000 RMB 000
LR - Number of ordinary shares:
EE Authorised:
5 BT {0.002 38 7T 1Y 38 348 e Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each
(CF =41 0.002370) (2023: US$0.002) 20,000,000,000 20,000,000,000
BT : Issued:
BT {0.002 38 7T Y 38 38 Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each
(ZFZ=4F 0 0.00237T) (2023: US$0.002) 1,037,500,000  1,037,500,000
111 —E =
2024 2023
ARBTr ARBFC
RMB000 RMB’000
X Amounts:
CEfT R Issued and fully paid:
B IR TEI{E 0.002 3 TT Y 48 ik Ordinary shares of US$0.002 each
(ZFE =4 10,0023 ) (2023: US$0.002) 7,867 7,867
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28. it
A A5 L 5 T T 4 T 1 B 8 4 B I

s

B 2O R BB RS 110 HINAR B 1

A% -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

A i A

P A7 i R 1) OB P 52 B 2 T B A )
EEY - MEBEEEXLHERE
AR IR R > B
i (B AR A2 w R A HL AR I 21
JA O SEBS R R P A % S R
BT > AERAREMNK -

BEAGE

A S At 9 T R A 4
A4 > B L
TP e HE RT3 5 -

A Al

AR T ) 5 okt 15 A 5 0 B R G
T R B B A2 B ) AL T
S TE BAY A 2 7 1 A BB AR o

52 BB A

AR I ) 3 B v I A F B
Ji§ 2~ R ALAR R R > A SR B/
$R ILBRBLAZ 1 T A9 1096 B2 I
BERGE > IR T g EER
HE > HEMEREUESHEME
AH509% o AR B H I T A B Bt R
v LA R A0 B B RO T R B
HURR > 3 52 LB ok 48 T R IR RS
BB A o MR ok B A
AR REAMEMEARN25%
CAGEN Gk (0 VAL VPN B
fs & > IS AEAE A B B2

28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the

current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity on page 110 of the financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional
documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium is distributable as dividend on the condition that
the Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business at the time the proposed dividend is to

be paid.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the excess of the par
value over the share capital of the Company and the excess of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the non-controlling

interests acquired.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the capital contribution
of the then holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group, after elimination of the investments in subsidiaries for the

Reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the Group
is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after tax, as
determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the
subsidiaries, the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to
offset losses, or to be converted to increase share capital, provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital of the respective entities. The reserve cannot be
used for purposes other than those for which it is created and is not

distributable as cash dividends.
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29. HiABLAR R R 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

@ FEIEBHERY (@ Major non-cash transaction
TAARAEFEIA - IF 4 4R 18 T i) A During the year, Zhenro Properties Group transferred two
S PR R 2K o RSO B RA properties to the Group to settle the payables due to the Group
SIS/ NR 4,650,000 70 with a total amount of RMB4,650,000.
F) JE A I o

(b) il 0 A P B A (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

it BERITR G
Kfbftsk AHE HEsHE

Interest-bearing
bank and other Due to related Lease
borrowings companies liabilities
NEH T AR T AR# T
RMBUOO RMB OO RMBO0O
R-Z-=E—H—H At 1 January 2023 100,117 2,040 72,388
HIERE Interest expenses = = 2936
bk New Lease = = 1,249
RERDREHLNE Cash flows from operating activities - 603 -
BEEBTARENE Cash flows used in financing activies (27,017) (204) (12573)
REEZZHH2A=-H At31 December 2023 73,100 2439 4020
HER% Interest expenses - - 9,943
g New Lease = = 217,350
AergRENERE Cash flows from operating activities - (983) -
HETHIREATE Cash flows used in financing activities (13,430) = (31,176)
RZZZMEFZA=—H At 31 December 2024 59,670 1456 200,137
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29. HABSRERWE @)

(© HEBBERN
R ABLE R LT

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

mE flows is as follows:

TR TUE —E =
2024 2023
ANR¥TFT ANREFI
RMB000 RMB 000
REETEEN Within operating activities 3,780 2,989
il T ) A Within financing activities 31,176 72,573
Hast Total 34,956 75,562
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30. BB RS 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)  BrEAbMFFER A S > AREHE (a)  In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere, the Group had
SR ET U TS the following transactions with related parties:
Ry TETS4E
2024 2023
ARWTFI ANRETT
RMB 000 RMB 000

1 B AR R3S Property management services, value-added services,
RS ~ SEIE RS DA I i and brand and management output services

O Py (1) rendered to related companies (i)
& E SR Zhenro Properties Group 31,424 50,786
Eééﬂﬂ%% ] E(J/a\ % R Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro

Bra Al Properties Group 8,624 12,256
ERER AR B E A An associate of Zhenro Group Company 377 377
Kzt Total 40,425 63,419

1] B A F S AT B E Lease payment to related companies

EMEER Zhenro Properties Group 27,766 72,573
() HERLIRESEL I (i)  These transactions were carried out in accordance with
7] 8 5 P i B AR A A A T o the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.
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30. BHYBRTS 55 at) 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Concinued)
(b) BB TT B ARAT A R (b) Outstanding balances with related parties
—EuE SR
2024 2023
ANR¥ T NRET T
RMB000 RMB 000
JRE e i A ) O Due from related companies:
B 5B Trade related
XM EEE Zhenro Properties Group 20,520 33,574
EREEAT Zhenro Group Company 354 1,277
IEAEE BN AEhE Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
R Properties Group 10,164 9,237
IERERAFMEE AT An associate of Zhenro Group Company 1,329 1,353
Gt Total 32,367 45 441
HEA BRIBH A w50 < Due to related companies:
EAHH Trade related
EmEEBN AR hE Joint ventures and associates of Zhenro
R ] Properties Group 1,456 2,439
HEA Lease liabilities:
B 5B Trade related
A EEE Zhenro Properties Group 99,963 2,969
JE i BB A ml 3R Due from related companies:
k| Gross amount 218,318 226,223
W Impairment (185,951) (180,782)
At Total 32,367 45 441
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30. BB TR 5 (an) 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)  BLBAME 7 ARAT ik ag) (b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

TR S AR R B8 5 H 0 R bR
AR B8 4722 ) W B W 2 ) ORI R

An ageing analysis of the due from related companies as at the end

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

AT allowance, is as follows:

TR TUE —E-=
2024 2023
AR ARBTIL
RMB’000 RMB 000
—4ER Within 1 year 18,982 14,413
—HE T 1 to 2 years 13,385 31,028
Mt Total 32,367 45,441

TS R T U 3 (A EL A

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of the

EET amounts due from related companies are as follows:

ZERTYE —E-=
2024 2023
AR ARBTIL
RMB000 RMB000
) At beginning of year 180,782 121,543
W R (ko) Impairment losses, net (note 6) 5,169 59,239
R At end of year 185,951 180,782

TS B T O 2 A O L
B BEEMA=MA -

interest-free, with a credit term of 3 months.

et 7 MBS S e R B A O R T
s R R AT AT
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30. BHYBRTS 55 at)

(c)

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

AR R BT BN B T (c) Compensation of key management personnel of the

Group

e 113 e S

2024 2023

NEH T AW Fr

RMB 000 RMB 000

FL R B AR Short term employee benefits 7,356 6,846

RIKEFBIHE R AL B A Pension scheme contributions and social welfare L,170 889
BUIRER S IN-TiE AR Total compensation paid to key

management petsonnel 8,526 7,135

HHIN S A SRR MES -

Further details of directors

" emoluments are included in note 8.
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31.

UM B 23 1 4k T 1L

A& R LA T
R
3l

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

are as follows:

At 31 December 2024

Financial assets

SRR AT MR H
BREE
Financial assets at

amortised cost

ANREFr
RMB 000
5 FEWGEOR (FfeE20) Trade receivables (note 20) 342,377
WEEWE%H% INAIEE (FEE30) Due from related companies (note 30) 32,367
ATABNTFOR » HAbREYRIE & Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
HUEENSRERE (i) other assets (note 21) 55,231
Ba T A (Bfak22) Cash and bank balances (note 22) 572,211
At Total 1,002,186
LR fE Financial liabilities
TS AT MR
A IS=L i
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
A RWEFIT
RMB 000
G 5 AT 3R (FitE23) Trade payables (note 23) 134,945
FH AR SR IE SR 2 I Financial liabilities included in other payables and
ERE1E ( Bﬁ;ﬂi% accruals (note 24) 163,560
JRE A B s i R (Bt E30) Due to related parties (note 30) 1,456
FHESRT &,H\fdﬂ%?k MtEE2s) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 25) 59,670
o Total 359,631
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31. SN AR T ) 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
WoE -_=#F#+"H=+—H At 31 December 2023
&5 Financial assets
PR AR B R Y
BREE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
ARWFIC
RMB’000
B 5 MEWGRIE (Ftsk20) Trade receivables (note 20) 309,747
JRE e T B ) O (B 30) Due from related companies (note 30) 45,441
FEATAATEIE ~ HAMREUCGKIE X Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
HAit& E'Ji["ﬂ EiE (fst21) and other assets (note 21) 60,510
IE%&?E aha (FaE22) Cash and bank balances (note 22) 579,146
Mst Total 994,844
SRR Financial liabilities
PSR AR B BRI
SRlA &
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
ANRETFT
RMB 000
& 5 AT IE (Bt 5E23) Trade payables (note 23) 165,434
P A A E A 3R TE K E T2 Y Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
ERAE ( M]‘u£24 (note 24) 153,775
JRE A B g 7 A (BfFE30) Due to related parties (note 30) 2,439
Fp-Yig &/ﬁ\:ﬁiﬂ gk (M EE2s) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 25) 73,100
At Total 394,748
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32. 2T HMAPMHEEA M 32, FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

J& % OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AR B TR AR R P E (R The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
(HA SR A TER &/ TERSN W other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to
T 8 fair values, are as follows:
iR i WNFE
Carrying
amounts Fair values
ANRIFTFIT ANBR#TT
RMB000 RMB000

“EZNEFZA=1t—H 31 December 2024
FHESRAT RHAMN MK — FERIM  Incerest-bearing bank and other borrowings —

non-current 3,020 3,042
oA AT FIH — FERI Other payables — non-current 7,969 7,526
sast Total 10,989 10,568
AR R A FE
Carrying
amounts Fair values
AR BT ANREFT
RMB'000 RMB000

—“E-=%+"H=+—H 31 December 2023
FHEERAT R A EFK — JERIH  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings —

non-current 9,060 8,575
ot FE — FERIHA Other payables — non-current 7,364 7,171
At Total 16,424 15,746
EWECTER S RRITHR B Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances,
WCERIE ~ FEA AT R - H A O trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
T H A E 0 4 A R - R i BE B O K receivables and other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade
T~ B MEAT IR ~ 5K A e A 3R payables, financial liabilities included in the current portion of other
S MG RV A 1 & A R - A payables and accruals, amounts due to related parties, and the current
Rt 7 B DA B B BRAT B L A A 3K portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to
B AR 0 B P SRR IR (AR 2 > their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
LR A A% TR 2 PR o instruments.
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mE+F—H=+—H

31 December 2024

32.

2 b L0 2 P B A T
J& B )

755 1 x w] BB B ol B R A
o BEME SR T AL PEF R
WRBFESY « 7 a) B Bs B BK B o) A ]
HEHGMEH o RAWE A > AR
P B 7 i < il TR 10 58 ) I B B
J Al (B 9 5 B A\ R o (B Pl B
BB 7 B S HE Vo A A ) AR
S0 i L A (R T R A R
LG

SRR BRI AL B 5
(BRI A t BRR51) 55 TR
BTRNSEAIE - LTk R T)
PR g A

AT B ERAT B F At 5 3KH0 JE BB 820 R K
At JBE A5F R TE B F B3 20 9 2 - (H T8
0B B ~ 15 B B i
B8 H R TR B0 5 AL A SR
RB G EETHBGE - RER A
L A SRR RAT R S 4
JRBR RGN EK o

32.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance team reports
directly to the board of directors of the Company. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the board of

directors twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the

fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, and non-current portion of other payables have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and other payables was

assessed to be insignificant as at end of year.
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32. 2T HMAPMHEEA M 32, FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

J& B ) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
WEATEZ AR : Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
“ENE+ZH=+—H 31 December 2024

wGz  BERTBE  EAATERE

Hig i\ LN ¢ it
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(%—#%) (SE=#%) (SE=%)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ANBYTE  ANRMTT  ARFTFT  AR¥TE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ST ESRAT MMM Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
— JERM — non-current = 3,042 - 3,042
HARER FE Other payables
— JE B — non-current = = 7,526 7,526
At Total - 3,042 7,526 10,568
“EC A=t —H 31 December 2023

wRmGe  ERUTBRE  EAATERE

U AHE AR At
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
(SF—5) (B (F=H)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ANE¥TFL  ARB¥TT  ARETT  ARFTT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
ST ESRAT R MM Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
— JRE — non-current _ 8,575 _ 8,575
HABRER FE Other payables
— FE BN - non-current - - 7,171 7,171
A5t Total - 8,575 7,171 15,746
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33.

S5 B Bt 4 P I B B R

AEENEESM T A EEQFEE 5 HE
WO IR ~ R M B B O R SRR~ REATEAY
FOH A i B B A E R
BERE - He LRITHE - Ba B
TR~ AT R B ) I DA R A At
MRHEEESERN @A 2%e
TR R AT E R - A
FHMEMEE AR WHERMER
AT BT RS R - ZE S TAK
FEANERAAEENEEHE -

A SR T 4 TR A ) R A A
JEUR ~ BB S B e R o — i
M5 > A% 4 10 360 EL B 8 LB U < 3R
W o 7 S Sl 208 0 AL AT A7 2 S H At T
BARE I B o A B R 5 A SR 1T
ARG E M TR - ERGERN
S 7] 58 % VR A BRBOR - HMERE I

A1 REEJa e

AL TR A8 5 B R o 5% 5 R Y
(R DL 76 T 35 70 w1 A9 4R 47 45 8k i
o AAREERE > HEW LR EG
B > B A1 I Bh YRR 2 A BR A o AR
FEORCNETZH = HIEEER
AT LR TE R BRI LB ATy -

MR AEERR R LS - BEKA
RERUALEE MDA WHE
Uk A L B 1R B i /)N o A B
il S B O R RSN
S ER (B BOSRE o A% 4 8 55 4 470 B 42 01
B > ST A7 75 S g % i 3 I 2R A

B o

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, amounts due to related companies, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, which arise directly
from its operations. The Group has other financial assets and liabilities
such as lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the

Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group
introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group has
not used any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing

each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from the bank balances denominated in HK$ and US$. But the Group
considers the risk exposure to foreign currency fluctuation is limited as
long as the HK$ remains pegged to the US$. This analysis is performed
on the same basis for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the group entities. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.
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33.

B 5 L gt 4 BB B R
(#)

i BB

2 S T 4 S B89 MR -

JEE WSO IEL ~ B MR W 2~ ) KO DA R B
BT S5 BRI (5 B

745 W A B R RAT K BRI AN AFAE
KAR BB - R R %% Bl RaRAT 45 B
KB A3 A7 7 v I b 0 A R AT B AR
R b TERAT o A BLRE RIS A & F
FHATELN R Z AL ERIRK -

S A B B B WS = T K B ) TR MR IR
B A I WCRR IR % 5 RERZ 20 1 i
A% 4 I TR 3 90 R B = 0 9 B ) B
E SR e O TN ONEN ¢ Ll
B o Bush > AR SR 5 A B P MBSO OR 45
% o

T B 5 S AR R < P E Y MR T A

33.

232 IEAMEE A AR Zhenro Services Group Limited

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade receivables,
other receivables, amounts due from related companies and cash and bank

balances.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with cash and bank balances since they are substantially deposited at
state-owned banks and other medium or large-sized listed banks in
Mainland China. Management does not expect that there will be any

significant losses from non-performance by these banks.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk for trade receivables
and other receivables from third parties as the customer bases of the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables from third parties are
widely dispersed. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.



B 5 R P
Notes to Financial Statements

ZERCFEFZH=4—H
31 December 2024

33. M M B AT P H B BB 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(4E) AND POLICIES (Continued)
fﬁ“ﬁ‘)ﬂ Fﬁﬁ (#F) Credit risk (Continued)
Bic fel R gt L 1D 4 K A B B Maximum exposure and year-end staging
TRIRERAEEERBEORNE R The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
R A5 BB Y e B > credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on
TR RL (BR T A R ] A S A5 ik past due information unless other information is available without undue
ADERARES RGN N RER cost or effort, and year-end staging classification. The amounts presented
GrBEBU R o BT 5 B R b T E Y are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
R4 -
“RTNEFZHA=Z—H 31 December 2024
120 EH
e SR AMEAE RER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Aoe ACBE BERE Wi it
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ANRHTT  ARNFE  ABMFT  ARKTT  ARHTE
RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUOOY

H iR Trade receivables* - - - 442,808 442,808
RE BRI A S Due from related companies

UL Trade related** - - - 218318 218318
AT AT  EABIEIRR  Financial assets included in prepayments,

HEENEHER other receivables and other assets

— e - Notmal## 56,206 - - - 56,206
— WG - Doubeful+* - - 4613 - 4613
R Cash and bank balances

- HkiaH — Not yet past due 57211 - - - 57211
st Toul 628417 - 4613 661126 1294156
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33 M R B AT P H B BB 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(#) AND POLICIES (Continued)

e &R B (45) Credit risk (Continued)

Bic fel R gt L 10 B 5K 4 B B () Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
“E - EEtF A=+ —H 31 December 2023

MR
[FEER YRENRNE R

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
B SR BERR Bk st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARKTE  ARKFE  AEEFT  ARKTT  ARNTT
RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

B0 Bl A Trade receivables* - - = 392,793 392,795
LN B Due from related companies

BB Trade related** - - - 2603 2623
ATATRTE  SABBIERR  Financial assets included in prepayments,

N LR other receivables and other assets

— [ ff — Normal### 61,723 - - - 61723

— Mg - Doubeful#¢ - 3178 - - 3178
EEDE G Cash and bank balances

— WA —Not yet past due 579,146 = = = 579,146

At Toul 640,869 3178 - 619018 1263065

< AR 4 I R VL AT A 2 B B M & For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
FRIEE > H 38 0 5 R A R B 3 impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20.

20 4% -

i AR S I 1R R T4 2 o TR o Rk For amounts due from related companies to which the Group applies the simplified
N EIFIRT S FEA A B R approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
B E300b) 55 - note 30(b).

e gt ATAAT R ~ HAREICGRIE S HoAt ##%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
A 11 4 R DA MR AL R B A ) KT and other assets and amounts due from related companies is considered to be
A FLG 0 R 7% 5 4 “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
1915 FEEUR B 40 B e AR LA SR R RS A the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
HZEsMERZ EREEZEWHEATE Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Wl B ZEMEENERERY
BB [TTEE]
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33 MM B4 P H B R 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(4E) AND POLICIES (Continued)
T < e Liquidity risk
AR B B A R R SR AT S At A The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
TRHE T A R R M R funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
5 o Bl 2 R I o borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.
ARG B A R R BAT S A A The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on the
EAFH R : contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
REFZWEFZA=1—H At 31 December 2024
3MA DR
HEK AR DL Mgt
Less than More than

3 months or 3 months and
ondemand  within 1 year Over 1 year Total
AR ARETE  ARETE  ARETE
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000

) AE Trade payables 134,945 - - 134,945
HAERFORREFHE M Other payables and accruals 163,560 - - 163,560
AT B SRAT R A8 3K Interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings 2,760 55,739 3,228 61,727
AR Lease liabilicies 37,933 41,449 151,299 230,681
EA5F B 36  w) E Due to related companies 1,456 - - 1,456
At Total 340,654 97,188 154,527 592,369
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33 M R B AT P H B BB 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(4E) AND POLICIES (Continued)
{)ﬁ@j ﬁ%’ﬂ Fﬁ (%) Liquidity risk (Continued)
R-FZ=H+"A=1+—H At 31 December 2023
38 A AR
BERK 3EARIE 1R E A5t
Less than More than

3 monthsor 3 months and
ondemand  within [ year Over 1 year Total
NBHTE  AR¥TT ARBWTT AR¥TT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

B 5 BER0R Trade payables 165,434 - - 165,434
HABER R R ERHE R Other payables and accruals 153,775 - - 153,775
T BT R AR Interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings 892 65,874 9,495 76,261
HERMA Lease liabilities 793 2,740 1,041 4,574
R £5F RT3 W) 0 Due to related companies 2,439 - = 2,439
At Total 323,333 68,614 10,536 402,483
AR B Capital management
AR B ARG B AR R AR AR The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
B R AR B O B I MR TR IR ) B A 1 safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
%o DLSCRE L EEH G R R (SRR AL o maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

A% SR T8 i R A A6 7 00 1 8 AL B I The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
BHEARLEM - B REEAR light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
o SR S TR R A TR A structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
B P BORR R EA TR o return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
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33. M M B AT P H B BB 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

(#%)
GARGE P (1)

AEBERNEAAREREREER > &
A £ B 56 B 4 B BUAR JE R Y B
AT R SRR DARE £ B BRH B - AR

AND POLICIES (Coatinued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank and borrowings divided by total equity as of the

end of each financial year. The gearing ratios were as follows:

R

TR TPUAE e
2024 2023
NS ANRHT 7T
RMB’000 RMB 000
it ST R HAth 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 59,670 73,100
W25 4% Total equity 844,262 1,088,542
EAAFILR Gearing ratio 7.1% 6.7%
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34. AR B IR DL 34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
{% A > AT AL BB R UL A Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
BRI the end of the reporting period is as follows:
ZETUE —E =
2024 2023
ANRIWFFIT ANR¥T
RMB’000 RMB 000
T B NON-CURRENT ASSETS
KB A R E Investments in subsidiaries 2,524 2,524
B E CURRENT ASSETS
JRE WL B Bt /A ] 3R0E Due from related companies 1,139,796 1,127,649
B MRAT A R Cash and bank balances 3 68
B G A Total current assets 1,139,799 1,127,717
bk BN CURRENT LIABILITIES
FAbREAT I Other payables 638 1,051
LB B NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,139,161 1,126,666
FEE NET ASSETS 1,141,685 1,129,190
RS EQUITY
BEAFIHEA NREARESS Equity attributable to owners of the parent
JeA Share capital 7,867 7,867
it Reserves 1,133,818 1,121,323
A RERR TOTAL EQUITY 1,141,685 1,129,190
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34. ARAFWMHRIE @) 34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
N F B E T A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Bebiill  EARGRME ERWHRE At

Exchange
Share Capital  fluctuation
premium reserve reserves Total

ANRETT NRWTT ARBFTT ARKTIL

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000  RMB000

WoZ-=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 1,061,564 2,168 (30,103) 1,033,629
RS Total comprehensive income for the year - - 87,694 87,694

MEZFZ=FFZA=+—HRE  Ac31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

“ZZFE—R—H 1,061,564 2,168 57591 1,121,323
ERRTIA RS Total comprehensive income for the year - - 12,495 12,495
AR CEF - AZt—H At 31 December 2024 1,061,564 2,168 70,086 1,133,818
35. fLHEIBHR 35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HHRGR -EZHEA LA The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
i 35 R A A TS A board of directors on 27 March 2025.
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BET-H=1+—HI4E
Year ended 31 December

CERONE SRS DR COTE SR R CORE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ANREFIE AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFIT

RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

A Revenue 1,113,933 1,145,503 1,141,293 1,335,788 1,102,752

A Gross profit 232,944 244,672 252,856 428,111 383,375
ER (E) / (Loss)/profit for the year

i (235,396) (81,936) (280,749) 177,641 175,159
EEYNEIE ZEPN (Loss)/profit for the year
FEAGAE 1Y attributable to owners

(K18) /i A of the parent (235,915) (81,189) (281,326) 174,578 171,647

R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December

CRONE SRS RO DECF R RE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARWFIE AREFT ARBFILT AREFT AREFIT

RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

B E Non-current assets 687,630 804,324 733,535 1,076,026 145,325

MEEE Current assets 1,086,857 1,042,394 1,248,014 1,442,542 1,830,355

B Total assets 1,774,487 1,846,718 1,981,549 2,518,568 1,975,680

JEnE) A f Non-current liabilities 140,625 29,602 47,786 165,118 29,761

mE R Current liabilities 789,600 728,574 764,472 880,149 562,283

AEAE Total liabilities 930,225 758,176 812,258 1,045,267 592,044

T £ 4 Total equity 844,262 1,088,542 1,169,291 1473301 1,383,636
BAFEEA N Total equity attributable

JRE Ao £ A R to owners of the parent 841,720 1,082,431 1,163,643  1451,140 1,363,566
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